Knowledge Review on Family Group Conferencing

Experiences and Outcomes

Karen J. Skaale Havnen and Øivin Christiansen

Regional Centre for Child and Youth Mental Health and Child Welfare (RKBU West) Uni Research Health Knowledge Review on Family Group Conferencing, Experiences and

Title Outcomes

Regional Centre for Child and Youth Mental Health and Child Welfare

Institution (RKBU West), Uni Research Health

Authors Karen J. Skaale Havnen and Øivin Christiansen

ISBN 978-82-92970-77-5

Illustration Front cover illustration: AN-Imation/Anne Kristin Berge

Year of

publication 2014

Client Norwegian Directorate for Children, Youth and Family Affairs (Bufdir)

The Regional Centre for Child and Youth Mental Health and Child Welfare (RKBU West). Uni Research Health is a division of Uni Research AS. RKBU West works with research, education, professional development and publishing information about child welfare and mental health care for children and young people.

Web address uni.no/uni-helse/rkbu-vest

E-mail post.rkbu@uni.no Telephone + 47 55 58 86 70

Visitors' address Krinkelkroken 1, Bergen

'Mailing address Postboks 7810, 5020 Bergen

Preface

This review aims to provide knowledge and information about the current status of family group conferencing used by the child welfare services and the status of FGC in other areas. The review team worked on this assignment for the Norwegian Directorate for Children, Youth and Family Affairs, from December 2013 to July 2014.

This report is based on an exhaustive and systematic review of professional research and literature on the subject. We would like to express our appreciation to Anne Sissel Vedvik Tonning, academic librarian at the Bergen University Library, whose help was invaluable to our work. Our work collecting source documents and professional literature on the subject involved cooperation and assistance from experts on family group conferencing in the Nordic countries and other nations. We would also like to express our appreciation for the help provided at a regional and local level by people working with family group conferencing in Norway who helped us locate vital sources of information and literature and provided valuable feedback for our preliminary presentation of this report in the spring of 2014. We would also like to thank our contact at the Directorate, Svanhild Vik, for her constructive cooperation. She put us in contact with her network of professionals and accompanied us from the beginning when we drafted an outline of the review until the final project report was published. And finally, we would like to thank our employer, the Regional Centre for Child and Youth Mental Health and Child Welfare (RKBU West), led by Reidar Jakobsen, who facilitated much of our work even when we exceeded the original budget and time limits set for the project. We would also like to thank the individuals who read the report and provided feedback prior to publication.

We hope our readers find our review on family group conferencing interesting and informative. We hope the review will lead to new questions and help us develop family group conferencing in Norway.

Bergen, October 2014 RKBU West

Karen J Skaale Havnen

Øivin Christiansen

Contents

Su	mmary	7
1.	Introduction	9
	1.1 Background for the review	9
	1.2 Our mission, and the objectives of this review	10
	1.3 The outline and themes of the review	11
2.	What is family group conferencing?	11
	2.1 Historical background of the FGC model	11
	2.2 Ideological and theoretical assumptions	12
	2.3 Family group conferencing in practice	13
	The Conference's 3 Parts:	14
	Follow-up:	14
3.	Our review method.	14
	3.1 Specification of our searches	15
	3.2 Search queries, keywords and databases	15
	3.3 Journals	16
	3.4 Experts we contacted	16
	3.5 Systematization of searches	16
	Thematic categories from our literature search:	16
4	FGC in an international perspective – implementation and organization	17
	4.1 Family group conferencing around the world	17
	4.2 FGC – different models	20
	4.3 FGC – Model fidelity	21
	Factor 1 Productive decision making	22
	Factor 2 Family group inclusion	22
	Factor 3 Professional supportiveness	22
5.	What are the effects of family group conferencing?	23
	5.1 A review of relevant research	23
	Positive outcomes from family group conferencing	24
	Varied or neutral outcomes of family group conferencing	31
	5.2 What research questions have we answered?	34
	A basic summary of our research review	34
	What effect does FGC have on out-of-home placement?	35
	Can FGC reduce child abuse and maltreatment?	36
	Is FGC influenced by ethnic differences?	37
	Other possible effects of FGC	37
	5.3 A summary of our research review	38
	Conclusions:	38
	Uncertain findings or lack of research:	38
	Table 1. International outcomes and comparative studies on the use of family group	
	conferencing, some significant findings.	39
	Studies with positive outcomes:	39
	Studies with varied or neutral outcomes:	41

6.	The assignment and action plans of a family group conference	42
	6.1 What are the objectives of a conference/	
	What problems does a conference try to resolve?	42
	6.2 Action plans	43
	Action plans are approved in 9 out of 10 FGC cases	43
	The content of action plans	44
	Satisfaction with the plans	46
	Carrying out the plan	47
	Summarizing the assignment and action plans	49
7.	Participant experiences from family group conferencing	50
	7.1. Experiences of parents and extended family members	50
	Table 2. Overview of studies referred to in this chapter about how	
	parents and the extended family experienced FGC	52
	Preparing a family group conference	52
	The FGC meeting itself	53
	Parent interaction with the child welfare services, short and long term	55
	The coordinator is important to family members	56
	Nuances in the positive experiences of parents	56
	How parents perceive FGC – as a whole	57
	Summarizing the experiences of parents and other adult family members	58
	7.2 Child participation and experiences	59
	Table 3. Overview of studies referred to in this chapter about how	
	children participate in and experience FGC.	60
	How common is it for a child to participate in a conference?	
	Should the child always participate?	61
	What conditions influence the child's opportunity to participate and	
	positive experiences?	62
	The child's support person	63
	What do children think the most important benefits of FGC are?	65
	Summarizing the experiences of children	66
	7.3 The roles and experiences of case workers and other professionals	67
	Positive attitudes and experiences, limited practice	
	What elements of family group conference get the most attention?	69
	Is conferencing only used in cases with an air of cooperation?	69
	Important aspects of the role of case worker	70
	The gatekeeper: The case worker is decisive in determining if a family	
	is offered family group conferencing or not	70
	The roles of other professionals	
	Summary of the experiences of case workers and other professionals	
8.	The role of coordinator	
	8.1 General satisfaction with the coordinator	72
	8.2 The coordinators' experiences and challenges	74
	Enthusiasm and dedication for the model	74

	Establishing and upholding impartiality	74
	Mediating between family members	75
	Sticking to the role of coordinator	75
	8.3 The coordinator's qualifications and impartiality	76
	Summarizing the role of coordinator	77
9.	FGC in other services.	78
	9.1 FGC in the justice system	78
	9.2 FGC at school	80
	Conferencing for adults	82
	9.3 FGC in the social sector	83
	9.4 FGC in mental health care	84
10.	A summary of our elaborations and the implications of our review	85
	10.1 Prevalent literature and research	85
	10.2 Limited knowledge about outcome and effects	86
	10.3 Positive experiences by participant, but also challenges	87
	The relational and processual aspects of FGC	88
	The participants need to be informed and prepared	88
	The coordinator's primary objectives	89
	More nuanced experiences from putting action plans into action	89
	10.4 Primary questions and implications of the research review	90
	What goals should be achieved by a family group conference?	90
	Should certain types of cases be prioritized in family group conferencing?	90
	Model fidelity or variation?	91
	Systematic follow-up, evaluation and research on family group conferencing	91
Ref	ferences:	92

Summary

The present review on Family Group Conferencing (FGC) has been carried out on behalf of the Norwegian Directorate for Children, Youth and Family Affairs. The main purpose of the review is to provide an updated knowledge base on FGC from which the further development of FGC in Norway can benefit. This includes reviewing the existing literature on the effects of, and experiences with, FGC on the one hand, and the identification of thematic areas that require new or further research on the other.

Since the emergence of FGC in New Zealand in 1989, the method has spread and developed across countries and global regions. Up to today, FGC has been implemented or tried out in different forms in at least 30 countries. The review shows that FGC is by no means a homogeneous method. Rather, it has developed into a number of varying practices, and it has been adapted to local contexts over time. There is a main distinction between the initial New Zealand model of FGC, which was widely implemented in the European region, and different types of family group decision making models (FGDM) developed in North America. The main differences between these models concern the role of the coordinator, the use of private family time, children's participation and the use of follow-up FGC.

The knowledge base on the effects of FGC is weak. The few existing studies are of varying quality, and most of them refer to American conditions that cannot be automatically transferred to a Norwegian context. The greatest methodological challenge in measuring effects appears to be a lack of comparable control groups and the statistical control of differences between the groups. Several studies that indicate positive effects of FGC cannot be considered satisfactory in this regard.

The strongest evidence gleaned from research implies that FGC increases the likelihood of children being placed with relatives as opposed to public placements and adoption. Furthermore, FGC increases the likelihood of reunification to either the parents or other family members. Singular research findings indicate that FGC facilitates the access to services beyond those offered by the child welfare services in the short term, but not in the long term. In addition, there are indications that FGC is used to a similar extent among families with a minority background as in other families.

Regarding other central child welfare issues the existing research findings are not as clear. That is whether FGC can prevent abuse and neglect, whether it can contribute to shorter or more stable placements, or whether it can reduce the need for further contact with the child welfare services. Research on the possible effect of FGC on the prevention of out-of-home placements or on children's functioning and well-being is shortcoming. Furthermore, there is a lack of studies on whether FGC can promote long-term support from the private network or whether it can lead to better communication and collaboration between families and the child welfare services.

With regard to how FGC is experiences, most of the studies are based on small samples aimed at nuancing the participants' experiences. However, this body of research is large, And the findings from surveys and interviews confirm and supplement each other to a great extent.

This also holds true when we compare experiences across different participant groups, such as parents, children, relatives, child welfare workers and coordinators.

In sum, the majority of the participants have had positive experiences with FGC. Even participants who initially were skeptical have evaluated FGC positively. The aspects most appreciated by the family members, and not least by the children, are the relationships and processes connected with the FGC involvement. Research findings indicate two factors that are crucial for FGC to function as intended: Firstly, all participants should be prepared for the special characteristics and procedures of the FGC model, including their own roles. Secondly, coordinators need to maintain their central role in a qualitatively good way. The most negative experiences were often related to the failure to implement the action plan developed by the FGC. Literature and research on the use of FGC in other services beyond child welfare services reveal that many of the issues and challenges are common.

The review first and foremost reveals the need for further research, which applies to most aspects of FGC. However, the review also includes discussions about the aims and ambitions of using FGC in child welfare services and other services, whether some cases or areas should be prioritized or not, and issues related to model fidelity. To allow for a continuous evaluation of FGC practices, the review recommends including FGC in national child welfare statistics. It also recommends implementing the use of a short evaluation form that should be filled out by all participants after having attended FGC. Finally, the importance of sound research on new areas for FGC within the Norwegian child welfare services is emphasized. This applies in particular to the use of FGC in emergency cases and cases dealing with placements at government institutions.

1. Introduction

1.1 Background for the review

Family group conferencing is a working method that ensures the involvement of children, family members and the family network in decision making processes. This method empowers the family and family network with the opportunity to find their own solutions to family problems and take responsibility for implementing these solutions. The process utilizes the child's extended family to resolve conflicts and follow up on a child's needs, with support from public services if necessary. The method was first developed in New Zealand in the 1980s based on Maori traditions for dispute resolution in serious child care and childrearing situations. There are a number of different types of family group conferencing being used around the world today, with different objectives and varying complexities. In Norway FGC is primarily used by the child welfare services, but internationally the method is also used in the justice system to resolve disputes involving young offenders. In some areas FGC is also used at schools, within the health sector, at social welfare agencies and by family counselling services.

FGC has been in use in Norway since the end of the 1990s. This is documented extensively in publications and evaluation reports (Einarsson, 2002; Einarsson & Nordahl, 2003; Horverak, Omre, & Schielderup, 2002; Løfsnæs, 2002). One common experience of all the trial programs was the difficulty the child welfare services had in implementing the method, because child welfare workers seemed resistant to trying the method, and because many families declined the offer of family group conferencing. However, the experiences of parents, child welfare workers and coordinators who initially participated in FGCs were positive. A national trial and evaluation process was carried out from 2003 to 2006 (Falck, 2006), intended to facilitate good practical solutions, training and knowledge among Norway's municipalities. Experience from the national trial and evaluation process confirmed experiences from initial, isolated projects; parents, case workers and coordinators were overwhelmingly satisfied with the method, even though implementation moved ahead rather slowly (Havnen, 2006; Hyrve, 2006; Vik, 2006). The evaluation report summarized how, compared with traditional case work, family group conferences had positive psychological results for the children involved, positive results regarding the need for family follow-up by the child welfare services in the future, and positive changes where the level of severity of cases was concerned. We should point out however that the methodological foundation on which to make scientific comparisons and draw conclusions from these trials was incomplete, and the results cannot be considered direct outcomes of family group conferencing.

In 2007 some municipal jobs and administrative positions were created in the wake of the national project after a decision was made to continue efforts to develop FGC in Norway on a national, regional and municipal scale (Vik, 2009). The goal was to provide every municipality in Norway with training in family group conferencing.

Family group conferencing was used to help more than 750 children at the child welfare services in 2013¹. Work to incorporate family group conferencing systematically at the child welfare services for emergency cases is underway, which also involves foster care case, institutional placement and family counselling. Family group conferencing for adults, often deemed network-centric conferencing, was tested with long-term social clients in Oslo and Bergen.

¹ These figures were provided orally by Bufdir.

Backe-Hansen compiled and reviewed important international research and knowledge on family group conferencing up to 2006 as part of a report for the national trial and evaluation project in Norway (Backe-Hansen, 2006). The report indicated that, even though a number of major or minor studies and evaluations on family group conferencing exist, only a few of the evaluations that looked at outcomes satisfy the requirements for scientific documentation. Most of the evaluations indicated positive experiences, but the question as to whether the method is equally effective as - or better than - traditional methods has yet to be answered. As far as we could determine, no updated or more complete study exists that reviews FGC since Backe-Hansen's work was completed, and there are no scientific publications on the method.

1.2 Our mission, and the objectives of this review

Our mission was to prepare a report that reviews the current knowledge on what we know about family group conferencing in light of increasing activity in the field. When the Directorate for Children, Youth and Family Affairs (Bufdir) announced its intentions to fund this report, they stated that «the knowledge produced by this report would become an important part of the Directorate's strategic work to aid in the development of suitable measures for applying FGC and offering its users (children, young people and their families) a program of the highest quality». Bufdir hopes the report can provide the knowledge we need to prepare a set of guidelines intended for use by professionals who work with family group conferencing. Specific expectations for the report:

- The knowledge review would provide knowledge on what the real effects of FGC are in society and provide us with knowledge about participant experiences.
- The knowledge review shall include research and other sources of information and state
 explicitly what we have learned from research and what have learned from the experiences
 of participants.
- The knowledge review should encompass relevant research findings and other information
 that is available from the Nordic countries, but it should also evaluate research from other
 countries.
- The knowledge review should focus on how family group conferencing is implemented and
 used by the child welfare services, but it should also look at research/knowledge regarding
 FGC available from other services, professions and fields.
- The knowledge review should point out areas and themes for new research or reinforce existing research findings.
- If at all possible within the budget framework and limitations to time, Bufdir would also like information about any other family participation models in existence today.

Bufdir expects all its specification requirements to be met and incorporated into the knowledge review, with the exception of the final item regarding additional participation models. The work needed to meet all the specification requirements for this report was far more extensive than we anticipated, so it was not possible to collect and systematize knowledge about other participation models within the allotted time and budget.

1.3 The outline and themes of the review

The final Knowledge Review and report is intended to cover a wide range of topics related to family group conferencing models. This involves how FGC is practiced, it applies to participant experiences and it applies to the possible outcomes and effects FGC has on society. The report has 10 chapters. Chapter 3 presents the methodological procedures and evaluations used to collect and organize relevant information from available literature. Chapter 4 provides an overview of how FGC is implemented and organized from an international perspective. It reviews the extent to which the FGC model is used internationally, the development of different variants around the world and an assessment of model fidelity.

Chapter 5 presents a research review based on studies from around the world that can shed light on outcomes and effects of FGC. The number of studies exploring positive outcomes of FGC are still few and far between; for that reason we decided to include studies that, despite their inadequate designs, were based on group comparisons and other statistics to evaluate outcomes or possible effects of FGC. Some larger population studies have also been included.

Chapter 6 takes a look at the «assignment» of family group conferences and the «action plans» that are drawn up to carry out the assignment, while chapter 7 brings together knowledge from studies that looked at the experiences of different groups that have participated in FGCs. These groups are comprised of parents, other adult family members, children, young people, FGC coordinators and other professionals. The coordinator's role and experiences are discussed in chapter 8.

Chapter 9 looks at how FGC is used in different sectors and services outside the child welfare services. These sectors and services include the justice system, schools, social welfare and mental health care. Chapter 10 elaborates on and summarizes specific themes in the knowledge review with an eye to future implementation of FGC and to aid in future research.

2. What is family group conferencing?

2.1 Historical background of the FGC model

The emergence of FGC can be seen in light of several international trends in the 1980s and '90s within social policy and social work in general, and within the field of child welfare in particular. Marsh and Crow (1998) point out three of these trends. The first concerns increased awareness and concern for children who are subject to abuse and neglect by adults. The second concerns our growing recognition that community intervention directed at children in harmful situations is often inadequate; intervention even seems to worsen the situation for some children. The third trend pointed out by Marsh and Crow (1998) is our increasing understanding that having an influence on their own lives and participating in decisions by government agencies are very important to children and their parents.

In addition to general social trends, the historical emergence of FGC can be seen in light of a specific political and cultural situation that existed in New Zealand at the time. Family group conferences originated in New Zealand in the 1980s. New Zealand's indigenous population, the Maori people, had been criticizing the authorities for decades. They complained that the government's approach to dealing with social problems using European methods (i.e. using expertise to solve conflicts) was not suited to the traditional manner in which Maori resolve conflicts (Connolly & McKenzie, 1999; Lupton, Nixon, & Bisman, 2000). This kind of structural racism (Levine, 2000) resulted in a significant overrepresentation of Maori children among

out-of-home placement cases in New Zealand. Within the Maori community, childcare and childrearing is the responsibility of the entire extended family; nuclear family members, friends and significant others in a child's life.

A new law was passed in New Zealand in 1989: The Children and Young Persons, and Their Families Act. The Act made family group conferencing mandatory for the most serious child welfare cases, and for cases that addressed serious juvenile crime. FGC is currently used in many countries, albeit in different variants and at varying levels of implementation (see chapter 4).

2.2 Ideological and theoretical assumptions

The general intention of family group conferencing is to incorporate family-based processes into decision-making that concern a child or young person's life when they face difficult situations. The extended family should be given more freedom to interact and more responsibility to help the family find good solutions, which is usually not the case when the child welfare services is in charge of the decision-making process. The idea behind the process is an understanding that a family has more resources available than we think, in order to protect a child and ensure health, welfare, well-being and development in the short and long term.

In other words, FGC triggers the use of family resources and help from the family's own network that otherwise would not have been activated. One anticipated outcome of this collaborative effort is improving the atmosphere of cooperation between the family and the child welfare services (Einarsson & Nordahl, 2003).

Applying FGC processes implies taking power from the child welfare authorities and empowering the family to a greater extent, which also means the child welfare employees need to adopt different roles than before. The role of expert is changed; employees are becoming resource persons and facilitators. This does not mean power is transferred completely to the family. As we learned from our review of existing literature on the subject, distribution of power is influenced in several ways during conferencing; child welfare authorities still have veto rights during the conferences to determine whether the family's suggested solutions should be approved or not.

There are four commonly acknowledged cornerstones of family group conferencing (Faureholm & Brønholt, 2005):

- The first cornerstone is that the extended family will participate in conferencing.
- The second is that the extended family be given the opportunity to discuss the assignment and prepare an action plan without professional child care workers being present at part of the meeting.
- The third cornerstone is to involve an impartial coordinator who does not work for the child welfare services on a daily basis to help the family plan and implement the conference.
- The fourth cornerstone is approving the action plan that was formulated by the extended family as long as the plan protects the child and attends to the child's needs and best interest.

Several researchers from Nordic countries expressed the importance of hearing the opinions of the child and incorporating this into the model as a fifth cornerstone (Andersson & Bjerkman, 1999; Horverak et al., 2002; Strandbu, 2007). In subchapter 7.2 we take a closer look at FGC from the child's perspective.

As mentioned in the introduction we should try to understand the FGC model based on its historical, socio-political context - including an increasing emphasis on participation and influence from the individuals involved. Professionals often discuss the FGC model in terms of the principles of democracy (See Holland, Scourfield, O'Neill, & Pithouse, 2005; K. Morris & Connolly, 2012; Ney, Stoltz, & Maloney, 2013; Skivenes & Strandbu, 2005). The model is also associated with several theoretical perspectives. Nyberg (2003) points out three:

- Social ecological system theory, which emphasizes how people and processes in different social systems have an impact on a child's situation and development.
- Social network theory, concerning the relationship between personal development, networking and social control.
- Empowerment, which i.a. stresses giving an individual greater influence over his or her situation and by forming a closer bond to their own social network.

Frost, Abram, and Burgess (2013a) associate FGC with models for social work that use a task-oriented and problem-solving approach, which focuses on resources rather than problems. Further theoretical discussion or any review of theoretical literature on FGC is beyond the scope of this review

2.3 Family group conferencing in practice

The core of family group conferencing is the meeting itself, but the FGC process also involves a planning phase prior to and a follow-up phase after the actual meeting (Vik, 2009). It should be noted that conferences differ from country to country or from region to region. We will take a closer look at these differences in chapter 4. This subchapter is a review of what we could call standard Norwegian practice (see Falck, 2006; Vik, 2009).

Families hardly ever request conferencing on own initiative. That implies, if we want to use FGC in a child welfare case the child welfare services or case worker needs to take the initiative. If the family agrees to try family group conferencing, the case worker will prepare the assignment (the written description and tasks of what problems the conference intends to resolve) together with the family. The assignment is formulated in a list of questions the family will try to answer.

The Planning Phase:

After the parents consent to FGC a coordinator will be assigned to the case by the child welfare services. A cooperation agreement will be drawn up by the child welfare services that involves a commitment by CWS, the family and the coordinator. The coordinator will then talk with the parents and child/children about who they want to invite to the conference and whether the selected individuals are appropriate or not. The coordinator will then contact these people individually (family, friends and neighbors) to explain the purpose of the conference/meeting and ask if they might consider participating. The coordinator will also contact any other professionals who might participate in the first part of the meeting. The coordinator will also appoint someone to watch over the child's best interest (support person) based on the child/family's suggestions.

The Conference's 3 Parts:

In the first part of the conference, the idea is to give the family all the information it needs to answer the questions on the assignment to find good solutions that are in the child's best interest. The coordinator leads the meeting. The child welfare services' case workers and representatives from any other services who have relevant information on the child will present their information. Participants from the extended family are then given the opportunity to ask the professionals questions. The professionals, including the case worker and coordinator, then leave the room and give the family some time to discuss the matter.

In the second part of the meeting, the extended family discusses the child's situation without participation or intervention from others. The family can call the coordinator or case worker into the private meeting if they need any clarifications. The family discussion is directed at creating a plan, the action plan, which will allow the family to answer the questions in the assignment.

The coordinator and case worker return for the third part of the meeting. The family will present the action plan to both coordinator and case worker. The plan should contain all the measures and efforts the family considers necessary to complete the assignment, which often includes actions by family members, the family's social network and the child welfare services and/or other public agencies. The child welfare services will then decide whether the plan should be approved or not. As mentioned above, the child welfare services generally approve the plan as long as it protects the child's best interests. The child welfare services must occasionally clarify certain conditions before a plan can be approved; e.g., when a proposed intervention by other agencies or by the child welfare services is out of the coordinator's authority or control. If the plan is not approved, which is the exception more than the rule, the case will be handled as a traditional CWS case. Before the meeting is concluded the participants will hopefully agree on a plan for following up on the meeting and plan.

Follow-up:

What occurs after the meeting ends will be decisive for successful completion of the family group conference. Conduct one or more follow-up meetings not long after the first meeting has become common practice (http://www.bufetat.no/barnevern/familieraad/hvordan/) to monitor whether the planned actions and efforts have been realized or not, to assess whether there is a need for adjustments to the plan and to keep the positive attitude generated by the conference alive (Vik, 2009).

3. Our review method

Our knowledge review was primarily based on an exhaustive and systematic examination of literature on the subject found in relevant databases (see http://www.kunnskapssenteret.no). We formed a partnership with the Department of Psychology, Education and Health at the Bergen University Libraryto ensure that our searches and queries were carried out in a qualitative and satisfactory manner. One of the librarians helped us with training and aided us in the search process. Our searches and queries were independently verified by researchers to ensure the best possible result.

Our search allowed us to compile relevant referee-based scientific journals, professional articles, dissertations, books and extracts from book etc. One objective of the knowledge review

was to examine what participants wrote about their experience from family group conferencing. To do so, we had to review grey literature such as project reports, conference notes and presentations. The reference lists from the publications we compiled were reviewed to locate any additional and relevant publications we had not identified thus far (snowball method). We also contacted experts in the field from several countries around the world to get up-to-date information on recent activities and publications. We explain our search process in detail below.

3.1 Specification of our searches

Our search included publications in English and in the Scandinavian languages that would cover the countries where FGC was actively in use (New Zealand, Australia, Canada, USA, UK, Ireland, the Nordic countries and to some extent the Netherlands) (Backe-Hansen, 2006; Straub, 2012). The searches were not subject to any time limit. One of our goals for the knowledge review was to identify FGC activity under the auspices of child welfare services and other sectors. However, after some initial trial searches we found out that searching in terms of specific service areas or sectors was not very effective. The most fruitful searches looked at a broad range of terms (without limitations) in each database. We also did some trial searches to find other types of user input on the decision making processes used by the child welfare services not related to FGC, but except for a few isolated projects of limited use and simple evaluations we could not find any specific models that were not encompassed by the general category of «family group decision making» / FGDM (see chapter 4 for an international outline).

3.2 Search queries, keywords and databases

Nordic databases: terms for FGC in Scandinavian languages (familieråd, familjerådslag, familierådslagning).

English-language databases: family group conference, family group decision making, FGC and FGDM. Combined term queries involved these words and formulations: "family group conference*" OR "family group decision making" OR "fgc" OR "fgdm" OR "familieråd" OR "familierådslag*".

The following databases were used:

BIBSYS (Norway), 131 hits

Campbell Collaboration, 1 hit

ERIC (OCLC), 29 hits

IBSS – International bibliography of the social sciences, 106 hits

NORART – articles in journals from Nordic countries, 24 hits

PsycINFO, 168 hits

Social Care Online (Great Britain, UK), 100 hits

Web of Science, 106 hits (restricted to relevant disciplines)

Taylor & Frances, 5 hits

Danbib (Denmark), 60 hits

LIBRIS (Sweden), 28 hits

Idunn – Nordic journal database, 30 hits

Nasjonalt bibliotek for barnevern og familievern (nbbf), 13 hits NOVA, Ungsinn, Norwegian Electronic Health Library, no relevant hits Google, various exploratory queries, number of hits not registered

3.3 Journals

In our experience, search engines or databases do not locate all the relevant articles available. That is why we also searched these journals (only new hits are specified):

British Journal of Social Work, 3 new / Australian Social Work, 3 new

Child Abuse and Neglect Child Abuse Review, 1 new

Child and Family Social Work, 7 new / Child Care in Practice, 7 new

Child Welfare

Children and Society, 1 new

Children and Youth Services Review, 1 new / Journal of Family Social Work, 1 new /

Research on Social Work Practice - Socialvetenskap, 2 new

Social Work Research

Nordisk sosialt arbeid (published until 2008) by the Norwegian Child Welfare Services

3.4 Experts we contacted

In order to find any other publications and project reports we might have missed in our search, we took the liberty to contact experts in the field of family group conferencing from the following countries, who we contacted by e-mail: Australia, United States, England, the Netherlands and the Nordic countries. We received feedback from the Netherlands, Sweden, Denmark, and Finland

We have also exchanged information and obtained more data from Norwegian experts at the national and regional departments of the Office for Children, Youth and Family Affairs (Bufetat) and from specific offices in some major Norwegian cities at a seminar we hosted at the Oslo Airport on 1 April 2014, along with communicating in writing.

3.5 Systematization of searches

Our search results were reviewed to eliminate double and obsolete references such as interviews, book reviews and Bachelor theses. The final list of relevant literature contained 291 references, which formed the starting point for further systematization and thematic categorization of literature. After a thorough reading of the summaries presented by both researches, we learned that the literature as a whole could be arranged according to the following themes:

Thematic categories from our literature search:

Part I, FGC used by child welfare services

Theoretical perspectives and discussions

Implementation, evaluation and model trials

The coordinator's role in FGC

Parent participation and experiences

Professional participation and experiences

Child participation and experiences

FGC related to foster home placement

FGC for child reunification

Outcome studies, comparative studies and research outlines

Part II, FGC in special areas

FGC in the justice system, Restorative Justice / FGC involving minority families

FGC in counselling and family care / FGC in the mental health sector / FGC in schools /

FGC in the social welfare sector

Network-centric conferencing for adults and similar models

Overall, we learned our searches were able to capture the right kind of literature on FGC in different areas, and there were only a few studies that were obviously unsuited to our review or were obsolete. Many of the references fall under one of these categories: Restorative Justice, Theoretical discussions and perspectives, Implementation, Evaluation and Model trials. There were far fewer studies related to more specific categories.

The category for outcome studies, comparative studies and research outlines was somewhere in between in terms of the scope of available literature.

Thematic categorization of our search proved useful to further work compiling the knowledge review when it came to deciding which studies should be read in-depth and to respond to the specific problems of this project. Thematic categorization and prioritizing certain references was revised as we gained deeper insight into available literature. The priorities and precepts used to select the material we wanted to use for the final presentation are explained in each chapter.

4 FGC in an international perspective – implementation and organization

4.1 Family group conferencing around the world

Ever since FGC was incorporated into the child welfare work and prescribed by law, and used to help juvenile offenders in New Zealand in 1989 (The Children, Young Persons, and Their Families Act), the method has spread around the world and evolved across borders and continents. According to an international survey on FGC practices and research², different variants of the methods were being tested out and implemented in at least 17 countries until 2003-2004 (Nixon, Burford, & Quinn, 2005). All the continents were represented at varying levels of commitment in each country: Oceania (2 countries), Europe (9 countries), North America (2 countries), South America (1 country), Africa (1 country) and Asia (2). Other authors mentioned similar figures (approx. 20 countries, 35 nations and 50 districts) (Merkel-Holguín, 2003). According to Nixon et al. (2005) there was a slight increase in new FGC programs in the 1990s, while from 1998 until 2003 FGC went through explosive growth in the number of programs around the world. Supplemented with figures from recent sources (European Network on Family Group Conference, 2014; Heino, 2009) we learn that 22 of 35 European countries have or have had some kind of FGC activity³, which, when combined with previous overviews tells us that the method has been implemented in at least

² This was an online survey that was sent to a network of contacts within FGC communities in different parts of the world, so it is not a representative survey of FGC usage

³ European countries mentioned in relation to FGC activity: Belgium, Bulgaria, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Denmark, Finland, France, Ireland, Israel, Italy, Netherlands, Norway, Northern Ireland, Northwest Russia, Poland, Serbia, Slovakia, Spain, United Kingdom, Sweden, Germany, Hungary, Austria

30 countries around the world, so far. For a brief and informative overview of implementation and current status on FGC in different countries, we recommend you read a summary report published in Scotland (Barnsdale & Walker, 2007).

When it comes to the Nordic countries, our contacts⁴ tell us FGC has only grown to a limited extent these last 5 years, mostly in Norway. We learned that, in Sweden, it is up to the municipalities to decide whether FGC is practiced in each municipality, while in Denmark municipalities that want training in FGC can get it, but there is no systematic follow-up or oversight on coordinators and their work. Norway's extensive use of FGC is the result of Bufdir the position of FGC Coordinator at its office in 2007, and employing coordinators to work at all regional and local Bufetat offices around the country and in the largest cities (Vik, 2009). Proposition to the Storting 106 L (2012-2013) concerned changes to the Child Welfare Act. It introduced provisions giving Bufetat responsibility for implementing family group conferencing methods at its offices (Item 8.1.3 of the Act), - and it also states that FGC can be used for «intervention placement», in connection with transfer-of-custody decisions and for reunification.

This method may also be appropriate in cases involving decisions about visitation. Other documents that provide guidelines for implementing FGC in Norway are: a strategy document entitled Brukermedvirkning i det Statlige Barnevernet 2013-2016 (User involvement in child welfare services, Bufdir 2013), and the disponeringbrev 2014 (Letter of formal notice from Bufdir to Bufetat).

In keeping with the objectives of both documents, Norway is currently implementing FGC as a trial project in emergency cases (Municipality of Bergen, Bufetat Eastern Norway), in cases dealing with placements at government institutions (Bufetat Mid-Norway) and in foster care cases (in all regions). Trials for family counselling are just getting started (4 family counselling offices are participating in Gjøvik, Hamar, Otta and Gjøvik, Finnmark). A report has already been published by Bufetat East regarding FGC in the foster care services (Hyrve, 2008) and a major national research project is under way under the auspices of the Regional Centre for Child and Youth Mental Health and Child Welfare (RKBU North) (http://uit.no/prosjekter/prosjekt?p_document_id=349412). At present, there are only internal records and summaries available for other trial areas, but FGC in emergency cases is already reporting positive experiences where the goal was to prevent placement in emergency institutions and shelters and reduce the length of stay at such locations (personal communication, between Vik and Lundby). Positive experiences from the young people who participated in emergency counselling (akuttråd) are being reported (personal communication with Rødland).

For relevant activities in other countries in Europe we would especially like the direct your attention to the Netherlands. In 2011 Dutch citizens were given the right to develop their own action plans in cases that required emergency intervention. This led to a rise in the use of FGC in the Netherlands. We were informed by central operators in the field that FGC is being used in all kinds of situations that require some form of plan to resolve a problem or conflict whether at school, at work, in one's neighborhood, in prison, between divorced persons, in the event of illness etc. We are also seeing FGC trial projects and research in the mental health services in recent years. There is a non-governmental organization in England called Day Break that offers

⁴ See the chapter on methodology

FGC training and programs in different areas like education, health care, child welfare, family violence and the justice system (http://www.daybreakfgc.org.uk).

Despite a relatively extensive spread of FGC to many countries, regions, implementation projects and areas of use, it turns out that FGC is only used as an exception; it has not become common practice in the public sector.

We hear that FGC is implemented sporadically in the United Kingdom (Brown, 2003) and in the United States (Merkel-Holguín, 2003), and that even though trial projects and evaluations exists that does not mean it is used on a daily basis. Figures based on a national representative survey from the United States show that FGC is only used in 10 % of cases during initial case assessment (Weigensberg, Barth, & Guo, 2009), while a British study indicates that 38 % of districts implemented FGC but only used marginally in decision-making processes (Brown, 2003, 2007). Family group conferencing has found its way into laws in few countries regarding serious child welfare decisions/cases and the juvenile courts. These countries (along with New Zealand) are: Ireland, Canada and some states in Australia and the US (Barnsdale & Walker, 2007; European Network on Family Group Conference, 2014).

The marginal use of FGC in most countries led to an international debate about how the method should and could be used in the future in the child welfare services. According to Doolan (2002) we can distinguish between 3 types of FGC mandates divided by the role played by the central authorities. These are:

- 1. Good practice mandate; the use of FGC depends on each practitioner or on a local leader who takes initiative to use the method.
- 2. Procedural mandate; services/institutions set specific standards or expectations for where and when FGC should be used with families.
- 3. Legal mandate; professionals and users have the right and obligation to use FGC in certain kinds of cases.

There are different assessments and considerations that lead different countries to choose different solutions. The primary driving force for a legal mandate in New Zealand may very well be politically motivated, more than evidence-based (Merkel-Holguín, 2003). The discussion had to do with human rights rather than what actually worked, which was a turning point for the political process. Another question about FGC's position is linked to economic considerations. Several researchers claim (for different reasons) that FGC does not cost more than traditional child welfare work, and that the contrary is true to the extent out-of-home placement is prevented or reduced (see the review in Barnsdale & Walker, 2007). The limited research evidence available on the benefits of FGC seems to indicate that government guidelines or regulations are a precondition for integrating the method into work done by public agencies. But a real debate about the values of family group conferencing and what goals we would like to establish for its implementation may be just as important.

4.2 FGC – different models

Our literature review on the subject has shown that there is no uniform method or model for family group conferencing. The method has been developing over time into many variants with local adaptations. The biggest distinction exists between the original model that emerged in New Zealand which took root in Europe - compared to family group decision making models (FGDM) that evolved in North America⁵. FGDM variants have mostly evolved into one method called «family unity meeting» (FUM) that developed as an alternative to FGC (Barnsdale & Walker, 2007). FUM is distinct from FGC in that the facilitator/coordinator is present throughout the meeting, i.e. there is no private family time and the parents can veto the selection of any family member. The FUM meeting begins with a discussion about what resources may exist in the group, and all the participants are asked to present some positive aspects about and resources within the family. Some professionals argue that FUM has been influenced by FGC as time goes by because we are seeing more private family time at FUM conferences. The structure of the Family Unity Meeting in some states is closer to family group conferencing than FUM.

The international survey on FGC (Nixon et al., 2005) indicates that more than 50 different designations exist for family group conferencing⁶, most of which refer to different practices in the United States. The author of the survey has implied that the great variety of names is an expression of local adaptations of the model and a certain amount of resistance to stereotyped practices or resistance to being associated with a competing program. Besides the use of private family time, there are other differences between the models when it comes to the coordinator's role. The role of coordinator in some models is split in two, giving one person the task of preparing the meeting while the second person works leads the meeting (the facilitator). One argument in support of this two-way split is that the first coordinator could be disqualified in the course of the preparation. There is also a difference as to whether a coordinator is an employee of the agency responsible for the conference or an employee of an autonomous agency. Some agencies recruit coordinators from a wide range of environments, while other agencies focus on hiring professional social workers or others with specific skills and qualifications. Child participation has become the first rule of conferencing, but some models restrict the age for participation, or in certain situations. The use of follow-up sessions varies, but this practice is not associated specifically with any specific models. We did not obtain specific descriptions for many models, but some will be described later in this report in our review of relevant studies, (see chapter 5).

Another condition that has had an impact on FGC's development is Restorative Justice (RJ) in the justice system (see e.g. Bradshaw & Roseborough, 2005; Braithwaite, 1999, 2002). The Restorative Justice conference resembles a family group conference that brings together the parties involved in a conflict (the offender, the victim, representatives of the community) with the aim of setting up a «restorative scheme» that can be accepted by all parties. FGC has developed into several variants of RJ, particularly in the United States, and several countries have incorporated FGC into laws related specifically to juvenile crime (New Zealand, Ireland and others). Just as FGC developed into different variants for child welfare services, RJ has emerged

⁵ The term FGDM was first used Canada when FGC was introduced their, later finding its place in the United States as a collective term for similar methods (Rauktis, Bishop-Fitzpatrick, Jung, & Pennell, 2013).

⁶ Examples of names for FGC: family team meeting, family case conference, team decision making, family case conference, community conference, community mediation, restorative group conference.

in different forms that incorporate certain elements of family group conferencing while omitting others. More information about FGC in the justice system is found in chapter 9.

4.3 FGC - Model fidelity

The different variants of FGC make classifying knowledge difficult if we want to provide an adequate description of the method. As we shall see further on in our research review, some publications fail to clarify which specific model or models they explored in their study, which leads to uncertainties in our research base. Berzin, Thomas & Cohen (2007) argue that conflicting or lacking research results are not an indication that an FGC method does not work, the results could also be influenced by the different ways in which a practice is implemented. Their report refers to research from MST and other research on treatment that found a positive correlation between high model fidelity and method outcomes (see the references in Berzin et al., 2007).

Model fidelity has been a central theme in implementation and evaluation of FGC in most countries where basic principles, structure and implementation are concerned. These emerge through descriptions of methods, participant surveys and from a large number of important national evaluation reports. The challenge in assessing model fidelity is, however, that it cannot be done once and for all. It needs to be incorporated into daily practice. This requires examining model fidelity in a simple manner without the need to initiate special evaluation studies and research projects. Even though many practices have incorporated feedback routines in every family conference, the mapping instruments used for this purpose differ in design and explore different topics; the routines are rarely tested scientifically to verify whether they are appropriate for determining basic principles and common elements in the method.

The topics that being measured in each survey will therefore be different. They are also ill-suited for multi-study comparisons or for research.

The United States in particular is home to a multitude of local variants of FGC/FGDM, and many professionals are calling for a more precise mapping tool to evaluate model fidelity (Berzin et al., 2007; Pennell, 2005; Rauktis et al., 2013; Rauktis, Huefner, & Cahalane, 2011). Both Pennell (2005) and Berzin (2007) have developed and tested a mapping instrument that tried to include basic FGC principles and more organizational aspects of the model. Pennell's mapping form (Achievement of FGC Objectives Scale) is particularly interesting because it could be used on different respondent groups, and it had good psychometric properties. These instruments are a valuable contribution to the work being done to operationalize important elements of the model, but they are not suited for incorporation in daily practice, and the forms were not tested on a large enough sample. The state of Pennsylvania initiated a 3 year long development project based on the failings of these instruments. The aim of the project was to review and examine the factor structure in a self-administered version of the Achievement of FGC Objective Scale (Rauktis et al., 2013; Rauktis et al., 2011). We chose to present this development project in some detail in our review because the work from this project resulted in the first standardized tool that can be used to assess FGC model fidelity.

The Achievment of FGC Objective Scale was revised to simplify language and capture local features of the model that applied to Pennsylvania. Routines were established for simplified self-administration at the end of each conference. The new version of the form was pilot tested on feedback from approximately 700 family groups, professionals and representatives from local

communities from 98 different conferences. The internal consistency of the revised form was just as good as that in the original form (alpha= 0.93) and it was a good correlation between the mean scores. In addition to that, the new measurements showed a higher degree of precision with less variation and standard deviation. The revised form got a new name after the pilot project was completed: The Family Group Decision Making Model Fidelity Scale (FGDM-MFS) (Rauktis et al., 2013; Rauktis et al., 2011).

The final validation of the scale was completed after a new comprehensive round of testing was done by the child welfare services across the state of Pennsylvania during a 10-month period in 2010-2011. A total of 5456 forms were analyzed after the respondent filled them in, which included parents, young people, relatives, friends and professionals in and outside the child welfare services.

To compare the results from two different analysis strategies (exploratory and confirmatory factor analysis) the data was randomly distributed among two sub-groups, which were also checked for demographic differences. While Pennell's form had 4 sub-scales, it was decided the new scale should have a 3-factor solution as a result of one of the exploratory factor analyses and by a confirmatory factor analysis. The new and validated scale is reproduced below, with individual questions divided into the appropriate sub-scale.

Family group decision making model fidelity scale, FGDM-MFS

Factor 1 Productive decision making

- Q16: The plan included steps to evaluate if the plan is working and to get the family group back together again if needed.
- Q15: The plan included ways that the family group will help out.
- Q10: The family group was prepared for the conference (ex. got enough information on what happens at a conference)
- Q17: The plan was approved quickly.
- Q11: The paid professionals were prepared for the conference (ex. got enough information on what happens at a conference).
- Q12: The conference had enough supports and protections (ex. support persons).
- Q6: The conference was held in a way that felt right to the family group (ex. the right food, right time of day). Q14: The family group had private time to make their plan.
- Q4: The family group understood the reasons for holding the conference. Q5: The conference was held in a place that felt right to the family group.

Factor 2 Family group inclusion

- Q7: More family group than paid professionals participated in the conference.
- Q8: Different sides of the family participated in the conference (ex. father and mother sides of the family). Q9: People at the conference were relatives and/or people who feel "like family" (ex. old friends, good neighbors).

Factor 3 Professional supportiveness

- Q3: The FGDM facilitator/coordinator did not have other jobs to do with the family beside organizing and/or facilitating the group.
- Q2: The FGDM facilitator was respectful of the family group
- Q1: Each paid professional was clear about their role (ex. child protection, counselling).
- Q13: Paid professionals shared their knowledge but they did not tell the family group how to solve the concerns.

According to the researchers (Rauktis et al., 2013; Rauktis et al., 2011) the various sub-scales in the scale can provide specific guidelines for evaluating model fidelity within the child welfare services. For example, one can report on the preparation phase, family participation or the

presence/behavior of professionals. By formulating the assertions as specific principles, it is also possible to act in relation to them. For example, if one discovers a professional who is not sharing his or her knowledge or has taken it upon himself to resolve a family's problems, we can use this information to make improvements in this area alone.

It should be noted that the feedback form used on a daily basis must not replace more in-depth evaluations or research, but it can be helpful to know if our FGC practices comply with the basic principles and elements of our model. It can also provide us with the opportunity to investigate model fidelity in relation to different outcomes, which can substantiate the authenticity of future research results.

In future work directed at quality assurance of family group conferencing in Norway, we should probably consider making our own form.

5. What are the effects of family group conferencing?

In this chapter we present our research review on studies that can shed light on the question of the effect and outcome of family group conferencing in various ways. The chapter is divided into 2 parts. The first and longest part reviews the individual studies in our review, while the second and shorter part provides a summary assessment of the research questions we were able to answer. The studies are also listed and described in the table at the end of the chapter. Possible implications for further research and application will be discussed in the conclusion to the chapter. The structure of each subchapter is explained as we progress through the chapter.

5.1 A review of relevant research

The optimal design for exploring the effects of FGC is the randomized controlled study (RCT), which aims to investigate whether using one method would have a different result than using other methods based on otherwise similar conditions. For FGC, this means families or predetermined target groups are distributed randomly into two groups, those who participate in family group conferencing and those who participate in other decision making methods that are usually some form of traditional case work. One must determine in advance what the objectives are that one wants to achieve and how these can be measured. If the primary objective is to reduce child abuse or neglect, one of the outcome measures would be «the number of incidents reported to child welfare services» for a designated period of time. If the objective is to prevent out-of-home placement or to place children with relatives, the outcome measure would be «the number of new placements and the locations of placements». Any unique effects FGC may have will be discovered after complex statistical analyses are done and by looking for the differences that exist between the groups.

The final report from Norway's national project for implementation and evaluation of FGC (Falck, 2006) included a chapter we can call «How does family group conferencing work?» (Backe-Hansen, 2006). Backe-Hansen informed us in that chapter that, at the time there were no outcome studies available that satisfied scientific requirements for outcome studies. Even though we did find some studies from later years that used satisfactory methodologies, the limited amount of research in this area implied that preparing an overview based on randomized controlled studies or studies that checked for differences between target groups in complex analyses would not be of much use to us. Several studies exist that used simple analyses to

compare usage and possible outcomes of FGC with other decision making methods (usually traditional case work) which provide important information for further research and practice despite their methodological weaknesses.

To shed light on the question of what outcomes FGC might have we decided to include studies that either made use of one kind of comparison group or that examined issues related to FGC in larger population studies.

We were able to find 10 studies in our review of available research that in some way or another meet the criteria inferred above. As most of the studies concluded in favor of family group conferencing, we found it useful to divide the studies into two groups: one that concluded positive outcomes for FGC and one that found varied or neutral outcomes⁷. To define this split we used two terms - utfall (outcome) and ikke-effect (no outcome) - because both terms involved studies with simple methodological designs that are ill-suited for assessing outcome, and outcome studies with a more advanced design. The studies are presented in chronological order based on year of publication.

Positive outcomes from family group conferencing

Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada (Pennell & Burford, 2000)

This is one of the first studies published internationally that compared the outcome of FGC cases with non-FGC cases. The study was conducted in the first half of the 1990s and distinct was led by one of the most famous FGC researches in Canada/USA: Jane Pennell and her staff. FGC was designated Family Group Decision Making (FGDM) in this project, which later became a generic term for similar decision making methods used in the United States and Canada.

The project intended to explore, within different cultural environments, whether family group conferencing could eliminate or reduce violence against children or adult family members and whether it could improve living conditions, and well-being. The method was implemented in 3 different regions in Northern Canada; One was an Inuit community and the two other were predominantly communities of European origin. The project lasted one year and involved 32 conferences fairly equally distributed between the regions. The conferences involved cases for 91 children under the age of 18, with a total of 472 participants, of which the majority were members of the extended family. Most case referrals came from the child welfare services, but there were also some cases from correctional services and some general referrals. Most of the children lived at home, but there were also some children in placement involved in the project.

A checklist of 31 potential indicators of abuse/violence against children or adults was drawn up that took its point of departure in relevant literature for the evaluation of the project. The checklist was filled out after the case documents were reviewed.

The documents and included a period of 1 year prior to the family group conference and 1 year after the conference ended. The same procedure was carried out among 31 families that did not participate in family group conferencing (the comparison group) which were selected by the case workers based on guidelines established by an independent FGC consultant group. The distinction between pre-conference and post-conference for the comparison group was set as the median time for implementing the conferences. The two study groups came out relatively equal in terms of the length of time they had received assistance from the child welfare services, how

⁷ The term «varied or neutral» was chosen to accommodate studies that had neither obviously positive nor obviously negative outcomes.

old the children were and what problem categories were involved, but the FGC cases had far more indications of abuse/neglect when the cases were first registered.

The results from checklists filled out one year after conferencing indicated that families that had participated in conferences were as a whole able to reduce the number of indications of abuse/neglect by half, while the same indications for families in the comparison group increased significantly. We see the same picture in terms of the number of families that were affected. In addition to reviewing the archives, the study involved 115 interviews with family members about one year after their conferences ended. The majority concluded that FGC was useful and their families were doing better, which one qualitative analysis associated with greater cohesion among family members and that the families felt a greater sense of security in their daily lives. The information provided by the families generally supports the main findings from the checklists, which gives the findings even more credibility.

This was one of the earliest evaluations of the effects of family group conferencing that also showed promising results when the method was used to reduce abuse/neglect. In purely methodological terms the study is insufficient in many ways if we examine it from a purely scientific perspective where outcome studies are concerned. Cases that were included in the sampling were not randomly distributed between FGC and traditional case work, which would be an almost impossible requirement, while the new method was being implemented. The results are presented in frequencies, and it does not state whether the group differences were tested statistically. And no outcome measurements were done. Still, this was a major step in developing a tool for recording indications of abuse/neglect, and multiple sources of information were used that can lend credibility to the results as a form of quality assurance. In spite of the methodological problems the study is still seen as an important contribution to our knowledge on FGC in professional terms and methodologies that acted as a stepping stone for future research.

Norway, (Falck, 2006)

Norway's national FGC implementation and evaluation project lasted from 2003 to 2006 (Falck, 2006). The project was not initially designed to evaluate the effects of FGC, but it did pave the way for comparing certain characteristics and outcomes in FGC cases with other kinds of cases (Falck & Clausen, 2006). Some conditions being compared were the severity of the cases, the relationship between parents and the child welfare services, concurrence in understanding the family's situation and measures offered by the child welfare services, as assessed by case workers.

Information was collected on 111 conferences that involved 170 children. 44 conferences for 68 children were reviewed by collecting new data one year after the conferences were finished. The comparison group encompassed cases for 68 children (from the same offices) that did not involve FGC procedures. These cases were dealt with by traditional case work until a decision was made and measures were implemented. New data was collected on 54 of these children about one year later. Most of the children in the study lived at home, but there were also some children in placement. Conferencing was most often used when remedial action within the home was being considered, but it is also used in relation to placements and reunification. The prevalence of social and psychological problems among parents and children corresponded to what we normally find among the clients of the child welfare services. Nearly two-thirds of these children

had been in contact with the child welfare services at some time in the past. The FGC cases were considered more serious than the cases in the comparison group. Based on information gathered from case workers, Hyrve (2006) discovered that most of the families that participated in FGCs had been cooperating with the child welfare services over time and very few were in the midst of a conflict.

Findings from the follow-up analysis indicated that, according to the case workers, the gravity of the FGC cases was significantly lower one year after the conferences. There were also positive developments in comparison group cases, but the change was significantly less than FGC cases. One-third of all children who participated in the conferences were no longer receiving assistance from the child welfare services one year later. This was only true for 1/10th of the children in the comparison group. One explanation for the reduced assistance in FGC cases was - according to the researchers - that a lot of the work had been transferred from the child welfare services to the family's own network (Figenschow, 2006). No significant differences were found between the two groups when we examine whether the family's relationship with the child welfare services ha changed or not, and if the family's understanding of the child welfare services' concerns had changed, although we noted a slight tendency among families in the comparison group where understanding was concerned. The parents from FGC cases were also interviews, to supplement the information acquired from the case workers. The information from the interviews confirmed the findings that support positive developments in the family situation, but similar interviews were not conducted with the parents in the comparison group.

Researchers stress how the results should be interpreted cautiously due to the number of cases that were discontinued after the first and second periods, and because they pointed out that the comparison group did not function as a pure control group for this study. Still, they concluded the sum of the individual results indicates that family group conferencing has an overwhelmingly positive effect (Falck & Vik, 2006, p. 289).

Michigan, USA (Crampton & Jackson, 2007)

Family conferencing was introduced as a formal program in Kent County Michigan in 1996 and lasted until 1998. The program originated from the idea that the extended family and local community were not involved in child care for children in placement as much as one would like them to be. County statistics on the number of minority children in placement (non-white children) were higher than desired compared with the population as a whole. The program involved 257 minority families for which placement was considered an option due to abuse/neglect. Cases involving sexual abuse were excluded because other programs were available to address this problem. Families offered conferencing had a «choice» between participating in the program or having their case dealt with in the normal manner by the justice system, which would lead to placement in a public foster home. The problem addressed in this context was whether using FGC could reduce the number of public foster home placements.

As with the projects from Canada and Norway discussed above, this program failed to distribute families randomly into a trial group and a control group while the method was being introduced and implemented in the county. They therefore decided to divide the families into different groups based on their «status» in the family group decision making project. Of the 257 minority families involved only 153 families were asked to participate in the FGDM project; 94

families accepted the offer. Families that were not offered FGDM would have been excluded either due to an unwillingness by professionals to recommend them for the program or because the cases had been dismissed in the meantime. Of the 94 families that completed conferencing only 61 succeeded in developing an action plan that allowed them to avoid placement in a public foster home; 33 of the FGDM families did not succeed. All the excluded cases or those that were unsuccessful in making a satisfactory care plan were transferred to the judicial system.

All the groups were reviewed in a follow up survey 2 years later based on outcome measures, such as the child welfare services receiving new notifications of concern or the number and type of placements. According to the authors, to assess the significance of FGDM it would be most appropriate to compare the two groups of families that consented to participate because their point of departure was similar. A clear distinction was found for these groups, between cases in which a care plan had been prepared and approved or not regarding placement patterns, while there was no difference in terms of new notifications of concern. Children from families that were successful in developing a care plan were placed with relatives more often - that often involved a decision to transfer legal guardianship - while children from families that were not successful in developing a care plan were more often placed in public foster homes, and later adopted.

The authors focused on foster care that involved relatives, which get far less financial support or follow-up than public foster homes, and there is little knowledge about the conditions or lives of these children in the long-term. Families that were not recommended for FGDM by professionals experienced the most placements and had more cases in the courts, while the dismissed cases mentioned above often involved new care and custody evaluations by the child welfare services.

FGC/FGDM seems to be a promising method to reduce the number of minority children in public foster care. The authors point out however that the design of the study is not suited to measuring the effects of FGC/FGDM, and the project does not have any information on how the children are doing in terms of personal development and well-being. The outcome measures in this study also fail us here when we want to look at child security and stability during their years of upbringing (permanency). The study does however provide important information about using FGC on cases involving minority families, and it has provided important insight into the private and public foster home system.

Texas, USA (Sheets et al., 2009)

A study was conducted in Texas from 2003 to 2005 that included all the 11 regions of Texas. The authors focused on the debate about which methods would produce the best outcome for children, evidence-based (that include research-based knowledge, clinical expertise and clients' values) or methods that to a greater or lesser degree take the cultural aspects of different kinds of family groups into account. In their opinion, evidence-based practice and culturally sensitive practices are theoretically compatible, so the method deserves rigorous research attention.

The model examined in this study is the original variant for family group conferencing we know from New Zealand and most European countries. The conference was conducted within 180 days after child placement when preparing long-term care plans. So-called Permanency Planning Meetings (PPM) were conducted in the regions that did not implement FGDM methods within 45 days of placement. The outcome measures for this study were participant satisfaction,

child well-being/adjustment and care situation when care ended (period of care, reunification). Participant satisfaction was examined using survey data from 200 parents and caregivers who participated in conferencing, and 194 who participated in PPM meetings. Child well-being was investigated in interviews with caregivers in a sub-scale 3-6 months after the conference that involved 46 FGDM children and 37 PPM children. The themes of the interviews were child adjustment, anxiety, school grades and contact with siblings. Information about ending formal care includes all children in placement from November 2004 to July 2005; 468 FGDM cases and 3598 control cases, which were registered in May 2006.

The study reported that participant satisfaction was higher among families who participated in FGDM than those in PPM meetings, and relatives were more satisfied than parents. Where the children's well-being/adjustment is concerned, we see how children placed with relatives were «more adjusted and less anxious than those placed in public foster care». There was a marginal difference between the groups in favor of FGDM, but whether this was due to conferencing, the location of placement or child adjustment to placement is unknown. When exiting care (5-17 months after placement) a significantly greater proportion of FGDM children (48 %) were reunited with their families compared to PPM children (33 %), and the FGDM children had shorter placements. This same difference was not found between PGDM and PPM when children were reunified with relatives. However, favorable FGDM results were not the same in all regions due to different practices for reunification. The regions with the most favorable FGDM outcome were predominantly regions with children from Hispanic and African-American families, while the difference was less prominent for Anglo-American children.

The authors stress that the results from the follow-up phase are to be considered preliminary results, and more than half of all the children were still under government care. They also explained that the FGDM group had more Caucasians, while the PPM group had more Hispanics. The FGDM group had more drug problems, while the PPM group had more physical neglect allegations. These group differences were not subject to review in this study. However, in a footnote to their article we read that a later multivariate analysis of updated data that was reviewed for group differences confirmed the findings mentioned above about the outcome of family group conferencing - especially for Hispanic families and for African-American families with drug problems. We were unable to find any publications that deal with the later results.

USA. (Weigensberg et al., 2009)

The first national survey in American of children who had been in contact with the child welfare services began at the end of the 1990s (The National Survey of Child and Adolescent Well-Being, NSCAW). The survey included a representative sample of 5001 children aged 0-15 years who had been examined by the child welfare services from October 1999 to December 2000, who were being monitored over time and for whom new data was gathered. Data from this survey formed the starting point for many studies on social problems including one study on the outcome of FGDM where «services access» is concerned for parents and children who had been in contact with the child welfare services.

The sample for the FGDM study consisted of 3220 children who lived at home who were reported to the child welfare services due to abuse/neglect, including a sub-group of 325 children who had experienced one form or another of FGDM meetings during their care assessment.

Analyses at the time of registration show no differences between children who participated in FGDMs or not where gender, age, ethnicity, type of abuse (including sexual abuse) or previous reported abuse were concerned. But the FGDM cases were still more serious than the other cases because they often concerned domestic violence and their parents often had drug problems, more so than the other cases. The unique opportunities presented by having access to a large representative sample allowed one to use advanced statistical methods (propensity score matching) to form a new control group, which showed characteristics that were most similar to the FGDM group. This would allow one to tie if any differences in outcomes to the effect of FGC/FGMD, and exclude possible group differences.

Analyses from the first round of measurements indicate the FGDM group was more often referred to child aid services, mental health care services for parents and other kinds of services for parents. A follow-up was done 3 years later, which indicated there was NO LONGER any difference between the groups. And there was no difference in referrals to other services such as drug treatment for parents, domestic violence services or special education for the children. That meant FGDM cases were - As a point of departure - more often referred to services for parents and children outside the child welfare services, but whether this difference lasted over time or not is uncertain, according to the authors of the study. They suggest it may be due to a lack of follow-up on FGDM cases over time, but the study did not confirm this. FGDM/FGC seems to have more potential than other methods to engage families with aid programs (albeit, outside the official child welfare services), but in any case that is considered a positive finding.

Washington DC, USA (Pennell, Edwards, & Burford, 2010)

Washington DC introduced a model known as the Family Team Meeting (FTM) in 2005, which was to be used on all emergency placements within 72 hours of registering a case. 72 hours was the time before a court had to decide on placement (Pennell et al., 2010). FTM is described as a hybrid of the original FGC model and other similar decision making models much like Team Decision Making (TDM). One important difference from standard FGC was that the coordinator's role was split in two; one coordinator was responsible for preparing the meeting while the other became the facilitator responsible for conducting the meeting. The facilitator is not independent. He or she was an employee of the child welfare services who often collaborated with a child welfare worker from the local community.

Other differences from standard conferencing were a more narrow focus on placement, shorter meetings (often 1-2 hours) and implementation without using private family time. The latter characteristics correspond to TDM, but they differ because this model utilizes the family network's resources to a greater degree.

The FTM evaluation was carried out using data from the Federal Adoption and Foster Care Register. 3 comparison groups were established to examine FTM outcome; (1) A Pre-FTM group that consisted of 140 children who entered placement in October-December 2004 (before the program started), (2) A Non-FTM group that consisted of 195 children who did not participate in any FTMs even if the program would have applied to all emergency placements, and (3) An FTM group which consisted of 454 children who entered placement from January to September 2005. Differing from a USA national study (Weigensberg et al., 2009) that reported one form of family group conferencing or another was used on 10 % of all placement cases nationwide, this

was true for 70 % of the cases in Washington DC. Comparative outcomes in this study were: type of placement, family-related long-term goals, duration of placement and child residence after reunification. The follow-up report dated 30 September 2005 indicated the FTM group had significantly more placements with relatives (28 %) than the two comparison groups (18 %). Nearly 70 % of the FTMs had family-related long-term goals for reunification with parents or long-term care by relatives, while this was true for less than half of the other groups. For the reunified children the FTM group had shorter placements than both comparison groups and they were more often returned to parents and relatives than the non-FTM group and just as often as the pre-FTM group.

It is important to note that up to 70 % of the children in the different groups were still under public care when the follow-up was completed, and it is uncertain whether the findings that applied to reunification also applied to those children still in public care. Another limitation of this study applies to its sampling bias, either related to the FGC recruitment process or to characteristics of the families. The groups were equal in demographic terms/characteristics (almost all the children were African-Americans), but they were more often in placement due to physical abuse and they had fewer disabilities and behavioral problems or were less often at risk of neglect. The parents of FTM children had less drug problems or lack of parenting skills, but they often had more problems related to housing than the others. This study is not an outcome study because of the recruitment method used, the lack of control over group differences and the simplified analyses, but the findings are still promising for a practice that involves activating extended families in emergency situations, especially among African-American minority families that often have a strained relationship with the (public) child welfare services.

Texas, USA (Wang et al., 2012)

A major population study was conducted in Texas that examined children and young people who experienced out-of-home placement for at least 3 days at any time in 2004 to 2009 (N= 80690). The purpose of the study was to examine the unique effects of FGCafter a child was placed in public care for the period leading to «permanent» placement and type of placement after public care ended. This study applied a complex multi-level analysis (discrete-time survival model, which is a structural comparison model used in longitudinal studies) in which FGDM conducted after placement were viewed as a form of mediation. The period was examined to investigate the 3 most frequent outcomes after exiting care: family reunification, placement with relatives and adoption. The study was controlled for factors like age, gender, ethnicity, total risk score, family income and teenage parents.

At the end of the project approximately 25 % of the children were still in public care, while the exiting groups that were examined included 7986 children who participated in FGDMs after placement and 52249 children who had not participated in family group decision making. Analyses indicate that the probability of family reunification increased (28 %) and the likelihood of placement with a relative increased (7.3 %) when FGDM was used after placement, while the probability of adoption decreased (45 %). These analyses confirm earlier findings by Pennell et al. (2010). Family group conferencing after placement however did not have an effect on the time before reunification, which is the opposite of what Pennell et al. (2010) found. With a point of departure in good data and the use of complex and proven analytical methods, this seems to be

the first credible study to document unique positive effects of family group conferencing. The sample was representative for the state of Texas, but we cannot be certain it is representative for the United States as a whole.

Varied or neutral outcomes of family group conferencing Sweden (Sundell & Vinnerljung, 2004)

A Swedish outcome study of family group conferencing is mentioned in many international articles as one of the first studies to check for group differences to explore whether family group conferencing has any unique effect. The study was conducted in 1996-97 among 10 municipalities in Sweden. It compared the outcome of 66 FGC cases (97 children) with a random sampling of 104 families (142 children) who experienced normal case work. Information was obtained from case workers (questionnaires), case documents and from the national address register (bostedsregister). The outcomes were examined 3 years after the study began.

The goal of the study was to test out the following hypotheses, (among others) based on previous research and experience: Family group conferencing will (1) reduce the risk of new notifications of concern, (2) reduce the likelihood of recurring abuse and neglect, (3) increase notifications of concern from extended family members as needed, (4) increase frequency of placement with extended family and (5) increase the possibility of closing cases. The outcome variables were in accordance with the aforementioned hypotheses.

Ever since the study began researchers found that families referred to family group conferencing were recurrent clients of the child welfare services, and their cases were often considered more serious than the cases in the comparison group. No other substantial differences were found between the groups. These differences were checked during the follow-up phase using multiple regression analysis. Despite participants reporting a positive experience of the conference itself, only two of the five outcome hypotheses were confirmed to any degree. The frequency at which the extended family notified the child welfare services of further concerns rose slightly, and more children who had participated in conferencing were placed with the extended family. This last finding supports other research findings (Pennell et al., 2010; Wang et al., 2012). Contrary to anticipated results, children who participated in FGC were referred to the child welfare services more often after conferencing, especially in cases of maltreatment or abuse. There were no differences when it came to closing cases, but there was a tendency for FGC families to receive less support, counselling and other services over time. Regardless of the verified differences in outcome, further multiple regression analyses of the different outcome measures indicated that

FGC's unique effects were minimal (0 to 7 percent variance for the different outcome measures), while background variables explained the 29 % and 67 % variance. The authors offered several possible explanations for the limited effects of

family group conferencing. For example, FGC may be more suited to decision making than implementing decisions. It might also be true that, although FGC commits the extended family at the beginning, there is little guarantee that the support and help they offer will continue over time. It was also noted that several of the studies that found positive outcomes involved a number of minority groups. The Swedish sampling did not involve minorities to any extent.

California, USA (Berzin, 2006; Berzin, Cohen, Thomas, & Dawson, 2008)

This is the first and - as far we know - the only study of family group conferencing conducted as a randomized controlled trial (RCT). The study is also important because it evaluated two different FGC models with different target groups and outcome measures from two counties in California (Fresno and Riverside). Data was taken from California's Title IV-E Child Welfare Waiver Demonstration Project, intended to test family conferencing and other recommended interventions. Output data on children and their families was collected from April to December 2000, with follow-up data collected in December 2002.

The purpose of this study was to evaluate the possible differences in outcomes between an FGC group and a control group regarding child safety (reported maltreatment, out-of-home placement), placement stability (number and type of changes to placement) and the final outcomes for the children's care situation (closing cases and reunification). The families were divided randomly into each group after the families consented to participate in the project, (distribution ratio 3:5 respectively for control group and FGC group); the size of samples increased because siblings who were also registered with the child welfare services were included in the study.

The sample from Fresno County consisted of 164 children who lived at home (aged 0-18) who were assessed with moderate to high risk recurrence of abuse/neglect. There were 103 children in the FGC group and 61 children in the control group. The sample from Riverside County consisted of 163 children aged 0-12 who were placed in foster homes who were considered at risk of being transferred elsewhere; 105 FGC children and 58 control children. The model implemented in Fresno was a combination of the Family Unity Model (FUM) that included a session to identify family strengths during the first part of a meeting, and family group conferencing that included private family time as we know it from the original model. Riverside County used the FUM model, which included a the same session to identify a family's resources, but the care plan was prepared by all the participants together (without private family time).

No differences were found between the FGC groups and the control groups in either county among children who had a history of intervention, and the only demographic difference was that there was a slightly higher proportion of girls in the Fresno control group. The analyses were checked for possible cluster effects for the sibling groups (brothers and sisters were not independent variables, often resulting in the same outcome).

The summarized findings from the study indicated conferencing had no effect on any of the outcomes measures for any models. In fact, the opposite seems to be true. There was an indication that the FGC groups had more reports of maltreatment than the control groups in both counties, but the differences were not very significant. Placement stability was only measured in Riverside County, where the children were already in placement when the study started. No group differences were found during placements (number and type of placement), even when the study was checked for duration of placement. The last outcome measure, closing a case and final outcome (the permanent care solution), was significantly different in each county. For children living with their parents in Fresco, closing a case involved the decision to keep a child with parents or not: For children in placement in Riverside, closing a case implied changing the care solution which could mean reunification with parents, placement with relatives, guardianship, adoption and/or closing a case and sending it to the judicial system.

Overall, we learned that more FGC cases had been closed when compared with control cases, but the difference was not significant.

When the authors analyzed the lack of positive results from family group conferencing they asked the question of whether we should expect FGC to have any long term effects or ambitious outcome measures such as child safety, stability and permanent care arrangements. Perhaps FGC should rather be seen as the beginning of a process which can be measured in relation to family member involvement in decision making, improving cooperation between the family and the community, and better communication within a family? They stressed that, even though FGC did not show any positive effects, neither did it have any negative effects. They encourage further testing on various outcome measures with a larger sampling and more random distribution of FGC and traditional methods.

USA (McCrae & Fusco, 2010)

This study is also based on the national survey (NSCAW) of children who were investigated by the child welfare services after reports of abuse/neglect. The study did not intend to examine the long-term effects of FGDM, its aim was to investigate possible differences between Caucasian and African-American families/children where family group decision making was concerned (various models were included). 4128 children aged 0-14 were included in the survey: 1598 African-American children and 2240 Caucasian children (290 cases were excluded due to missing data). Information was taken from the first registration (baseline) in the survey and from the first follow-up period 12 months later. Differences in how conferencing was implemented were examined based on certain characteristics for children, caregiver, case worker and type of maltreatment, in addition to how the conference were organized, referrals to child welfare services and receiving various kinds of aid beside that offered by the child welfare services, and user satisfaction. The comparison of Caucasian and African-American children who had experienced conferencing were done as bivariate and multivariate analyses.

General findings indicate that conferencing in one form or another was used in 10 % of child welfare cases in the United States. Relatively speaking, non-white social workers more often referred families to FGDM than Caucasian social workers, but because non-white social workers constitute a small minority of social workers in the United States, this will have a limited impact on the use of conferencing overall, in the authors' opinion. The study also found that conferencing led to more frequent referrals (of children) to mental health services.

The main finding of the study was that there was no difference associated with FGDM where ethnicity alone is concerned, but there were several important reciprocal differences between Caucasian and African-American children who had participated in conferencing.

Among Caucasian children, conferencing was more often used in the context of the different types of foster home placements (less often for institutional placements) or in cases of physical neglect, and more often in urban areas. Among African-American children, FGDM was more often used for children with mental health difficulties, in serious cases and when a social worker was non-white, but less often for situations where cooperating with parents was problematic, with previous reports of abuse and with sexual abuse.

In their analysis of the study, the authors argue that not having found any differences in FGDM use was a positive result where ethnicity is concerned. This is especially important

considering the fact that African-American minorities are overrepresented among children in placement in the United States. It is disturbing to read that conferencing is used less among African-Americans when the families/children have a history of intervention for previous abuse (and sexual abuse), especially when we consider that these cases represent the most urgent need to place children outside the home. The authors encourage further debate on the objectives of family group conferencing. If one important objective is to prevent placement in a public foster home, conferencing would be a very important tool for intervening in the most serious of cases. They also suggest it would be worthwhile to increase commitment among Caucasian social workers who tend to use conferencing more often than non-white social workers for placement.

5.2 What research questions have we answered?

We decided to summarize our research review as a table at the end of this chapter along with our summary assessment that tries to look at all the studies we have explored thus far. We will start with a general summary of the studies, where we also include methodological characteristics, in order to shed light on individual topics from our research review such as the effects of family group conferencing on out-of-home placement, reducing abuse/neglect, ethnicity, access to other aid services, and the children's well-being and adjustment.

A basic summary of our research review

Our research review was comprised of 10 international studies that in various ways touch on the question of what effect does family group conferencing actually have. In all, 8 studies are from North America while the last 2 are from Nordic countries⁸. Several of the studies dealt with minority groups, and family group conferencing/FGDM was investigated for children living with their parents and children in placement of all ages. None of the researches suggested that family group conferencing is ill-suited in any case scenario, and it seems that most of the studies explored the most serious kinds of cases.

We found 7 studies with overwhelmingly positive outcomes from conferencing compared to other decision making methods and procedures, and 3 studies with more varied or neutral outcomes.

The methodological quality of the studies varies. If we look at the studies with positive outcomes, only two are satisfactory in terms of quality of methodology (Wang et al., 2012; Weigensberg et al., 2009). The three studies with varied or neutral outcomes are acceptable in terms of safeguarding important criteria for methodology where outcome measurements are concerned (Berzin et al., 2008; McCrae & Fusco, 2010; Sundell & Vinnerljung, 2004). The biggest challenge to methodology seems to be establishing comparable control groups and controlling group differences. Even though all the studies we explored use comparison groups, only one was conducted as a randomized controlled trial (Berzin, 2006; Berzin et al., 2008). There seems to be a tendency among more recent studies to use a more advanced study design and analytical methods than earlier implementation studies, which seems reasonable when we consider the initial problems researchers had getting enough family group conferencing cases to evaluate. It also seems true that the most recent and most methodological studies benefited from larger population-based or national representative samplings.

⁸ Even if New Zealand is the forerunner of implementation, as far as we know there are no follow-up or outcome studies published internationally from New Zealand that could tell us what has happened with the children and families since experiencing FGC (e.g. Levine, 2000).

The outcome measures in the studies are closely related to the hypothetical problems, which in most cases seem to be relevant, specific and measurable. For example, the number and kinds of placements, time in care etc. are measured to address issues regarding the effect FGC might have on placements and reunifications. Case documents, population registers and bona fide child welfare statistics have been used as source documents. Measuring abuse and maltreatment has been done in several ways, such as filling in checklists about abuse/maltreatment, reading the content of notifications of concern from case workers and the frequencies of these notifications. It was pointed out that relevant checklists for maltreatment would have more credibility than a case worker's assessments of severity in individual cases. Interviews with parents are often used to assess well-being and adjustment, but one of these studies failed to state whether standardized mapping instruments were used, which would have been helpful.

The time at which an outcome was recorded varied from 9 months to 5 years, but most studies had a follow-up time of 2-3 years. The question of long-term effects seems somewhat unclear; the studies with the shortest follow-up times cannot provide us with information about how the lives of these children were influenced in the long run. Follow-up studies would be very helpful if they were repeated or conducted over longer periods of time if we want to explore whether FGC has any long-term effect on a family's situation or if it has an influence on a child's well-being or adjustment.

What effect does FGC have on out-of-home placement?

One of the most important topics in our research review has been the question of what impact FGC might have on out-of-home placement. This involves preventing placement, duration and stability of placement, public versus private placement options etc. In studies originating in the United States one of the main questions has been whether FGDM reduces the use of public foster homes, as a temporary and as a permanent solution. In this context, it is important to be aware of the distinction between public and private placement, which is different in America if we compare it to Norway. Placement with relatives, guardianship and similar private placements are not a part of the public foster home system in America, which means they do not receive the same level of professional support or financial help (Crampton & Jackson, 2007). There is also a distinction as to what is the best form of care for children. In the United States, care alternatives are ranked in terms of the most desirable (growing up with one's parents) followed by placement with relatives or family network, adoption - and the least desired public care (Barber & Delfabbro, 2005; Forrester, Goodman, Cocker, Binnie, & Jensch, 2009). Even though increased foster placement with relatives and adoption of younger children are being recommended in Norway (Ministry of Children, Equality and Social Inclusion, 2012-2013; Report by the Child Welfare Panel, 2011), public foster care in Norway is not considered the worst or least desirable form of placement.

One of the most important findings from the most methodologically sound studies and less methodological studies is that FGC can increase placement with relatives, as an alternative to placement in public foster home and as an alternative to reunification after public care ends, while the use of public foster homes and adoption is reduced (Crampton & Jackson, 2007; Pennell et al., 2010; Sheets et al., 2009; Wang et al., 2012). Several of these studies also indicate that FGC increase the likelihood of reunification with own family. Whether and to what extent

FGC can prevent out-of-home placement and/or provide more stable placement has not been studied specifically in any of the studies. One of the most methodologically sound studies however did examine stability of care for children in placement measured by the number of times a child was moved in the course of a 2-year period. Even after duration of placement was verified, conferencing did not seem to have any effect (Berzin et al., 2008).

The findings on the duration of public care differed substantially; a couple of the studies concluded that children who participated in FGCs were reunited with their parents quicker than others (Pennell et al., 2010; Sheets et al., 2009), while one study found that family group conferencing had no effect on duration of placement (Wang et al., 2012).

Where reunification after public care is concerned, it is important to understand that Americans see reunification with the family or relatives and even adoption as «private» forms of child care that normally involve formally closing a case.

Not of the studies looked directly at time variables for the child welfare services relationship to children living at home, but findings from the Norwegian study may indicate a reduction in contact with public services over time, in that many more children from the comparison groups were receiving aid/measures from child welfare services when the follow-up study (Falck & Clausen, 2006). These findings however must be interpreted cautiously because this study has its own methodological weaknesses.

Can FGC reduce child abuse and maltreatment?

Another very important question is whether FGC can reduce child abuse and maltreatment. This and similar problems have been under scrutiny in a number of studies that looked at reducing the severity of cases (Falck & Clausen, 2006) and at a more basic level addressing the question of child safety (Berzin, 2006; Berzin et al., 2008). The findings however are contradictory. Some found that reported incidents of abuse and maltreatment were cut in half (Pennell & Burford, 2000), some found no difference (Berzin, 2006; Berzin et al., 2008) while others saw an increase in reported incidents (Sundell & Vinnerljung, 2004). Findings that point to an increase in incidents of abuse in the Swedish study might indicate a negative trend. But if we look at the background information on these reports, we see that the reports came more often from a child's network - which could indicate more people trusted the child welfare services after participating in conferencing. If that is the case, we might say that children were safer after FGC because people in the network were more willing to help or report abuse. The Norwegian study reported a reduction in the severity of cases assessed by case workers (Falck & Clausen, 2006). Findings indicate fewer FGC children than children from comparison groups were receiving aid/ measures from the child welfare services when the follow-up study was done, which supports the idea that cases had become less severe. The fact that the FGC cases initially had a higher degree of severity than comparison cases makes these findings especially positive. According to the researchers, one explanation might be that the FGC children had less contact with the child welfare services because the children were getting more support from the family network. We do not know whether this support lasted after the follow-up study was completed one year after the conference

Is FGC influenced by ethnic differences?

One problem most of the American studies was concerned with was the possibility of ethnic differences in the use of family group conferencing. That was because minority groups are strongly overrepresented among children in public care in the United States, which was also a very important point of departure for the emergence of FGC methods in New Zealand.

Ethnicity and ethnic groups within the child welfare services is a recent phenomenon in Norway (Holm-Hansen, Haaland, & Myrvold, 2007). Even though more children of immigrant background in Norway receive help from the child welfare services relatively speaking (Kalve & Dyrhaug, 2011), we do not know whether this is a result of family group conferencing or not.

A representative survey from USA (McCrae & Fusco, 2010) found no difference in the overall use of FGDM between Caucasians and African-Americans, but there were indications that is was being used somewhat differently for the two different groups. For Caucasian children it was most often used for different types of foster home placement, while for African-Americans it was more often used in situations that involved children with mental/psychological difficulties when the social worker was non-white. One finding worthy of consideration is that FGDM was used less for African-American children in situations where cooperating between parents and the authorities was problematic, in cases involving previous reports of maltreatment and sexual abuse. Another study found that conferencing had an effect on family reunification, particularly for Hispanic and African-American children and to a lesser degree for Anglo-American children (Sheets et al., 2009). A couple of other studies included the entire sample of minority families, but they failed to compare their findings with other population groups (Crampton & Jackson, 2007; Pennell & Burford, 2000).

Other possible effects of FGC

For children living with their parents, the question was asked whether conferencing could facilitate support from aid services outside the child welfare services. One of the most methodologically sound studies reported that children and families who participated in conferencing were more often referred to different kinds of counselling and aid services, especially within mental health care and drug treatment (Weigensberg et al., 2009). However, at the follow-up study 3 years later there was no difference anymore. The authors suggest this may be the case because FGC cases had earlier follow-up dates.

The Norwegian study examined the relationship between the child welfare services and families, and whether FGC could help everyone reach a common understanding of a child's situation (Falck & Clausen, 2006). The relationship was overwhelmingly positive in most cases at the first and other follow-ups for both groups, while we saw a reduction in understanding in thee comparison group cases over time. The fact that the analyses were basic and limited in scope makes it impossible to say whether FGC could have been significant in this context.

One final issue we barely touched on in our research review is whether FGC has any effect on the well-being and adjustment of children.

This question was explored in one study (Sheets et al., 2009), where the parents of a small sample of children were interviewed about their children's mental state, satisfaction and enjoyment, school work etc. The study found that children who were placed with relatives functioned better than those who were placed in a public foster home, but due to the limitations

of the analyses the study is unable to tell us whether FGC played a role in these factors or not. The study also failed to say whether standardized mapping instruments were used to examine child well-being/adjustment, which would have lended credibility to the study's methodology.

5.3 A summary of our research review

Regardless of what we found out about specific problems, it is important to recognize that research evidence on the possible effects of FGC is thin, and that further research is needed to confirm and disprove existing findings and to examine new issues. In addition to that, it is important to reiterate that most of the studies are based on American conditions, which are not automatically transferable to a Norwegian context. Keeping the caveats above in mind and based on the most methodologically sound studies, we decided to draw some final conclusions from our research review.

Conclusions:

- The strongest evidence gleaned from research implies that FGC increases the likelihood of placement with relatives as opposed to public placement and adoption.
- FGC increases the likelihood of reunification with the family.
- FGC facilitates access to services beyond those offered by the child welfare services in the short term, but not in the long term.
- FGC is used equally among African-Americans and Caucasians, but the way FGC is used for both groups differs.

Uncertain findings or lack of research:

- There is no clear answer to whether FGC can prevent maltreatment and abuse.
- There is no clear answer to whether FGC contributes to shorter placement or reduces the need for further contact with the child welfare services.
- We have only ascertained that FGC leads to more stable placements.
- Studies and research are lacking as to whether FGC prevents out-of-home placement.
- Studies and research are lacking as to whether FGC has an effect on the well-being and adjustment of children.
- Studies and research are lacking as to whether FGC is of significance to long-term support
 from the family network, and for communication and interaction between the family and the
 child welfare services.

Table 1. International outcomes and comparative studies on the use of family group conferencing, some significant findings.

Studies with positive outcomes:

Country/State	Question	Sample/Groups	Outcome measures/ measurement method	Period of time	Main findings
Canada: Newfoundland and Labrador, 3 regions, minority family.	Can FGC reduce violence for children and adults?	32 cases FGC, 31 cases normal case handling (most live at home)	Checklist for abuse, from case docs.	T1: 1 year before FGC T2: 1 year after FGC	Abuse halved using FGC, increase for comprsn.cases
Norway: national study	Can FGC reduce degree of severity and need for measures from child welfare services?	68 children w/FGC, 54 children w/normal case handling (most live at home)	Case worker assessment and case document	T1: just after FGC T2: 1 year after FGC	Clear reduction in severity and fewer measures from child welfare services at FGC
USA: Michigan, minority family	Can FGC reduce placement in public foster home?	94 cases FGC; 61 approved plan 33 not approved plan (living at home)	Type placement: public foster home, adoption, relatives	2 years after FGC	FGC with plan: placed more often with relatives, without plan: public foster home and adoption
USA: Texas, all regions	Compare outcome when using of FGC and PPM (plan meetings) after placement	468 FGC 3598 PPM cases (permanency planning meeting)	Living situation at termination of care (fam., relatives, public care) and placement time	At termination of care, but for short proj.period to get all the children	FGC children more often reunited with family, and shorter placements

Country/State	Question	Sample/Groups	Outcome measures/ measurement method	Period of time	Main findings
USA: national representative survey (NSCAW)	Effect of FGC for access to services for (living at home) children/parents in contact with child welfare services.	325 children with FGC compared with statistical «matched» control group, from large sample	Survey data	T1 Oct. 1999- Dec. 2000 T2: 3 years later	T1: With FGC: children more often referred to counselling, parents more often mental help T2: No difference any more
USA: Washington DC	Compare outcomes in emergency cases w/ and without the use of FGC before placem.	1: Pre-FGC *, 140 2: No FGC, 195 3: FGC, 454 * before program start	Type placement Placement time Residence at reunification	9-12 Mnths. after placement (only 30 % reunified)	With FGC: more often relatives, shorter time, more often back to family/relatives
USA: Texas, population study	To investigate the unique effect of FGC after placement, for placement time and type «lasting» placements or sim. reunification.	80690 children placement in at least 3 days in the period 2004- 2009. 15 % had had FGC after placement.	Placement time Residence at reunification	Proj.period 2004-2009	FGC showed increased probability for reunific. to family and relatives, and reduced probability for adoption. No effect on placement time

Method assessment		Reference		
Outcome measureme Controlled for group differences with stati «matched» control gr	stical	an wind of the control of the contro	Berzin et al., 2008	McCrae & Fusco, 2010
measurements, simpl analyses, no control i differences between groups. Short follow- period Outcome measureme with control variable advanced multi-level	P	Out of the measurement of the Multiple of the	2 RCT studies among families that consent in FGC. Outcome measurement with control variables, advanced multi-level analyses, (SEM model)	Outcome measurement. Bi- and multivariate analyses of major, repr. sampling
analyses (SEM mode	Main findings	Positive and negative outcomes for FGC, but little or no effect from FGC at controlled for grp. diff. (0-7 % explain.)	No effect on some of outcome measures in some of counties	No effect on ethnicity alone, but intrinsic group.diff.
	Period of time	3 years after project start	T1 Dec. 2000 T2 Dec. 2002	T1: Oct. 1999 - Dec. 2000 T2: 1 year after
	Outcome measures/ measurement method	Case worker (questionnaire) and case docs. Residence register	Case document: new notifications, number and type placements	Survey data
omes:	Sample/Groups	66 cases FGC, 104 cases normal case handling from random sample	Fresno: 101 children with FGC, 61 control children, living at home. Riverside: 105 children w/FGC, 58 control children, placed	4128 children, 1598 white and 2240 African- American
Studies with varied or neutral outcomes:	Question	Can FGC contribute to: reduce notifications, mal- treatment/neglect, increase notifications from fam.when needed, increase plcmt w/ relatives, terminate cases faster	Effect of F GC on safety, stability and dismissed/ reunification	Investigate ethnic diff. in use of FGC
Studies with varie	Country/State	Sweden: 10 municipalities	USA: California, 2 county, different models	USA: national representative survey (NSCAW)

6. The assignment and action plans of a family group conference

and how the assignment is prepared. The conference aims to prepare an action plan that addresses the overall goal (the assignment) of the conference, in this chapter we explore the structure of a family group conference; what tasks are assigned to the participants, what questions are put on the table which is probably the most specific thing that comes out of a family group conference. What does research tell us about the content of action plans and about the types of help being mobilized, and what do we know about the distribution of responsibilities between family members and public agencies? One final and very important question is whether an action plan is actually carried out or not.

6.1 What are the objectives of a conference/What problems does a conference try to resolve?

productive to discuss at the conference. The assignment and its questions however are prepared together with the people the questions are directed at, One important element of a conference is preparing the questions the family group will try answer. This is «the Assignment» of the conference. The child welfare services usually takes responsibility for offering a family conferencing, so they will also have a say in which questions would be most which is usually the child's caregivers and the child himself (see chapter 2)

Based on a review of the literature, there are very few studies or research summaries of first-hand experience that provide a tangible presentation the United States imply the question is basically where a child or adolescent is going to live. The situation can often involve children in temporarily of this, read Shore, Wirth, Cahn, & Gunderson, 2002; Velen & Devine, 2005). The three studies that provide the most clarity on FGC themes are all of what topics and themes a conference assignment are based on. Without being accounted for in any systematic manner, many of the studies from placement for whom a more permanent solution will be found, or it may deal with reunification and returning home after placement (for examples from major studies in Nordic countries; particularly Sweden.

the theme of 86 % of all assignments, while the parents were the theme of 68 % of the assignments. The degree of specificity varied significantly. So did the quantity of questions the conference was meant to address. The Norwegian study (Falck, 2006) does not report explicitly on which questions involved relief measures for children (62 %) or their parents (61 %). Where the child would live was a theme in about half of all conferences. Other themes involved the child's schooling (24 %), the parents' use of drugs (13 %) and the child's use of drugs (7 %). Overall, the child's situation was Sundell and Hæggmann (1999) found that assignments from 71 conferences could be divided into six themes. The most common question the conferences would answer, but it does refer to information from case workers about the problems in their cases. Just over half of all cases involved the different needs of a family, nearly one sixth concerned the child's care situation or a young person's behavioral difficulties.

There was one theme/problem addressed often which involved a conflict between adults that affected their children (Havnen, 2006)

precise and understandable, without making the questions sound like instructions. Løfsnes (2002) describes experiences from a development project ust one or a few problems, formulated as questions. In addition to that, the questions were formulated together with the family in a language that is where the group tried to make questions as tangible as possible to varying degrees throughout the project period. They concluded that the questions in a family group conference should not be too detailed, the more open-ended a question was the more opportunity the group had to find a solution. Hansen, 2002). This study pointed out the challenge faced by social workers in reducing the number and complexity of problems in their cases to Based on case workers interviews in the Norwegian study, Hyrve (2006) ascertained that formulating good and manageable questions for a conference is one area that could use some improvement. The same issue is highlighted in the Danish study (Morthorst Rasmussen & Haldbo

At an official level this question involves determining the extent to which the authorities would actually leave the family network to itself to find good solutions to their problems. When we looked at the Anglo-American literature, we found several researches who said they found examples of assignments formulated by case workers/child welfare services that were very restrictive regarding the influence a family actually had in making decisions (Holland & O'Neill, 2006; Merkel-Holguín, 2004; Nixon, 1999). The researchers believe the family's freedom was limited by the authorities to lend legitimacy to the decisions made by the authorities.

One relevant question is: To what extent do parents/children believe the questions formulated at the family group conference are the «right» ones? In the Danish study, this question was asked to caregivers. As many as 86 % of them felt the questions were the right ones.

6.2 Action plans

of professionals who explore this question however say the action plans created by a family group conference are relevant, even if they only produce There are different opinions as to what the most relevant outcome measures of a conference are (see e.g. Crampton & Jackson, 2007). The majority an immediate outcome (Anderson & Whalen, 2005; Hudson, 1996). A number of questions arise when an action plan is being formulated:

Is the extended family able to prepare a plan that will be approved by the authorities? Are the action plans actually implemented and followed up

Do the measures and actions in the plans lead to resolving the issues that were addressed in the conference? These are some of the key questions that we will try to answer here. In addition to that, we want to convey what seems to be relevant content of an action plan.

Action plans are approved in 9 out of 10 FGC cases

90 to 100 % of conferences (for examples of this, read Barnsdale & Walker, 2007; Marsh & Crow, 1998; Merkel-Holguín, 2003). Cases in which Some studies and research reviews tell us that the extended family is able to prepare an action plan the child welfare authorities will approve in

extended family proposed a plan that was not approved were rare. That means the conference is an effective way to implement measures and motivate efforts the child welfare services consider valid for addressing a child's situation.

However, it is worth noting that the plans are often altered after the second part of the conference is completed or after the entire FGC process is complete (see e.g. Lupton & Nixon, 1999). These alteration often involve: important clarifications; that the family agreed to the main points of the plan but has not finished putting the plan in writing; the family allows the representative of the child welfare services to clarify and specify their tasks; that a case worker needs approval from a supervisor for the services' actions; or that involving other services needs to be clarified (Havnen, 2006; Hyrve, 2006; Marsh & Crow, 1998; Sundell & Hæggmann, 1999). Lupton & Nixon (1999) look at whether the family actually takes the plan to heart. They think these processes provide the social services with the opportunity to influence the plans and thereby reducing the family's control over the final result of the conference.

Omre and Schjelderup (2009) have similar concerns. They were observers at eleven conferences (carried out from 2004 to 2006). They saw how in all these conferences the coordinator wrote down the content of the plan after the family presented its version orally. This approach allowed the coordinator to reformulate, add, specify and refine content in his/her own words (page 154). The authors pointed out the intrinsic value of allowing a family to formulate its action plan so they feel they contributed to the decision making process and the solution.

Connolly (2006a) used focus group interviews to collect experiences from very experienced coordinators in New Zealand. One message these coordinators conveyed is that a family group conference can also be valuable in cases where the family is unable to formulate a plan. In many cases, these meetings involve a process that lays the foundation for more and better communication, and better dynamics within a family system.

The content of action plans

One strength of family group conferencing we often hear of, is that conferences activate resources within a family and its network, as well as stimulating creativity and generating a desire to help - something traditional practices are often unable to do. Who does the action plan assign help or actions to, and what does this help consist of, are therefore valuable questions.

We were able to locate four studies that analyzed action plan content. These studies are from Sweden, England, USA and Norway. The Norwegian study (Figenschow, 2006) provided the least exhaustive information about content, but it makes an interesting comparison between action plans and s standard intervention plans (see below). The foreign studies are based on conferences conducted at the end of the 1990s, all of which were implemented in the early years of FGC. This may make them less relevant to some extent when compared to current Norwegian practices. We will refer to the Swedish study in particular because it was the most relevant for the Norwegian context, such as where the distribution of responsibilities is concerned between private/family and government agencies.

Help from the family or from public agencies?

Sundell and Hæggmann (1999) studied the content of 71 action plans from cases involving 105 children. Help from the family was involved in 86 % of all these plans. The social services

(including the child welfare services) would provide help in 78 % of the cases, while other agencies were delegated responsibilities in 42 % of the cases. The most common by far was that both the family and the social services would provide help, and only in six of the 71 action plans did the family take full control.

Marsh and Crow (1998) had similar findings in their English study of 74 action plans. With the exception of five cases, all the plans involved help from the extended family. Help from the social services was provided just as often. Marsh and Crow compared action plans with the decisions and measures provided in other child welfare cases. They found that action plans almost always involved other services (particularly the health and education sectors). These services played a role in two-thirds of all plans. According to the authors, their study suggests that family group conferences was able to identify more aspects of a child's needs than what the authorities were able to identify using «standard» case procedure.

The plans from 57 conferences for 114 children were analyzed in the American study (Shore et al., 2002). In all these plans the family was responsible for at least one of action. A majority of the children in this study were involved in out-of-home placement at the time of the conference. This is probably why treatment or prevention of parental drug abuse formed a part of most of these plans (61 %). This was even more common (80 %) where mental health issues were involved.

Figenschow (2006) compared 50 action plans from the Norwegian study with standard intervention plans in 50 comparison cases (see the review of this study and selected cases in chapter 5, Falck, 2006). She looked at the extent to which the child welfare services or family/ network provided help, but she did not report the extent to which other services were assigned to help. As with the other studies, these action plans usually included a combination of efforts and actions from the family's network and public agencies, but in 30 % of the cases everything was delegated to the family's own network.

The action plans from Norwegian conferences seem to include less aid/measures from public agencies than what we read from the foreign studies. One possible explanation for this difference may be the different ways in which the child welfare services organizes its tasks. Norway is the only country of all these countries where the child welfare services is also responsible for remedial action. In the other countries, remedial action directed at vulnerable children and families is the responsibility of the social services. The social services are also responsible for a wide range of measures for a larger target group and may have more measures available to them, even for cases in which family group conferencing is used.

When it comes to distribution of responsibilities between private and public spheres, Marsh and Crow (1998) conclude the action plans they studied should reassure people who are worried that family group conferencing could tempt families to fix things themselves and leave the public agencies out of it. On the other hand, the researchers also said the action plans indicate tell us family group conferencing will replace professional assistance or take the public off the hook, as some might hope.

What kind of help?

Relief for parents and finding ways to support parents and/or children seems to be the most common kind of help after looking at all the studies (the Norwegian study does not go into detail about what kind of help is involved). Sundell og Hæggmann (1999) report that only seven of the

71 action plans did not involve such efforts, and the most common type of help offered by public agencies and family members involved various kinds of supportive conversations and counselling. Marsh and Crow (1998) reported similar findings, but they found even more practical help combined with support and follow-up from family members like car rides, helping fix the family's economy, repairs to houses or taking care of the child/children for shorter or longer periods.

Following support and relief, the most common issues in the Swedish study were helping a child with schooling and treating or monitoring drug abuse.

Sundell and Hæggmann (1999) indicate the obvious correlation between the kind of help provided and what questions the conference addresses, but they noted that during the meeting a family would often reformulate and often expand on the assignment in ways they thought were more appropriate or suitable to their situation. They often discovered a relatively poor correlation between the content of an action plan and the questions addressed at the conference (p. 91). They also found that the content and level of specificity varied considerably among the 71 action plans. A lack of specificity is reported in several studies (Figenschow, 2006; Havnen, 2006; Mortensen, 2007; Morthorst Rasmussen & Haldbo Hansen, 2002).

Satisfaction with the plans

What do the participants of a family group conference think about the plans they arrive at? We find this question in several reports and evaluation studies. They all determined that a majority of parents, children, other family members and child welfare workers were satisfied or very satisfied with the action plan the conference arrived at.

Sundell and Hæggmann (1999) asked all the family members to fill out a questionnaire at the end of the conference. 460 (65 %) responded, and 85 % of them were happy with the plan the conference arrived at.

Hansen and Hansen (2003) did the follow-up and reported on the Danish FGC sampling (Morthorst Rasmussen & Haldbo Hansen, 2002), collecting data from questionnaires and interviews on 65 conferences conducted in 2001-2002. In the questionnaire survey, 76 % of the parents said they thought their children got a better action plan using FGC than they otherwise would have gotten. 72 % of other family members felt the conference arrived at a satisfactory or very satisfactory solution to the problems. 81 % of the case workers answered Yes as to whether the action plan provided better help, overall.

After reviewing the English pilot projects, Marsh and Crow (1998) came to similar figures: 80 % of 109 family members were positive to the plan the conference arrived at. Havnen (2006) found somewhat less satisfaction among the 79 parents interviewed in the Norwegian evaluation study, which might have something to do with the interviews being conducted a few weeks after the conferences were held. It was during these weeks some of the parents felt some family members had not done what they promised, or that the child welfare services had reduced the help originally laid out in the plan. When the parents were asked to be honest and tell us if they believed the action plan would actually be carried out, 62 % said Yes, 29 % said Maybe some of the measures, while 9 % said No.

Two things social workers (Hansen & Hansen, 2003; Hyrve, 2006; Marsh & Crow, 1998) and parents (Havnen, 2006) found particularly positive about the action plans are the creativity it triggers and the willingness expressed by the family network to help.

Social workers and child welfare employees who said they were less satisfied with the action plan usually associated this with their uncertainty of whether the family had taken the situation seriously enough, and whether the solutions would be adequate if the parents were not dedicated enough (Hyrve, 2006; Marsh & Crow, 1998). The findings may indicate how child welfare employees were committed to the principles of family group conferencing and that they would accept a family's action plan even when they felt the plan was not robust enough.

The action plan from a child perspective

The Norwegian part (Omre & Schjelderup, 2009) and the Danish part (Mortensen, 2007) of the Nordic Research Report on FGC from a child's perspective asked children to answer some questions about action plans. A total of 18 children in both countries were generally satisfied with their plans. They also had faith in the plan working. This was their opinion despite the fact their participation in formulating the plan was quite limited. Mortensen (2007) found more children thought deciding to get help through a family conference was a positive one, that the participants were witnesses to an agreement that would help children and adults keep their promises.

After interviewing 20 adolescents (12-21 years), Horverak (2006) discovered that young people were less concerned with the action plan itself than other more processual and relational aspects of the conference. Several of them said they thought the plan was something the adults prepared and they had very little say in the content. Horverak argued that FGC had some important ceremonial aspects for many of the older children (see chapter 7.2). In this context, concluding a family group conference by having everyone - including the young people themselves - sign the action plan makes it an important ceremonial act.

Carrying out the plan

Even if the plan is acceptable for all parties and it is approved by the authorities, and is an essential element of a conference, the plan has little value if no attempt is made to follow through and implement it in real life. Whether or not and to what extent a plan is implemented is therefore a relevant goal (Anderson & Whalen, 2005; Hudson, 1996).

Whether an action plan is implemented or not can be assessed in two ways, according to Marsh and Crow (1998). The first way is to determine if the individual actions in the plan have been carried out. The second way is to consider whether the primary intention of the plan was realized. They believe the second form of evaluating a plan is best because it takes into account whether changes occur in a family in the course of a few months or not, which would allow one to determine whether the help outlined in the plan should be altered with similar help that could be just as effective, or better.

They also said that if one wishes to compare action plan implementation with implementation of ordinary intervention plans, it would be beneficial to have this kind of information available in enough detail.

In the British study (Marsh & Crow, 1998), the conclusion after six months was that the primary intention of the plan had been realized to a high degree in 75 % of the 78 plans they knew about. This was not however a greater degree of realization than what they found in traditional case work.

In the studies that collected follow-up data and asked participants for their opinion about the plan some time later, we would expect to hear that satisfaction had decreased some compared to what was said just after the conference was completed. A one-year follow-up was done on FGC implementation in Utah, USA (Walton, Roby, Frandsen, & Davidson, 2004). The researchers interviewed case workers and family members who had participated in 21 conferences. 79 % of family members said the action plan was in the child's best interest, and all the case workers with the exception of two believed FGC proved to be suitable in cases that involved abuse and neglect. The general support voiced by case workers was maintained despite the fact that 43 % of case workers felt the family had not stuck to the plan well enough.

A Canadian study found similar tendencies. Pennell and Burford (2000) interviewed 100 family members whose conferences had ended approximately one year earlier. Based on their information, only one fifth of the respondents believed the action plan had been implemented 100 %. Most of them, approximately two-thirds, felt the plan was partially completed, the other nine people felt the plan was not carried out at all. When they came to the question of the benefits of conferencing there was no difference between those who thought the plan had been completed and those who felt the plan was partially completed. Two-thirds of all these respondents felt the family was doing better after participating in family group conferencing.

Failure to implement an action plan is the one characteristic most people mention when discussing the weaknesses of family group conferencing models. In an American study by Pennell (2005) which looked at implementation in particular, Pennel gave the participants a form to fill out to verify whether FGC was practiced in accordance with the basic objectives and main aspects of the model. The form consisted of 25 assertions. It was given to 150 participants from 30 conferences (mostly family members). The survey indicated how participants felt their experience was different than prescribed practice when the action plan was being implemented.

Telephone interviews were conducted with parents in the follow-up to the Swedish study (Sundell & Hæggmann, 1999) about 18 months after their conferences. 36 parents participated, which was half of the original sample. 44 % of these were certain the extended family had not followed through on the plan. Just as many (44 %) felt the social services (child welfare services) failed miserable in following through with the plan.

The Norwegian evaluation study also interviewed the parents by phone at a later time (Havnen, 2006). The interviews occurred about one year after the conferences and involved 39 parents. Follow-up and implementation of action plans was the main topic of the interviews. When asked a general question about how well follow-up had gone, half of those interviewed said it had been good on both sides of the fence, family network (59 %) and child welfare services (51 %). Several parents felt however that the child welfare services had done a poor job on follow up (23 %), compared to how well the family had done (10 %). The others perceived follow-up as being neither good nor bad.

In this study the researchers also did a separate evaluation of how the plans were carried out. Data from 47 action plans was used to look at content and implementation of plans after one year had passed (Havnen, 2006). Similar to Marsh and Crow (1998) (see above), this study differentiated between essential and less essential measures. The cases were also divided by case type (see pp. 138-139). 47 % of those surveyed felt the plans had been completed, 36 % felt they were completed to some degree and 17 % only to a minor degree. Cases that addressed

the family's different needs for support and cases in which the main question was where a child should live had the greatest degree of completion, while cases characterized by behavioral difficulties of young people and conflicts between parents had lower completion.

Berzin et al. (2008) reports on an American conferencing project in California (see the discussion in chapter 5 as well), concluding that «once conference plans were finalized, family members had difficulty completing schedule tasks and maintaining momentum around these activities». This is based on what 46 case workers and 14 caregivers said six to twelve months after their conferences ended. One interesting nuance in this study is that case workers thought the most important measures for helping a family were completed, more so than the measures that were less important. We should also mention that there was no follow-up phase in this project after the conferences ended.

We learn from Barnsdale and Walker (2007) that someone in Kent attempted to initiate an implementation model to address a general belief that implementation of action plans is a general weakness of the family group conferencing models. His model involved creating a core group of participants after a conference had ended who would follow up on plan implementation. The group would be led by someone from the extended family. We were unable to find any information on experiences from this attempt.

As we pointed out elsewhere in this report, most evaluations of pilot projects are done just after conferencing was introduced in the different countries.

In the Norwegian evaluation project (Havnen, 2006) reference is made to case workers who felt if they had had a little more experience they could have improved various aspects and phases of FGC practice and its roles such as formulating an assignment. The case workers felt this would have improved implementation and completion of most of their plans. A few of the studies referred to provided information about whether follow-up conferences were carried out or not. A subsequent conference is now common practice in the Norwegian context (http://www.bufetat. no/barnevern/familieraad/hvordan/), based on the assumption that such meetings can increase the likelihood that the parties will keep their promises and comply with their obligation toward the child. The significance of follow-up conferences on the outcome of a case is an issue that deserves further research.

Summarizing the assignment and action plans

Formulating the assignment

- Little knowledge exists about assignments and what kinds of problems are presented at family group conferences.
- The assignments should be clearly stated, but not so specific that they hinder the family's creativity.
- In formulating the assignment, the child welfare services should be conscious of how they transfer power to the family.

Preparing and approving the action plan

• In 9 out of 10 cases the action plan was approved by the child welfare services This proportion includes plans that were altered somewhat after the conference ended.

• A conference is beneficial even when a family is unable to cooperate and develop an action plan on its own; the conference improves communication among family members.

Content and follow-up of action plans

- The majority of action plans include both intended actions/effort by extended family and by the child welfare services or other government agencies.
- It does seem that FGC eliminates a need for public aid or support, but it does seem to supplement these measures substantially with efforts from the family and the family's network.
- Relief measures, practical help, support and counselling are the most common measures
 provided by family members.
- Family members are generally satisfied with their action plans.
- The children and young people also seem to be satisfied with the action plans, but they are
 less concerned about the plan itself and more concerned about the relational and processual
 aspects of the conference.
- Satisfaction over time wanes, due to a lack of implementation and completion of plan the content. This applies just as often to the public services as private operators.
- Failure to implement an action plan did not reduce did the positive opinion family members had about family group conferencing.

7. Participant experiences from family group conferencing

In this chapter we summarize what parties involved in family group conferencing report about the experiences. We divided the chapter into different participant groups but we thought it best to present the experiences of coordinators in a separate chapter (chapter 8), due to the very special role coordinators play in conferencing. Our presentation is based on reported interviews and surveys and from questionnaires usually filled out by participants after their conferences ended. The researchers also observed the family group conferences in some studies. In addition to informing us about participant experience, both studies and our own presentation elaborate on the roles of each participant, often based on viewpoints from other participant groups.

7.1. Experiences of parents and extended family members

In the introduction to one of the most recent articles published on the experience of parents from family group conferencing (Darlington, Healy, Yellowlees, & Bosly, 2012) we read: "While there has been limited research on FGC (Family Group Conference) outcomes, there has been considerable research on conference processes and participant experiences. Studies suggest that parents and family members are generally satisfied with their FGC experiences" (p. 332).

Similar summaries are found in a number of articles that outline family group conferencing (for example, see Barnsdale & Walker, 2007; Crampton, 2007; Frost, Abram, & Burgess, 2013b; Huntsman, 2006; Merkel-Holguín, 2003). In our review we try to show how the researchers arrived at their findings and we will show indicate what family group conferencing factors the various studies focused on. We will put most of our effort into presenting the Nordic studies. The Nordic studies convey experiences from our own context and professional policies and are rarely included in international articles that look at FGC from a general perspective because so little

from our part of the world has been published in English. Even though it has become consistently clear that parents and adult family members who have negative experiences are the minority, we will also take a look at these. That will allow us to provide a comprehensive view of the field and because less positive experiences may point to possible pitfalls and potential areas for improvement in FGC practice.

The subchapter focuses on what parents and other adult family members felt about interacting with professionals (especially with the child welfare services) before, during and after their conferences. This also involves their own experiences of participation and whether they felt they had an influence on the conference. This issue also involves how participants felt about interaction and communication with other family members and with the coordinator. The chapter will conclude with a look at experiences overall, the nuances of experiences and viewpoints about conferencing in general, e.g. different types of meetings and contact.

When the studies convey the experiences and viewpoints of family members who participated in conferencing, the study usually lets us know whether the respondents are parents, children and/or extended family members. Not all the studies however elucidate on this factor. While the Norwegian evaluation study only used asked parents to respond (for the private participants) the studies conducted in Sweden and Denmark also chart experiences and viewpoints of extended family members. In most cases the parents and other adult family members are fairly attuned, so we will point out any occurrences we encounter in a report when this is not the case. The experiences and viewpoints of children are presented in the next subchapter.

Studies that report the experiences of parents and family members have either used surveys/ questionnaires or interviews, or a combination of these methods. The table below shows an outline of the research design for the studies as they are referred to in this subchapter.

Table 2. Overview of studies referred to in this chapter about how parents and the extended family experienced FGC.

Reference	Where/when	Model	Selection and method
Sundell and Hæggmann (1999)	Sweden, 1996-1998	FGC	Family group conferencing with 74 families Questionnaire filled out by 460 persons from the family/extended family (approx. 65 % of those who had been present). Interview with 36 parents
Havnen (2006)	Norway, 2004- 2006	FGC	Telephone interview with parents at two points in time. T1: 79; T2 (one year later): 39
Hansen & Hansen (2003)	Denmark, 2000-2002	FGC	Family group conference with 65 families. Questionnaires from 58 parents. Unknown number interviews
Morthorst Rasmussen & Hansen, 2002	Denmark, 2000-2001	FGC	Family group conference with 40 families. Questionnaire filled out by 29 parents. Interview with the parents of 8 families
Walton, E., & Roby, J. (2003) Walton, E., Roby, J., Frandsen, A., & Davidson, R. (2004)	Utah, USA, uncertain, probably 1999-2001	FGC (FGC) implemented with variations	Family group conferencing with 21 families Interviews with one parent and one in the extended family at two points in time. T1: 37; T2 (one year later): 24
Litchfield, M. M., Gatowski, S. I., & Dobbin, S. A. (2003)	Miami, USA 1999-2000	FDMC (Family Decision Making Conferences)	Questionnaires from 53 parents and 81 members of the extended family
Pennell and Burford (2000)	Canada, mid-1990s	Family Group Decision Making (FGDM),	32 conferences Interviews with 115 adults from the immediate or extended family about one year after the FGDM.
Velen, M., & Devine, L. (2005)	Arizona, USA, 2001-2003	FGDM "KIN-nections"	61 conferences Questionnaires from 380 family members (child excluded)
Titcomb, A., & LeCroy, C. (2003)	Arizona, USA, 2001-2002	FGDM	Questionnaires to participants of the conference, answered by 672 family members. Interviews with a small selection family members
Sheets, J., Wittenstrom, K., Fong, R., James, J., Tecci, M., Baumann, D. J., & Rodriguez, C. (2009)	Texas, USA, 2003-2005	FGDM	Questionnaires to participants in 200 conferences: 303 parents and 636 family members And to a comparison group: participants in 194 Permanency Planning Team (standard practice): 121 parents and 50 family members
Quinnett, E., Harrison, R. S., & Jones, L. (2003)	San Diego, USA	Family Unity Meeting	28 FUM meetings 39 parents interviewed before and after meeting
Darlington, Y., Healy, K., Yellowlees, J., & Bosly, F. (2012)	Queensland, Australia, 2005-2010	Family Group Meetings (FGM)*	Interviews with 10 parents as soon as possible after conferences.

^{*}No children participated (they were younger than 8), few members of extended family and they seldom used family's own meeting

Preparing a family group conference

With the exception of the Scandinavian evaluations, the studies and reports seldom refer to the experiences of private participants from the preparatory phase. If we look at FGC literature as a whole, it is quite common to stress the significance of the preparatory phase for how a meeting is experienced by participants (Crampton, 2007; Frost et al., 2013a; Marsh & Crow, 1998).

Eight of ten family members in the Swedish study (Sundell & Hæggmann, 1999) and nine of ten parents in the Danish study (Morthorst Rasmussen & Haldbo Hansen, 2002) said they had been given enough information about what they were getting involved in when they agreed to

participate in family group conferencing. In both of these studies about eight of ten respondents said they did not feel pressured into participating in family group conferencing. In the Norwegian study the question was phrased somewhat differently. That is, what did the parents think when FGC was recommended (Havnen, 2006). 70 % said they were positive, 22 % were skeptical and 8 % were negative. Of particular significance to whether parents were positive, skeptical or negative was how they felt about involving relatives in their family problems. In the Danish study 41 % of the parents had second thoughts about participating in conferencing.

Walton and her colleagues (2004) all registered positive experiences among family members. She pointed out that 29 % of them would have liked to be better prepared. Researchers point out how many people are unaccustomed to the basic idea of the FGC model (involving the extended family in a family's own problems and asking them for help to find solutions) among (Caucasian) Americans in a culture characterized by individualism. Morris and Connolly (2012) point out similar challenges in societies where the nuclear family is the core unit of social structure.

The idea of using FGC to help a family solve its problems usually came from the child welfare services or another authority. Coincidently, one aspect of the model dedicates time preparing an assignment/questions together with the family, which in practical terms usually involves the parents. 67 % of the parents in the Danish pilot project said they participated in formulating the questions (Hansen & Hansen, 2003). One-third did not do so. In any event, 81 % said the questions the conference would address were the right ones. In the Norwegian evaluation, the parents were asked if they agreed with the child welfare services about what problems needed addressing. 79 % answered Yes to this (Havnen, 2006).

The FGC meeting itself

Information from public aid services

Another aspect often stressed in studies is the way information is presented by the child welfare services and other services at the first part of the conference. For example, aid services stress how important it is for participants to understand the content of the FGC before the meeting, and that information should be presented in an understandable and non-judgmental language. Only a few studies asked the parents or other participants about this aspect of FGC. Havnen (2006) however found that two-thirds of the parents in the Norwegian evaluation felt «it was okay» to hear a representative from a public agency describe their case. The others said «it was okay but difficult» or «it was just difficult».

In a study from Miami, USA, Litchfield and co-authors (Litchfield, Gatowski, & Dobbin, 2003) found that almost all parents (95 %) and almost all the other family members (97 %) felt FGC as a whole contributed to a better understanding of the social workers' concerns. They also felt social workers understood their situation better after the conference ended.

Interaction among family members

Pennell and Burford (2000) interviewed 115 nuclear and extended family members who participated in conferencing about one year earlier. The most obvious aspect of conferencing these participants pointed out was the unity re-established between family members. When things improved at home for child and family in the course of a year, the participants consistently mention «family bonding» as the specific reason for this improvement.

Researches who evaluated family group conferencing in Utah, USA (Walton et al., 2004) reported that conferencing improved relationships and communication among the extended family as well. Nine out of ten family members who participated in conferencing said the other family members were willing to listen to what they had to say after participating. Despite the fact that private family meetings were only practiced in 4 of 21 conferences studied, almost half of all family members said the conference helped them overcome adverse ways of interacting, and just as many thought they would probably conduct their own meetings at home in the future.

The Danish and Swedish studies also indicate how most conferences were characterized by positive communication between family members. Sundell and Hæggmann (1999) found that seven out of ten parents and other family members felt their opinions were respected and their effort at the conference recognized by the other family members.

These topics were further illustrated in the first part of the Danish evaluation (Morthorst Rasmussen & Haldbo Hansen, 2002).

Nine out of ten parents characterized the mood of private family meetings at their conferences as good, and half of them felt closer to extended family members after the conference. 86 % of parents said getting help from their family seemed easier after the conference ended. Family unity and expecting more support were common feelings among extended family members when they were asked this question.

39 parents were interviewed one year after conferencing in the Norwegian evaluation study (Havnen, 2006). About half of them said the conference led to better contact with the family members who had been present at the meetings. Only one of the parents was emphatic that contact got worse.

Empowerment through participation and influence

Some basic goals of family group conferencing are to reduce the power imbalance between family and child welfare authorities, to appreciate and value knowledge and resources within a family and to help parents and children feel that with some help and support from their own network they will be able to change their situation (see Lupton & Nixon, 1999).

To investigate whether these goals were achieved, parents and family members in many of the evaluations were asked if they felt their opinions were being heard during the meetings, whether the meetings were characterized by the family's own ideas more than the opinions of professionals, and whether they felt they had any influence on the outcome of the conference, i.e. the action plan. We see these topics in particular in the American evaluations from the end of the 1990s and early 2000s. For example, 98 % of parents and family members in a study from Miami (Litchfield et al., 2003) said they thought they played an important role in preparing the plan and almost the same number of people (89 %) felt they were an important part of the solution to the family's problems.

The Velen and Devine study (2005) from Arizona asked 655 participants for their opinion on the following assertions: «I felt that this was my family's meeting»; «I had something I needed to say about the plan being drawn up», and «The plan we developed addresses my concerns about the child». 95-97 % of participants confirmed these assertions.

In a previous evaluation study from the same state, family members (n=670) and case workers/coordinator (n=232) were asked to respond to this question: Who do you think had

the greatest influence on the plan which was drawn up? (Titcomb & LeCroy, 2003). Among both respondent groups the majority felt the family had greatest influence (56 and 62 percent, respectively). Only 4 % of family members and 3 % of professionals thought professionals had more influence, while the rest felt both parties had an equal influence.

Walton and colleagues (2004) used the term Empowerment in the evaluation; they say a majority of the family members (59 %) «felt empowered» (p. 11); e.g. because their opinions were heard and the conference provided tools to solve problems or fortifying family bonds.

The Danish evaluation also uses the term Empowerment (dimension of power, maktdimensjonen). Hansen and Hansen (2003) found that the majority of parents felt less antipathy toward the authorities. Experiencing psychological support from one's network seemed to be the main reason for this. 70 % of the parents felt they had more opportunities for getting the help they assumed they needed, and 42 % thought their position in relation to the child welfare authorities/social services had improved.

Parent interaction with the child welfare services, short and long term

The positive experiences of parents and other family members we read about is to some extent contrasted by the negative experiences of some users when interacting with the child welfare services. In a study from Texas, Sheets and co-authors (2009) compared the conferencing experiences with experiences from traditional practices. Both groups involved children in out-of-home placement where a more long-term care plan was desirable. The traditional practices involved Permanency Planning Meetings (PPM), usually held 45 days or so after placement. 303 parents and 636 family members who participated in 300 conferences responded to a questionnaire, as did the corresponding 121 parents and 50 family members from 194 PPM meetings. Parents and family members who participated in conferences were much more satisfied than those who participated in regular PPM meetings. They responded after being explained the purpose of the meeting and what was expected of them, participating actively and influencing in the meeting, and in relation to whether they felt the plan prepared for them addressed what they thought was important for the family and the child.

Another American study however found no significant correlation between participating in conferencing and having more positive experiences when interacting with the child welfare services (McCrae & Fusco, 2010). However, this study was based on a different kind of data than the study by Sheets et al., namely, on data from the National Survey of Child and Adolescent Well-Being (NSCAW) that involved children who were examined for abuse and/or neglect. The parents and caregivers of more than 4000 children were interviewed about their experiences with the child welfare services; if they felt the coordinators listened to them and treated them fairly and respectfully, how well the coordinator understood their situation and informed them about the child welfare services, and if they thought they their contact with the coordinator was adequate, were involved in decision making processes and had sufficient time to make changes.

Ten percent of these parents had participated in Family Group Decision Making (FGDM). Their experience of family group conferencing was not necessarily the same as we know it from Norway, but they were active in different variants of the model (see chapter 4). When their responses were compared with responses from the others, there was no difference in favor of FGDM, with the exception of the question of whether they felt they had enough time to make

changes. The authors emphasized that this is not a direct evaluation of FGC/FGDM, but it does show that participating in this type of meeting is not enough in itself to overcome obstacles inherent in interaction between parents and child welfare services on a general basis over time.

The Nordic evaluations did not study interaction and contact with the child welfare services in the same way as the studies referred to by comparing FGC/FGDM with other/traditional case work procedure. In the Norwegian study, case workers were asked questions about their relationship to the parents in cases where FGC was used and in the comparison cases (Falck & Clausen, 2006). Case workers from both groups described the relationship as good immediately after the conferences ended, and one year later.

The coordinator is important to family members

One characteristic we see again and again when parents and other family members are asked about their experience is the importance and significance of the coordinator. Sundell and Hæggmann (1999) indicated that there is one question family members seemed to agree on, regardless of whether they had a positive or negative experience with FGC. That is, whether the coordinator had acted as an impartial party. Morthorst Rasmussen (2002) says coordinators are very important for parents and that 93 % of them were very pleased with their coordinator. Similar conclusions can be found in a number of other studies (for example, see Darlington et al., 2012; Marsh & Crow, 1998). We will take a closer look at the coordinator's role in chapter 8.

Nuances in the positive experiences of parents

Despite the fact that the majority of parents and adult family members expressed positive experiences with FGC, it is also important to acknowledge the more subtle or purely negative experiences voiced by a minority of participants. In the first report from the Danish evaluation study, Mortholt Rasmussen (2002) pointed out that 25 % of the family members felt pressured to participate in FGC, 29 % of parents felt they had not really participated in formulating the questions for the conference and that 28 % of the parents said they thought people who could play an important role in resolving problems did not participate in the conference.

The most recent study of parent experiences we could find presented findings from the State of Queensland in Australia (Darlington et al., 2012; Healy, Darlington, & Yellowlees, 2012). The study includes observations from 11 meetings and the interviews with 10 parents. As the researchers write, the study shows more differentiated experiences than the ones we usually find in research literature. It is important to note that these meetings were not family group conferences in their original form; they are so-called Family Group Meetings (FGM). FGM is mandatory in Queensland in cases where a child is at risk of neglect or abuse. In the cases included in this study the children were 0-8 years old and none of them participated in meetings. There were also a limited number of family members present, and only one meeting had private family time without professional supervision. Healy and colleagues (2012) reported several conditions from their observations that seemed to limit family participation and influence. They referred to a lack of preparation by parents and family members and big differences when it came to how the goals of the meeting and the participants' roles were explained. Moreover, there were big differences when it came to how participants were presented and introduced to one another at the start of the meeting. In most meetings the professionals had a dominating role.

The interviewers also asked the parents to give a score on four themes: «The coordinator treated me with respect»; «The professional listened to my opinions about what was best for my family»; «My opinion was taken into account when the plan was drawn up»; and «Decisions that were made at the meeting were the right ones for my child». All in all, three out of the ten parents had predominantly positive experiences, four had mixed positive and negative experiences, and three had predominantly negative experiences. As we suggested earlier, respect shown by the coordinator made the difference. Most of the parents also felt respected by their case worker. Respect is expressed in straightforward and direct communication without judgmental attitudes, and language should not be characterized by professional jargon. The lowest scores and most negative experiences had to do with being listened to and having a say in decision making. A number of the parents felt the questions were decided in advance and that their viewpoints were not of much interest to the professionals.

Even though it is important to recognize the meeting type studied here is different from FGC in many ways, the more complex or direct negative findings in this study support important viewpoints about FGC, which the researchers also pointed out. For example, professionals and participants were well prepared and had understood what was distinct about the model, most of the participants were family members or part of a family's network and that the family could meeting privately during the conference.

How parents perceive FGC – as a whole

Despite these nuances, our review of the literature (like the reviews of many others) indicates that a majority of parents across all studies had positive experiences and opinions about FGC. Sundell and Hæggmann (1999) reported that two-thirds of all the 460 family members (including parents) in the Swedish evaluation study had purely positive experiences, and just six percent had purely negative experiences. The participants were also consistent in how they experienced the different aspects of FGC. As mentioned before, the only thing that was clear is that almost everybody, regardless of their experience, thought their coordinator had been impartial.

In many studies the parents and other family members were asked if they believed FGC was a suitable approach to help them in their situation. 79 % of the parents in the Norwegian evaluation study confirmed this one year after the family group conferences had ended (Havnen, 2006). Correspondingly, 76 % of the Danish evaluation (Morthorst Rasmussen & Haldbo Hansen, 2002) and 99 % of the Miami evaluation (Litchfield et al., 2003) said FGC was a good way to find solutions.

The parents in the Norwegian evaluation were asked immediately after and one year later if they would recommend conferencing to others. Their response was mostly positive, and even more positive after one year (92 % sail Yes, absolutely) than right afterward (84 % Yes, absolutely). In the Swedish study, 72 % of those who were asked one year after the conference if they could imagine participating in a new conference.

Some studies summarize pointed out what parents and other adult family members thought were the most important aspects of FGC. For example, Litchfield and colleagues (2003) carried out a logistical regression analysis on evaluation data from 134 parents and family members and identified the following factors as significant for a positive outcome of FGC: experiencing group unity during the conference, the opportunity to express one's opinion and participating in solving

problems. Quinett and colleagues (2003) found that parents (n = 39) especially appreciated the ability to bring the family together, a form of communication characterized by openness and willingness to listen, the family's contribution when it came to drawing up the action plan, defining specific goals and the experience of social support as a direct result of this kind of meeting.

We will end this chapter by taking another look at the Norwegian evaluation study. At the end of the interviews the parents were asked to explain what they thought were the most positive aspects of FGC, and also what drawbacks they saw in the model (Havnen, 2006).

Many parents did not see any particular drawbacks, but those that were mentioned are included here:

- FGC is a suitable forum for talking about important issues, if the meeting has been prepared well in advance and if everyone understands the purpose of the conference and their roles.
- FGC helps keep the focus on the children. Coincidently, there are some cases in which the child's participation was unfortunate.
- FGC involves strengthening the family's network and improving contact with the father and
 the father's family. Getting an opportunity to improve understanding and gain the respect of
 important persons in the network was also important, which FGC seemed to provide. Some
 pointed out another drawback, that the conference could worsen a conflict between family
 members and create an uncomfortable situation at home by bringing the family's problems
 out in the open.
- FGC triggers commitment, support and help from the family; they thought it was easier to get help from family than from the child welfare services. The negative aspect came from feeling pressured to participate and accepting tasks unwillingly. Or that the tasks in the action plan were not followed up on or not being done.
- The process needs to be managed by skilled professionals responsible for preparation and implementation. Some people who had an adverse relationship to the child welfare services did not like putting the child welfare services in charge of the FGC process.

Summarizing the experiences of parents and other adult family members
When parents and other adult family members were asked about their experiences and viewpoints about FGC, the majority reported positive experiences. This seems to be true regardless of geography, and essentially regardless of which FGC model one uses. The family group conferencing contributed to:

- Improve the relationships and communication between family members that resulted in more family unity.
- More influence in making decisions, feeling more empowered and being treated with respect.
- More opportunity for individuals and family members to contribute and solve problems.

However, research is still lacking that could confirm whether such consequences of FGC will persist over time. To the extent negative experiences were reported, these were generally linked to:

- Reluctance in involving other family members in one's problems.
- Lack of preparation and information about what FGC involves.
- A lack of follow-up on action plans.

7.2 Child participation and experiences

Earlier literature on FGC dedicated little attention to child participation or the child's role in family group conferencing. The word «family» was consistently used as a unit, with the implied risk of ignoring various positions and interests within a family, i.e. child or parent, such as was pointed out by Lupton & Nixon (1999).

Simultaneous with FGC implementation in the Nordic countries interest was growing within child welfare professions and research to consider the child's position and an increased understanding that children could participate with own opinions and own ideas in their case to a greater or lesser extent (Sandbæk, 2002). Sundell and Hæggmann (1999) introduced child perspective as the fifth cornerstone of the family group conferencing model (see chapter 2), and later we saw how the Nordic researchers in general and Norwegian researchers in particular studied child participation and child experience in family group conferencing.

In this subchapter we present studies that look at professional practices in terms of child participation; How common is it for children to participate, and what factors have an impact on whether participation takes place or not? We will also present factors that influence the experience of participating in a conference and what children think are the most beneficial aspects of family group conferencing. We will also look at how other themes like whether children should always participate or not, and the role of a child's support person should have in the process.

Studies on child participation are mainly based on interviews with children and young people to some extent supplemented with observations from conferences. That means findings are based on limited samples, but they were also able to identify nuances of experiences and particular points of view. One Nordic project included and compiled separate studies from all the Nordic countries (see Heino, 2009) into one was a vital contribution to our review. In addition to that, we should mention that in Norway two doctorates have been submitted on the participation of children and young people in family group conferencing (Horverak, 2006; Strandbu, 2007).

When referring to child viewpoints and experiences in this subchapter we are mainly basing our comments on these studies:

Table 3. Overview of studies referred to in this chapter about how children participate in and experience FGC.

Reference	Where and when	Selection and method *	Age
Lupton, C., & Nixon, P. (1999)	England	Interviews with 19 adolescents	
Dalrymple, J. (2002)	England, 1998-1999	Interviews with 10 children	6–13 years
Bell, M., & Wilson, K. (2006)	England, 1st half of 2000s	Starting Point: 20 conferences Questionnaire: 15 children Interview: 9	6– 16 years
Holland, S., & O'Neill, S. (2006)	Wales,	Interview with 25 children, one month after FGC and with 13 of them 6 months later, included filling in an SDQ	6– 18 years
Horverak, S. (2006)	Norway and Denmark -2005	Interviews with 20 adolescents, 9 from Denmark, 11 from Norway. 18 had participated in FGC.	12 – 21 years
Strandbu, A. (2007; 2008)	Norway 2002-2005	Starting Point: 7 conferences. Interviews with children at two times: approx. two weeks and 6-12 months after FGC/FR. Field work / observations associate with family group conferences. Interviews with 6 support persons.	8– 16 years
Mortensen, B. (2007)**	Denmark, 2004-2006	Interviews with 10 children at 4 different points in time Observations from FGC, including the private meeting in 5 FGCs and 1 follow-up FGC.	11 – 16 years
Heino, T. (2009)**	Finland, mainly in 2005	Starting Point: 4 conferences, 7 children. Observation in FGC, including the private meeting in 3 FGCs and 3 follow-up FGCs.	7– 17 years
Omre, C., & Schjelderup, L. E. (2009)**	Norway	Starting Point: 7 conferences. Interview with 11 children at 4 different times. Observations, including private meeting in all FGCs, also follow-up, total 13 FGC/FR.	7– 15 years

^{*} In addition to the methods mentioned here, various studies also involve interviews with other involved parties like parents, case workers and coordinators. Case documents were also reviewed on some of these studies.

How common is it for a child to participate in a conference?

It seems practice differs greatly around the world with respect to whether children participate in family group conferences or not. This was the conclusion of Nixon and colleagues after their survey (Nixon et al., 2005); see chapter 4 of our review. The majority of respondents from their survey were from the United States, so the frequency of child participation in their report is not representative for Norwegian conditions. The majority of respondents reported practices that limited child participation. Restrictions primarily involved the age of the child and ability to understand complex issues, and/or understand the questions or situations the conference dealt with. Nixon and colleagues found that formal guidelines rarely existed to determine whether a child should participate or not. It was primarily the topic of assessment by those organizing the conference, to some extent also by parents and to a lesser extent by the child him/herself.

In their report from four FGC pilot projects in England and Wales in the mid-1990s, Marsh & Crow (1998) looked at child participation in 80 conferences involving 99 children. When they compared data with the studies from «ordinary» meetings organized by child welfare services (such as child protection conferences), there were more children participating in FGCs than in ordinary meetings. All children 10 years old or older were invited to participate. Four did not want to participate.

Norwegian data on how often children participate in FGCs is very limited. In the national FGC evaluation (Falck, 2006) we read that 73 % of the 120 children who were the subject of a family group conference were present at all or part of the conference, 64 % of children younger

^{**}These studies are a part of the Nordic project Family Group Conferencing from a Child's Perspective, summarized by Heino (2009). Most of the cases used in these studies involve four interviews with each child: (1) just prior to the FGC, (2) one month after, (3) after six months or within one month after the follow-up, (4) one year later.

than 10, and 82 % of children older than 10 (Havnen, 2006). Children five years old or younger were present just as often as 5-9 year olds. Based on information provided by parents, many children below the age of 10 participated in parts of the meeting, which was not true of the older children and adolescents.

The study by Sundell and Hæggmann (1999) found similar numbers for participants for 111 children in 74 conferences, as in the Norwegian study. Participation however was higher for children 10 years or older (90 %), while somewhat less (40 %) for those who were younger. The Danish evaluation study from the end of the 1990s (Morthorst Rasmussen & Haldbo Hansen, 2002) show numbers that were nearly equivalent with the Swedish study. There are no comparable figures for standard practices of child welfare services in Norway, Sweden and Denmark for the same period. But based on the general lack of involvement of children in child welfare cases such as Sandbæk (2002) reported for the same period, one can assume FGC in the Nordic region and in England (Marsh and Crow, 1999) increased child participation in such cases.

Should the child always participate?

More professionals are recognizing the importance of the child's perspective and the possibility of being an active part in his or her own case, which implies children should participate more - perhaps even always - in their conferences. In the first FGC evaluation studies by Marsh and Crow (1998) we read how virtually all coordinators and social workers thought children and young people should be given the opportunity to participate. There were however some differences among their views. Social workers felt that there were certain situations in which the children should not participate due to conflicts in the family or the risk that they might feel rejected. The coordinators however felt that in such situations it was their job to make certain the child would not suffer or be influenced negatively by what happened at a conference, and that it was their job

to keep all the participants focused on the child's situation and needs.

To summarize, we can say the researchers reached different conclusions about their studies. Ryburn and Atherton (1996) believe children should always be present at the conferences, while Omre and Schjelderup (2009) found no reasons to exclude children after reviewing the material from their research (interviews and observations). Other researchers took a more nuanced view on the situation (see Bell & Wilson, 2006; Dalrymple, 2002; Strandbu, 2007). Skivenes and Strandbu (2005) researched the theme of child participation based on data from family group conferencing and other sources. They thought we should redefine the concept of participant with more clear-cut content. They outlined four elements for a model that responds to child participation: 1) the child be given information and assistance in formulating an opinion, 2) the child be given the opportunity to express his or her own opinion, 4) the child's opinions are included in the basis for decision-making, and 5) the decision will be explained to the child, the child be given the opportunity to respond and will participate in the implementation of decisions (read more about child perspective in Strandbu, 2007; Strandbu, 2011). These elements can be related to various phases of FGC from preparation, implementation to follow-up. Strandbu (2007) felt that answering yes or no to the question of child participation must be reformulated

to a question about HOW children shall participate, and that participation can occur with and without their physical presence.

What conditions influence the child's opportunity to participate and positive experiences? The interviews of the children in the Nordic project indicate that most children were informed about and involved in preparing the conference (Heino, 2009). However, they had little or nothing to do with preparing the questions for the conference, but the Norwegian and Danish children told us they thought the questions were important and appropriate (Mortensen, 2007; Omre & Schjelderup, 2009). The children in the Norwegian substudy said they were asked who they wanted for their support person at the conference, while they had little influence on who would be invited to the conference (Omre and Schjelderup, 2009).

The summary of the Nordic project (Heino, 2009) points out the importance of the child being able to talk with the child welfare worker (whose task it was to present the case at the first part of the meeting) before the conference was to start. The child should be told what the child welfare workers were going to say, but also be allowed to provide input on the presentation and express his or her point of view about his own situation and what they wanted to happen. In other words, the coordinator is not the only professional to talk with the child in the preparatory phase.

Based on what the children and young people said and based on conference observations, several researchers highlighted the importance of having the adult participants in a conference acknowledge and understand the idea and objectives behind the conference. One important objective is to attend to the child's needs and remember that the child is the person who will benefit from the conference. Where the first part of the conference is concerned, several of the researches pointed out typical problems that occur because representatives from other services often failed to understand the specifics of the family group conferencing model to the same extent as the representatives of the child welfare services do. The way teachers and other professionals refer to a child is also important; their words should be realistic but not exclusively negative, they should highlight the child's/young person's strengths and they should express a belief that positive changes can happen, and they should convey how important the child is to them - that he is not only a burden (Heino, 2009; Holland & O'Neill, 2006; Horverak, 2006; Omre & Schjelderup, 2009).

It is also important for professionals to use a language the children can understand, and that they talk to the children and not about them (Horverak, 2006; Heino, 2009).

The preparation and understanding by the professional during the first part of the conference is important. But it is also important for family members to remember to stay focused on the child's needs and be aware of how they express themselves when conducting their private meetings. The child must not consider himself the only source of a problem or feel that he or she is only reason for concern (Heino, 2009; Holland & O'Neill, 2006). Holland and O'Neill said that many of the people in their sample had the opposite experience, which was very important and positive for them. Horverak summed up his interviews of 20 young people in the same way (2006), that the participants in the private meetings must be able to discuss a situation without offending the young person.

As previously suggested, one of the questions related to child participation is what affect an adult conflict at the private meeting can have on a child. All the reports and evaluations seem to

indicate that this conflict can occur in some or many of the conferences. Strandbu (2007) writes that conflicts between parents were part of the reason for setting up a family group conferences in five out of seven cases. Strandbu (2007), Horverak (2006) and Holland and O'Neill (2006) report on some conferences where a high level of conflict was characteristic of the child's/young person's negative experience, and how they felt marginalized at the meeting they were told was going to be about them (Holland & O'Neill, 2006, p. 109).

The Nordic project, which is one of the few in which researchers were observers at the private meeting, highlighted the importance of the atmosphere that characterized this phase. Omre and Schjelderup (2009) point out that the interviews with children and their own observations indicate children «were in an atmosphere of caring» (p. 155). Mostly based on their own observations, the researches saw how the conferences in all these cases had elements of reconciliation, forgiveness and greater understanding between family members. Similar findings were made by Finnish researches in their part of the project. It was common for those present - including the child - to experience tension between the individuals, but the atmosphere was primarily one of caring (Heino, 2009). Several researchers in the Nordic project were surprised at how the private network was able to balance internal conflicts within the family.

Holland and O'Neill (2006) found that some older children who participated in family group conferences learned their family was unable to attend to their needs, and that this expressed itself in a feeling of loneliness. It is important to note here that only a few of the 23 young people who were interviewed had their own designated support person. It was more common for young people to have the opposite experience. They experienced a togetherness in the family and network, which was one of the most positive experiences acquired from the conference (p. 102).

Schjelderup and Omre (2009) observed how the nine children (10-15 years old) hardly spoke themselves, which was true in all the phases of the conference. But there were plenty of adults who wanted to speak on behalf of child; at some of the conferences the adults seemed to compete for who would speak on a child's behalf. The fact that children often had little to say does not necessarily mean they found it difficult to speak for themselves, according to the children themselves, but observers felt the children's opinions were not sought to the extent the researchers expected.

The child's support person

It is standard practice in Norway to appoint a support person for the child, which is a fixed element of our family group conferencing model (Strandbu, 2008). Many have stressed the importance of this element to ensure that a child gets the opportunity to participate in the conference. Dalrymple (2002) and Holland & colleagues (2005) pointed out that the power balance between children and adults can be just as imbalanced within a family as it is in relationship between the child and the child welfare services or other authorities.

In the study Dalrymple (2002) bases his observations on, the children had the opportunity to choose between a support person they knew from before or an impartial support person who was trained to help children in difficult decision making processes. Children chose an impartial support person in 29 out of 35 conferences that involved children over four years of age. When these children were interviewed later, Dalrymple found that the children experienced more influence during the conference than what they were accustomed to and the support person had

communicated the child's opinions during the conference if they did not want to do it themselves. Strandbu (2007, 2008) interviewed children and their support persons in his survey. All the support persons were from the child's private network, they had no knowledge of family group conferencing from before, and they felt there were many challenges to this task and a they felt a great obligation to support the child. Strandbu (2008) considered this when he asked whether the support person from the private network had enough knowledge, skill, experience and strength to help the child in the process.

From the information we have available today, using neutral support person is still not common in Norway or in the other Nordic countries. The Nordic project however stresses the importance of not getting personally involved in a family's home life or conflicts if the support person comes from the extended family, and that he/she has been instructed in the role she/he will have in the conference (Heino, 2009).

In the Danish subproject, Mortensen (2007) paid special attention to the support person scheme in her observations and interviews of ten children (11-16 years old when they were interviewed for the first time). She stressed the importance of these functions and competences for the role of support person:

- the relational aspect: showing the child support, attention, feeling comfortable and being the voice of a child who needs it.
- the processual aspect: together with the coordinator, to help the participants look to the future.
- the diplomatic: be able to balance the child's opinions, attitudes and desires with those of others especially those of the parents. Several children expressed the importance of a support person being relatively impartial, even if it meant she/he would argue against the child (p. 90-91).

The Danish children were asked if the support person should be part of the family network, or if the support person should be a professional. The children had no real experience to base a comparison on, but they thought it was important the person knew about the child's/family's situation in advance and that it was someone they could meet with and talk to later (Mortensen, 2007). Contact between the child and the support person after the conference was the exception, according to Mortensen. But when such contact did exist the support person had been important to the child, being someone the child could contact if she/he thought the plan was not being followed up on.

When Horverak (2006) sums up how the 20 young people he interviewed experienced their support person, his conclusion was that the most important thing for young people was not having a spokesperson who spoke on their behalf; it was having someone who supported them, who they were able to discuss things with, and who made certain the young person's opinions were heard at the conference. An increasing emphasis on support and less emphasis on the tasks of a spokesperson may be related to the fact that Horverak's sampling was comprised of older children (12-21 years old) compared to the other studies.

Several studies show that children have different needs and experiences relating to their support person. The researchers found that support persons design their role and perform

their tasks in different ways (Dalrymple, 2002; Mortensen, 2007; Omre & Schjelderup, 2009; Strandbu, 2007).

Strandbu (2007) refers to how this should be seen in conjunction with the balance between protection and participation. Support persons seemed to exaggerate the child's need for protection when the children were young, which resulted in the child losing presence at the conference and not being given additional opportunities to express his/her opinions. Schjelderup and Omre (2009) asked children to assess the importance of having a support person. Of the 10 children who responded, researchers saw how children in the most serious situations were more likely to consider support persons important.

To summarize, research literature tell us that the support person has two basic functions: First, to help the child participate in the conference and ensure that their opinions are included when the action plan is being prepared. Secondly, to give the child the support he or she needs throughout the conference process. Both functions depend on a support person who has learned how to fulfil his or her role, and that the child and support person meet more than once prior to a conference taking place. Dalrymple's survey (Dalrymple, 2002) implied that an impartial support person may be more suited to safeguarding these functions than a member of the extended family/network, but the study does not provide any basis for such a conclusion on its own. Children may have different needs where real participation in a conference is concerned, while the all need support throughout the process and the meeting.

What do children think the most important benefits of FGC are?

The action plan is the visible result of the conference. Heino summarizes the Nordic project (2009) saying - for the child's sake - it is important to make a plan that is as specific as possible. It should focus on what will happen in the future, when things will happen and who is responsible for making certain these things happen. Heino pointed out that a second follow-up conference is quite important in this regard. It was observed that the children were more active in family group conferences probably because they were more familiar with the meeting structure and because, in those cases positive changes had taken place, the mood at the conference was even more positive.

The Nordic project had a longitudinal design of three or four interviews with children in which the last interview took place approximately one year after the conference. One of the main questions in the project was what changes children wanted the conference to produce and what changes did conferences produce based on past experience. Focusing on the needs of the children was a basic objective in all countries, above all that their home situation would normalize and thus that their biggest concerns would be minimized (Heino, 2009).

Relationships within the family and with friends were of the utmost importance. These relationships were of significance to other aspects of their lives, including aspects of the assignment formulated by the adults. There were differences to the extent in which children experienced positive change and to what extent these changes were attributed to the conference. The majority experienced positive changes, but the youngest children (e.g., under 10 years of age) found it difficult to see their situation in the light of what had happened at the conference. The Finnish study pointed to a seeming correlation between a child's experience of a safe and caring atmosphere as the basis for dialogue on the one side and the positive changes in the aftermath of the conference on the other.

Horverak (2006) found that the young people he interviewed had different experiences when it came to family group conferencing, their level of participation and influence, what came out of the conference, what changes had occurred in the past and to what extent the young people associated any positive changes to the conference. There was no clear correlation between these elements, but Horverak thinks he identified a tendency for young people who entered the process actively at the planning stage were more likely to feel positive about the results of a conference. These young people did not necessarily remember what actions the conference brought about, but they could describe what happened at the conference. Horverak (2006) speaks of the importance of family group conferences in terms of family ritual and ceremony, and he found that for the young there was value in being the center of attention of a ceremony - being seen and heard. «This led to the hypothesis that for young people it was more important for family members to meet and discuss their situation than to contribute in any specific way; it is more important to be seen than to be helped.» Horverak claims (2006, p. 202).

In the evaluation of the pilot projects in England, Lupton and Nixon (1999) compared the experiences expressed by 19 adolescents with the experiences of the adults. They found certain differences. The adolescents thought the first part of the conference was more difficult than the adults did, partly due to the language and concepts used by professionals. On the other had, they appreciated the opportunity provided by the private family time (part 2) for discussion - without professionals present - even more than the adults did. All the adolescents felt their participation was appreciated by the others. That the processual and relational aspects seem to be just as important to children and young people as the measures a conference tries to formulate at the end is also verified in other studies (Bell & Wilson, 2006; Heino, 2009; Holland & O'Neill, 2006; Omre & Schjelderup, 2009).

In the Holland and O'Neill study (2006) 16 out of 23 children said they felt they were heard to a large degree, while only six felt they had had a greater influence. Researchers also interviewed the adult participants. In keeping with Lupton and Nixon (1999), they found that children and adults focused on different aspects of the family group conferences. The professionals and adults focused on the conference's functional aspects, and that the conference found a solution to the family's specific problems.

When the children talked about the outcome of the conference, the most important thing they recall was how the conference helped them reunite with family members they otherwise rarely saw. Similarly, Heino (2009) expressed excitement the children felt about whether the people they wanted to participate would actually come to the conference or not. Holland and O'Neill (2006) write: «This longing for contact with family members as the strongest theme emerging from the interviews with these children suggests that the meeting of their emotional needs was at least as important as their formal rights to take part in a meeting about their future.» (p.105).

Summarizing the experiences of children

Interviews with children and adolescents who were involved in and observed at conferences provided the following main characteristics:

 It is important for the child that all adults - professional or family - are prepared for the conference and acknowledge the idea that the child is the center of attention of the conference.

- For the child it is important that information, attention and discussions about them not only focus on problems.
- The child's support person is important in two ways: ensuring the child real participation and supporting him/her and being someone the child can talk with.
- The relational aspect (that many adult family members are meeting for their sake) and the processual aspect (that they were seen and heard within a positive atmosphere) is more important for the child than the measures set forth in the action plan.

Researchers have different opinions as to whether children should always be present at the family group conference. A high level of conflict among family members becomes a trade-off between the burden this can represent for the child versus what he or she can gain from participating.

7.3 The roles and experiences of case workers and other professionals

In the previous subchapter we looked at the experiences of the private participants, such as parents, children and extended family members. It stands to reason that we would focus greater attention on the experiences of the family than on the professional participants. The theoretical and ethical foundations on which FGC is based are intended to help the family. While that is true, feedback from private participants indicates that their experiences are strongly connected to how the professionals, especially coordinators, communicate and interact with family members to prepare, implement and follow-up on the conference. When family group conferencing is used in child welfare cases we need to recognize that the conference should not deprive the child welfare services (meaning case workers) of their formal responsibility for a case, which includes follow-up after the conference has ended.

In this subchapter we review the roles and experiences of the professional participants. This mainly applies to case workers employed by the child welfare services who play a vital role in several aspects of conferencing. This role entails whether the conference should be recommended for the entire family, how the assignment should be formulated, how information is communicated during the first part of the conference and whether the action plan should be approved at the end of the conference. The subchapter also takes a look at other professionals who may participate in family group conferences. These are directly involved in the first part of the conference, but as teachers, therapists, doctors or people in similar professions they would also be interested in and benefit from the consequences of the conference.

As with the previous chapters we will mainly review evaluations of pilot projects that constitute the written extent of our knowledge on the subject. Case workers were not the only respondents in many of these projects, in some studies other professionals are also represented. In certain studies all of professions are combined in one respondent group, such as in the Swedish evaluation study by Sundell and Hæggmann (1999), where everyone is designated a person of authority (myndighetspersoner).

We will not look at the methodological aspects of these studies in any detail. Most of the studies are based on surveys or interviews which we have referred to earlier in this report, so we should be satisfied here by pointing out certain characteristics of the sampling in a study or the distinct properties of a certain approach if we consider it of particular importance.

Positive attitudes and experiences, limited practice

The standpoint child welfare workers have to family group conferencing is decisive for whether the case manager decides to use conferencing in child welfare cases and what they think of the family group conferencing model. If case workers and/or their agency do not have a positive opinion about FGC it will not be proposed to the family.

Sundell, Vinnerljung and Ryburn (2001) carried out a survey at the end of the 1990s on attitudes toward FGC among child welfare workers (social workers responsible for investigating cases of neglect and abuse) in Sweden (n=110) and England (n=109). All the respondents worked at a public service that had been using FGC when they responded to the survey. Attitudes among English and Swedish child welfare workers were consistently congruent and positive. 77 % consistently expressed positive attitudes toward the FGC model, and 88 % in Sweden and 81 % in England believed FGC was a suitable way to find solutions in abuse cases. There were significant differences between the two countries on certain questions/assertions. There were more English than Swedish employees who thought the child should participate in the conference, while there were more Swedish than English employees who believed the coordinator should have access to detailed information in a case and that the action plan the family arrived at should always be implemented.

Despite the overwhelmingly positive attitude toward FGC, only 42 % of the respondents had completed conferences in one or more cases during a period of 18 months. The authors had no data that could help them explain why such a large discrepancy existed between enthusiasm for FGC and its actual use. They do however refer to other studies from Sweden that point to a large proportion of parents who declined participation (85 % according to Sundell and Hæggmann, 1999). The authors also thought the employees were resistant to handing over a significant amount of power to the family when they knew they could not share any formal responsibility for a case with the family.

Marsh and Crow (1998) refer to similar findings from implementation of FGC in England. Social workers from the project municipalities were interviewed. They were unanimously positive to FGC as a way of meeting and empowering a family. Still, only 55 % had participated in FGCs themselves, and within a two-year period 1/3 of them had not referred families to FGC.

The general positive attitude toward FGC can also be found in studies that looked exclusively at social workers/child welfare workers who had experience working with FGC. The proportion that expressed positive experiences seemed to be just as large as the proportion of parents and other family members who expressed positive experiences. From Denmark, Morthorst Rasmussen and Hansen (2002) reported that 74 % of the social worker were satisfied or very satisfied with FGC, while 79 % of the social workers in the study by Litchfield and colleagues from Miami, USA (2003) agreed that family group conferencing was a positive experience.

95 % of the same social workers believed FGC had improved their relationship with the family. We found similar positive results from other evaluations from the USA (Burke et al., 2003; Sandau-Beckler, Reza, & Terrazas, 2005; Walton & Roby, 2003). Sundell and Hæggmann (1999) did not find equally positive results. It should be noted here however that they refer to 98 «persons of authority» (myndighetspersoner), which included other professionals who had participated in FGC, not just case workers. All in all, as group these professionals were somewhat less positive than the family members from the same conferences.

What elements of family group conference get the most attention?

What do case workers in the interview surveys characterize as particularly positive about FGC? To the extent more negative experiences or challenges exist, what do these concern? There are very few Norwegian studies that systematically asked case workers about their experiences. In the Norwegian evaluation study, 44 case workers were interviewed after filling in questionnaires about cases they were assigned that involved FGC (Hyrve, 2006). This report primarily focused on cases that were referred to FGC, how the assignment was formulated (see chapter 6) and the experiences of case workers in the role of coordinator (see chapter 8). However, Hyrve points out several experiences that one could also find in other interview surveys that involved case workers. When it came to experiences and opinions that support the generally positive attitude case workers had to FGC we can mention:

- FGC mobilizes adults that are important to a child and the child's life by conducting serious and formal discussions about what can be done.
- It is the child who is the main focus of the family group conference.
- Family conflicts are reduced and the family gets a new start on family unity and communication.
- The family has greater influence in defining problems and actions.
- This implies less imbalance of power and thus a better framework for collaboration between the child welfare authorities and the family.
- New information arrives that could help and improve the decision making process.
- Unknown and untapped resources in the family are triggered, which is often a surprise to case workers.
- The family gets and takes greater responsibility. In a few cases it led to closing the case.
- Negative experiences and challenges do exist to some extent, but to a far lesser degree than
 the positive experiences. Some individuals did not succeed in getting the extended family
 and network to participate. Others experienced that the family's possibility to help the child,
 as specified in the action plan, was not enough to give the child the help needed or that help
 was not given later.

Is conferencing only used in cases with an air of cooperation?

Negative experiences are far less conspicuous in FGC studies than positive. Some researchers have been asking themselves whether this is because case workers find certain cases suitable for family group conferencing. The Norwegian, Danish and Swedish evaluation studies seem to indicate that conferencing was conducted in cases where the relationship between the family and the child welfare services was positive as a starting point. Based on responses from case workers on 44 conferences, Hyrve (2006) was able to point out how four out of five cases had an atmosphere of cooperation at the start, and in only one case the relationship between the family and the child welfare services was characterized as conflictive. In the other cases the relationships alternated between cooperative and conflictive. When asked whether or not the parents and the child welfare services had common or differing viewpoints of the family's situation, a common understanding seemed to predominate.

Morthorst Rasmussen and Hansen (2002) got the same answer from the Danish evaluation, while Sundell and Hæggmann (1999) found that the relationship was good at the start for most of the FGC cases in the Swedish evaluation. The truth however is not so clear. Sundell and Hæggmann were the only researches to compare cases in which FGC was offered with cases where FGC was not offered. They found there were even more people cooperating well with the child welfare services in the group of parents who were not offered FGC than among parents who got the offer. It should be also noted that the evaluation studies from the United States often dealt with cases where children were placed or would be placed outside the home, which would imply a more strained relation between the family and child welfare authorities (for example, see Sheets et al., 2009). In these studies, researchers consistently found even more satisfaction with different aspects of FGC than in the Nordic region.

The reason why more parents with good relationships with the child welfare services are involved in FGC cases is not entirely clear. It may be due to the fact that child welfare employees ask parents to participate when the relationship is not strained in the first place.

But it is also possible that parents in cooperative relationships are more willing to say yes to FGC, while those in more negative relationships would say no. The latter may be true, seen in light of several studies that reported difficulties getting parents to agree to participate (Brown, 2003; Sundell & Hæggmann, 1999).

Important aspects of the role of case worker

Up to now we have been examining how the case worker's role influences how parents, children and other family members experience FGC. Together with what we have presented so far about attitudes toward cases and how they are selected and their scope, we can say that case workers have several important roles in the FGC process; these roles can be called the gatekeeper, the facilitator, the informant and authority figure.

The gatekeeper: The case worker is decisive in determining if a family is offered family group conferencing or not.

The facilitator: Even if the coordinator is primarily in charge of planning, preparing and inviting the participants to the conference, the case worker can have a direct or indirect influence in these functions by providing recommendations and instructions that could influence these processes. Especially in how a case worker controls the wording of the FGC assignment.

The informant: What the case worker says in the first part of conference and how he/she says it are of great significant to future meeting processes. This includes what is being said about the child and family, to what extent the descriptions of the problems are balanced by the descriptions of resources, whether the information stimulates hope and instills a belief in the solutions and whether parents are given realistic and adequate information about what services the public can provide.

The authority figure: The case worker, as a representative of the child welfare authorities, has a veto right over the action plan.

In their study from Wales, Holland and colleagues focused on what it is like for social workers to implement the basic democratic and empowering philosophy in a child protection context that also has other agendas (Holland et al., 2005). Thirteen social workers were interview for this study in addition to parents, children, and some coordinators. Empowering the family and assuming the role of facilitator and informant in a system that is characterized by professional power structures is challenging. The researchers discovered a tendency among social workers to exert influence over the wording of the assignment, the agenda of the private meeting and the final content of the action plan.

The roles of other professionals

Based on the lessons learned from the English pilot projects, Lupton and Nixon (1999) pointed out the special challenges faced by the other professionals who are invited to participate in a conference, whether they represented a school, health service or the social welfare authorities. Gallagher and Jasper (2003) were able to supplement our knowledge of these challenges based on interviews with four public health nurses from one of these pilot projects.

First of all, they pointed out the importance of finding the «right» professional participants. That means finding employees from services who have relevant information to give about the child/family and about what resources their service can offer the family. Secondly, the challenge for these professionals is to provide specific information in a way that is understandable to everyone without too much technical jargon and without having to add conditions to any solutions based on their own assessment of the situation. The third and most basic challenge faced by those responsible for the conference is including the employees of other services in the implementation of the conference where information, learning and training are concerned. When this was not possible the professionals felt unprepared for what awaited them and what their role should be. They felt they were expected to get the point of the FGC model and philosophy whether they knew anything about FGC or not. Gallagher and Jasper (2003) showed how this led them to feel unqualified for the task and skeptical as to whether the family was able to prepare a proper plan for the child. One specific problem experienced by some of them was how they should handle confidential information when talking with the extended family.

Both Lupton/Nixon (1999) and Gallagher/Jasper (2003) indicated however that professionals from different services had positive experiences from FGC, especially where mobilizing the extended family was concerned and experiencing a positive and relaxed mood during the conference, compared to meetings they were generally accustomed to.

Summary of the experiences of case workers and other professionals

Case workers and other professionals who have been involved in FGC tend to convey the same positive experiences and viewpoints as private participants.

- Mobilizing the family network is highlighted as especially positive.
- FGC produces more useful information, reaches into untapped resources and gives the family more responsibility for the child.
- The basic obligations inherent in the core values of FGC may sometimes lead case workers to approves action plans even if they have doubts about whether the plan is robust enough for the family's situation.

- All the professional participants need to acknowledge and understand the basic ideas behind FGC to see how meaningful their participation can be and so the family is given the best opportunity to address the assignment and resolve its problems.
- Nordic researchers asks whether FGC is primarily being offered in cases where there is already good cooperation between the family and the child welfare services. International research however has not confirmed this.
- Research indicates that there is a mismatch between the general enthusiasm for family group conferencing and how the method is actually used.

8. The role of coordinator

Informative literature and research on the subject point out how important impartiality is in the role of coordinator. Appointing a coordinator who does not work for child welfare authorities on a daily basis is a cornerstone of the FGC model (see chapter 2). In other words, the function of coordinator is regarded as one of the strength's of the model, but it can also be a weakness. In an informative article about FGC, Frost (2013a) expressed this by citing what Barbour said about family group conferencing: «It's heavy reliance on the strengths and commitments of the coordinators is its weakness». (p. 8.).

The coordinator has a variety of tasks starting from the time she/he is introduced to the family until she/he has made sure that everyone who was present at the conference has received a copy of the action plan. The tasks consist of assisting the family with planning and conducting the conference, collaborating with them to clarify who is invited, talking to anyone who will be invited and preparing them for the meeting, ensuring that the practical aspects of conducting a meeting are attended to and leading the meeting's first and last parts (see Falck, 2006; Vik, 2009). In addition to those tasks, the coordinator can contribute by trying to instill a positive and constructive atmosphere during the conference. The coordinator will often also have a role in the follow-up process.

In this chapter we summarize what the participants convey about their experiences with coordinators, but the chapter is mostly concerned with what coordinators can tell us themselves about the most important aspects and challenges of their role. We will also present what are considered the most important qualifications for a coordinator and we will be referring to discussions about impartiality and neutrality as an important element of being a good coordinator.

Participants' experiences with coordinators are usually reported through surveys done at the end of conferencing. Coordinators' experiences are usually studied through interviews with small numbers of coordinators. It may be important to note that the research and reports we have on coordinator functions are from the past when family group conferencing was emerging internationally. We can imagine that the way coordinators approach their tasks has changed as they gained more experience. However, we have been unable to identify any differences in what has been communicated in studies about trial/implementation phase versus studies from more established programs.

8.1 General satisfaction with the coordinator

As far as we could discern, the majority of FGC participants - whether private or professional - were very satisfied with the way the coordinators performed their tasks.

Litchfield and colleagues evaluated FGDM in Miami, USA (Litchfield et al., 2003), finding great satisfaction among the 210 participants who filled out the questionnaire after their FGDMs had ended (parents, extended family members and professionals). Using regression analyses they discovered that a participant's perception of how the coordinator did his job was one of four factors that led to a positive outcome of the FGDM. This is the only study that has been able to statistically document the correlation between the role of coordinator and outcome.

Studies from Sweden and Australia however also indicate the special importance of the coordinator function. When Sundell and Hæggmann (1999) examined the experiences of all family members (n= 455) they found a pattern in the responses; those who were satisfied with one aspect of the FGC process were also satisfied with the other aspects. The opposite was also true; those who were dissatisfied with one aspect were consistently dissatisfied with the other aspects examined by Sundell and Hæggmann. There was only one exception to this pattern: Regardless of how they experienced the other aspects of FGC, all the family members experienced the coordinator as impartial.

Darlington and Healy (2012) studied a special variant of FGC used in Queensland, Australia (the family group meeting). Ten parents were interviewed and asked to fill out a form that included four assertions about FGC (read more about this in chapter 7.1.). The parents had mixed experiences, but the assertion that got the greatest consensus was whether they felt the coordinator treated them with respect. Nine of ten parents, even the parents who had negative experiences by the way, felt the coordinator treated them with respect. They stressed how the coordinator made them feel like an important part of the meeting and how they communicated clearly without using too much professional or technical jargon. They also stressed the non-judgmental attitude of the coordinator and other professionals and being aware of the family's cultural background.

Similar feedback came from the parents in the Danish evaluation, where 93 % believed the coordinator's efforts were good (Morthorst Rasmussen & Haldbo Hansen, 2002). In the interviews they spoke of how they were met with respect and recognition, that the coordinator was attentive to their uncertainties and doubts, that they were given the opportunity to ask questions, that the coordinator was able to make the conference feel like the family's own conference and that they were able to established a belief in and motivation for family group conferencing. Nine out of ten parents and eight of the ten other family members believed the coordinator showed impartiality (Hansen & Hansen, 2003).

Pennell in North-Carolina, USA, also examined the extent to which conferencing was conducted in accordance with best practice (Pennell, 2005). The function of coordinator was also highly praised in this evaluation. Among the 25 assertions there was one, «the coordinator showed respect toward the family», which got the most «totally agree» cores. Only one of 150 disagreed with this assertion.

A number of other studies and reports confirmed the importance of and satisfaction with the coordinators (e.g. Cashmore & Kiely, 2000; Marsh & Crow, 1998; Treichel & Bemis, 2003).

8.2 The coordinators' experiences and challenges

A number of qualitative studies have been conducted on how the coordinators experienced their role. The findings are generally concurrent, so we have chosen to present them as a whole. In cases where one study looked at one aspect in particular we will make reference to that fact.

The studies we base our presentations on in this subchapter are from New Zealand: (Connolly, 2006a, 2006b); from Canada: (Schmid & Pollack, 2009); from Denmark: (Hansen & Hansen, 2003); from Sweden: (Sundell & Hæggmann, 1999) and from England: (Marsh & Crow, 1998). We also base our presentation on four Norwegian studies. Two of them are from the early implementation phase in Norway: Einarsson (2002) and Saasen (2001b). We also include Lundeby's focus group interviews (2013) of three coordinators that he combined with interviews of cws case workers and case managers. The fourth study applies to the coordinators' role in network-centric conferences for adults, as this is used by the social services (Natland & Malmberg-Heimonen, 2013). Even if network-centric conferences are slightly different from FGCs conducted by the child welfare services (see chapter 9), there are obvious parallels where the coordinators' role and experiences are concerned. This study is also of later date and was published internationally as a referee-assessed article.

All the studies indicate that coordinators have many different jobs or are working under different types of contracts and they often have different formal qualifications. These conditions however do not seem to have any impact on their experiences as coordinators.

Enthusiasm and dedication for the model

All the studies show how enthusiastic coordinators were in fulfilling their tasks and the great reliance they had in the FGC model. Many coordinators also pointed out how important it is for the coordinator to share the core values and attitudes that FGC is based on.

Establishing and upholding impartiality

The interview studies on coordinators convey how challenging it is to maintain an impartial position (read e.g. Schmid & Pollack, 2009). This happens in various ways: Coordinators spend a lot of time explaining their role and their independent position in relation to the child welfare service to family members.

This means they are constantly reminding the participants as to what tasks the coordinator has and does not have, and putting the ball back in the hands of the participants. As coordinator, one must learn to accept that the child welfare services and the family may have different agendas and versions of reality and to understand that the coordinator's job is to make certain the family has all the information it needs in part 2 of the conference so their own meeting can be a success and to arrive at good solutions.

Neutrality is upheld by havinglimited knowledge about the case, meaning a coordinator should not read case documents but should be able to fully understand the assignment. Moreover, the coordinator should try to avoid being drawn into either the social workers' or family members' stories or perceptions about what happened in the past. This was an important consideration when faced with the family because their tasks were to interact and to implement positive change over time.

The coordinators in the Saasen study (2001a, 2001b) said this was at times a very difficult thing to do in practice. By emphasizing their impartiality and at the same time working to assist the family in conducting the conference, the coordinator could become a person the participants, especially parents, felt they could trust and talk openly with. When establishing contact with the different family members it is difficult for a coordinator to curtail the stories the family members want to tell about a case and about the child welfare services. This may be less difficult when talking with child welfare employees who have more insight into what the coordinator role actually implies. The consequence of this is that the coordinator can get one-sided information about the case, and according to Saasen and others (e.g. Sundell & Hæggmann, 1999) there is a greater risk that coordinator loyalty goes in the direction of the family than the child welfare services.

While other studies point out how a coordinator may at times feel like an *interpreter for the child welfare service in relation to the family* (Einarsson, 2002). Marsh and Crow (1998) also pointed out that a coordinator who is able to explain the concerns of the child welfare services in a meaningful way is something the families appreciated. Using everyday language (not jargon) and being receptive and empathetic helped establish trust from family members, which again was a prerequisite for being perceived as impartial (Natland & Malmberg-Heimonen, 2013).

An important task, as coordinators see it, is to helpkeep everyone focused on the child throughout the process. This is one way to limit the desire to tell one's side of the story and relive the past, and it is an important element when the coordinator invites members of the family's network to participate in the conference. Hansen and Hansen (2003) cite coordinators who stressed how important it is to the children that coordinators participate in the conference.

Mediating between family members

One primary task of a coordinator is to recruit participants to the conference from the extended family. Some coordinators said that getting many members of the extended family to participate made them feel like they had succeeded. Sundell & Hæggmann (1999) deduced from the Swedish evaluation that it was easier to mobilize family members when the coordinator did the inviting, instead of assigning this task to the parents or children.

Mediating between potential participants from the extended family during the preparation phase proved to be a normal part of the coordinator's role. The coordinators in the Swedish evaluation said there were serious conflicts between family members in just over half of all the 74 family group conferences. One important way to build bridges between participants was to continually remind participants why the conference was being arranged: it was for the child's sake.

Sticking to the role of coordinator

In most of the studies one of the topics stressed by coordinators was the challenge of sticking to the one's role as coordinator and focusing only on one's tasks. For some, taking on other roles is tempting: helper, therapist and even case worker. This involved a desire to use one's professional skills or expertise to give advice and come with suggestions for solutions. In certain situations the coordinators got information during the preparation phase that made it appropriate to recommend changes to the assignment, which some actually did (Natland & Malmberg-Heimonen, 2013).

Schmid's respondents (2009) felt that one important strategy was to make certain their own role was not essential in the process.

In Lundeby's focus group interview (2013), coordinators worried that some coordinators had developed a practice of «making up their own mind»; in other words, not sticking to the FGC model or maintaining a clear distinction between the role of coordinator and other roles. They pointed out that it was important to be part of a team of coordinators, and evaluating and sharing experience with other coordinators was common practice.

8.3 The coordinator's qualifications and impartiality

Even if it is implicit throughout the family group conferencing model that the coordinator is of central importance to the success of a conference, there is no research that has looked at the possible correlation between specific qualifications or personal characteristics of coordinators on the one hand and satisfaction/outcome on the other (see chapter 5).

Marsh and Crow (1998) asked coordinators what skills they believed a coordinator should possess. Communication skills and personal qualities were most often mentioned as important skills. Somewhat more specific skills were: the ability to negotiate and mediate, to be a good listener, to be able to mobilize commitment quickly, to have great confidence in the FGC model and the family's potential for finding solutions, and to be able to work in groups. Specific skills or knowledge as a social worker were not mentioned. To the contrary, many of the coordinators thought it was an advantage not having much background as a social worker because it made it easier to limit oneself to the coordinator role and tasks. The coordinators interviewed by Saasen (2001a) in Norway and 28 key resource persons working with FGC who were interviewed for a Scottish report (Barnsdale & Walker, 2007) pointed to skills or characteristics that corresponded to those pointed out in England. Most of these experts believed a certain level of work experience as a social worker was necessary to develop key skills, and a few of them believed coordinators should be educated social workers. It should be noted that almost all of the 28 respondents interviewed in the Scottish report were professionals.

The English FGC pilot project strived to match coordinators with individual families by considering ethnicity, gender, language and religion (Marsh & Crow, 1998). However, it was difficult to do this in practice, partly due to the limited number of coordinators available. Coincidently, if we look at ethnicity one could not be certain the family wanted a coordinator from their own ethnic group, out of fear their community would eventually learn about their problems. Based on experience gained from the English pilot projects, Marsh and Crow (1998) came to the following conclusions about matching: The possibility of real-world matching would be limited by the number of coordinators who are available, and it would also be difficult for the family to know what kind of person they would want because the person would take on a role and tasks they have no experience with and which is different from what they are accustomed to.

One of the cornerstones of the family group conferencing model is keeping the coordinator out of case work. As mentioned in chapter 4, several model have developed around the world in which the coordinator has intimate knowledge or involvement in a case. In several countries where non-governmental organizations commonly take responsibility for parts of the country's child welfare services, the coordinator is normally associated with the organization at an administrative level. This is true for the Netherlands (Eigen Kracht), England (Daybreak) and

Scotland (Children 1st). In Norway and the other Nordic countries coordinators are paid by the government, but they are not employed by the child welfare services and have nothing to do with case processing or case work. Internationally however we also see variants where the coordinator is an employee of the child welfare services (but not responsible for case investigation or family intervention measures), and there are models where the coordinator also organizes and leads the conference (e.g. Adams & Chandler, 2004; Belser, 2013).

Belser (2013) carried out a study on the coordinators of Family Meetings in the state of New York, USA. He describes this model as «a reduced form of Family Group Conference» (p. 13), in which the coordinators are actually employees of the child welfare services. At some offices the coordinators are responsible for case work, while at other offices the coordinator is the person who organizes and leads the meeting. Belser conducted interviews with four focus groups; two groups with coordinators who did not do case work and two groups of coordinators who did. The purpose of the interviews was to explore whether differences could be identified regarding impartiality in the different roles for Family Meetings. He summarized that there were no obvious differences between the two main groups. Both types of coordinators influenced the meeting process and content, and that it was generally difficult to characterize coordinator functions as impartial where Family Meetings were concerned.

The Family Meeting model deviates from the FGC model as it is practiced in Norway and several other countries, especially regarding who may function as coordinator. While, as we have explained earlier in this report, many researchers point out how coordinators working within the framework of the standard family group conferencing model are not impartial or independent of case work either (see Lupton & Nixon, 1999; Omre and Schjelderup, 2009). Thus far, researchers have not been able to tell us whether independence from case work or the way the coordinator interacts with the family are significant for the experience and outcome of conference. In other words, further studies are needed to test the different coordinator schemes and qualifications against outcome and experiences. However, this would be a demanding research project to design. It is therefore important to note that studies are also lacking which systematically ask a broad range of respondents (parents, children, family members or professional participants of FGC) what requirements should be set for future coordinators or what qualities they appreciated in particular.

What the coordinators and professionals seem to agree on (coordinators, leaders, FGC project managers) is that the role of coordinator is so significant to the family group conferencing model that good training, guidance and follow-up are prerequisites for performance.

Summarizing the role of coordinator

A coordinator should be independent of the service that organizes the conference; this is a cornerstone of the family group conferencing model. The way in which a coordinator performs his or her role is of great importance to how the conference is implemented and how it is experienced by participants. The participants gave the highest scores for the function and impartiality of coordinators in several studies. There is no research that shows the importance of formal qualifications or organizational affiliations for coordinators.

Coordinators are most concerned about:

- Maintaining impartiality. When this is difficult, there is a greater risk they become sympathetic to the family, more so than to the child welfare services.
- Keeping the focus on the child.
- Including the most important family members and mediating among them.
- Not departing from one's role and not acting as a case worker or helper.

9. FGC in other services

FGC has been tried out in many different sectors and services outside of child protection agencies; domestic violence centers, elder care, end-of-life care, services for the homeless, long-term social clients, mental health care, family counselling, in schools and as crime prevention programs for youth in the justice system (Malmberg-Heimonen, 2011; Nixon, 1999; Nixon et al., 2005; Van Pagee, 2014). We found many studies from the justice sector in our literature search - so-called Restorative Justice - while studies from other sectors are conspicuously lacking. As with FGC in the child welfare services, the evaluations and reports for the other sectors and services are characterized by descriptions of implementation and user experience, while only a few studies investigated the possible outcomes and effects using proven scientific methods. While FGC in the child welfare services is primarily used for decision-making which can empower the family, information and experience from other sectors highlights other objectives like supplementing psychosocial processes or in relation to rehabilitation, mastery, social support and social inclusion (Johansen, 2014).

9.1 FGC in the justice system

FGC has been used in the justice system since its emergence in New Zealand, becoming a law (the Children, Young Persons, and Their Families Act of 1989) which determined that FGC would not only be used in serious child welfare cases but would also be used to deal with young lawbreakers (Maxwell & Morris, 2006; A. Morris, 2004). FGC would be used as an alternative to court hearings (for young people who had not been arrested) and to provide recommendations to the court before a formal judgment was made (for young people who had been arrested). The purpose here was to empower the juvenile offenders, their families, and the victims to give all affected parties a role in decision making and find the best way to deal with the offense, thereby reducing the power of professionals who were obligated to take the proposals of all parties into account (A. Morris, 2004). The composition of a conference in the justice system is basically the same as a family group conference at the child welfare services. But it also embraced the offender's family/network, and the victim and his or her family/network and any parties from public agencies from the police and social services. Teachers and other support persons from the community were often invited. A coordinator or facilitator was responsible for the preparation phase and execution, who often had experience working at child welfare services or other social services. Private time for offenders and their supporter persons was common practice.

This practice has spread to various countries and continents in a method that became known as Restorative Justice, a movement that emerged in the 1970s as an alternative to ordinary criminal proceedings for youth (Christie, 1977; Fox, 2004; Marshall, 1996). One definition we often hear of restorative justice is: «Restorative justice is a process whereby all the parties with a

stake in a particular offense come together to resolve collectively how to deal with the aftermath of the offense and its implications for the future»

(Marshall, 1996, p. 17). The purpose of this process is to restore a victim, offender and the local community in a way all affected parties consider fair (Braithwaite, 2002). Specific models of restorative justice are: the circle models (peacemaking circles, sentencing circles), which gather affected parties within the local community to agree on a solution, local community board (reparative boards, community boards) and different mediation models (Bradshaw & Roseborough, 2005; O'Brien, 2007). In Norway the conflict resolution board (konfliktråd) is quite similar to restorative justice, but FGC has not yet been incorporated into our justice system.

Although there are many similarities between the principles and models of Restorative Justice and FGC and several authors stress how fundamental differences in the purpose and mission of the justice sector and the welfare sector can have an impact on how the conferencing models have developed in both sectors (Connolly, 2009; Fox, 2004). According to Fox (2004), different hybrids of FGC have arisen in Canada, Australia and England that distinguish themselves from the original model with a more limited (and legal) focus on offender and offense and less focus on the needs of the victim or the relationship between the offender and the victim/local community. They refer to the most commonly model, the Wagga Wagga Model from Australia (New South Wales), which - although developed from the original New Zealand model - does not require the use of private family time and is often coordinated by an employee of the police who is not considered neutral in relation to the offense. They also refer to different practices to involve victims and representatives of the local community. Fox (2004) says if we want FGC to have an optimal effect on juvenile crime we will need to have an even stronger and more holistic focus on the needs of the young person and less on punishing an offense, regardless of whether FGC is carried out under the auspices of the justice system or the child welfare services.

Experiences from FGC in the justice system are positive if we listen to the participants (Bradshaw & Roseborough, 2005; Mutter, Shemmings, Dugmore, & Hyare, 2008), while the results are still unclear as to whether it deters new crimes (Bradshaw & Roseborough, 2005; Jeong, McGarrell, & Hipple, 2012; McGarrell & Hipple, 2007).

Positive experiences of the victims: Victims say the felt the cases were dealt with fairly, and that FGC procedures allowed them to feel respected and generally appreciated (Van Camp & Wemmers, 2013). Reports from New Zealand describe a major reduction in the number of convicted and imprisoned adolescents in the first decade after FGC became a part of criminal procedure (Maxwell & Morris, 2006). This development is not only associated with the use of FGC, but with a general change in attitudes and practices toward find solutions for juvenile offenders who are not subject to ordinary criminal procedures.

When it comes to the effect various restorative models have on recurrence of criminal behavior, we refer you to the first meta study in this area that included 19 studies from 25 services in 4 countries (a total of 11950 adolescents) (Bradshaw & Roseborough, 2005). The findings from all these studies combined indicate a mean effect size of 0.26, which according to the authors is more than twice as high as previous figures for traditional programs within the justice sector. Effect size for mediation models (0.34) however was significantly greater than for FGC models (0.11), in that 11 out of 15 mediation studies had positive effects, versus only 2 of the 4 FGC studies. The meta study concluded that mediation models are a valid and empirically-

supported intervention to reduce recurring juvenile crime, while FGC can be seen as a promising but still experimental intervention that needs more research.

While most of the studies included in the meta study had relatively short follow-up periods (the average was 17 months), we found one study from Indiana, USA with a 12-year follow-up (Jeong et al., 2012; McGarrell & Hipple, 2007). According to the authors of this study, Indiana was one of the first US states to adopt FGC in the justice system at the end of the 1990s. The model they used was originally from Australia (Wagga Wagga, New South Wales). The sampling consisted of 782 adolescents who were randomly sent to FGC or one of the other preventive programs in the justice system from 1st of September 1997 to 30th September 2000. Criteria for participating in the study: the young person was a first-time offender, 14 years old or younger, who had committed a crime like assault, trespassing on a prohibited area, aggravated theft or disorderly conduct. The first follow-up survey conducted 24 months after the intervention found that young people who participated in FGC had a lower incidence of crime recurrence than the control group, both in terms of incidents and severity of violations (McGarrell & Hipple, 2007). The effect of FGC was greatest the first 6 months, but declined somewhat after that. In the follow-up study done 12 years after the intervention there was no longer any difference between the FGC group and the control group for recurrence or time before re-currence (Jeong et al., 2012).

Although the findings are disappointing to the proponents of FGC, according to the authors the results are not surprising when one considers the brief period of time in which FGC intervention was being implemented. Positive results included the fact that participants of FGC did not have a greater risk of recurrence than the control group, and it was suggested that FGC would have had a better and more long-lasting effect if it was followed by several conferences.

9.2 FGC at school

Even though international evaluations indicate that family group conferencing is being used in the educational sector (Barnsdale & Walker, 2007; Nixon et al., 2005), we have only found reports from the United Kingdom in this area (Hampton and Northern Ireland), and only one of these studies compared the effects of FGC with other methods (Hayden, 2009). In the context of FGC at school, an educator or pedagogical employee is assigned to cooperate with the pupil and his or her family to determine the need for a conference. Common problems for referring a child to FGC are bullying, absence and behavioral problems which can lead to expulsion, or other situations that can impede teaching and learning. The professionals who may be invited to participate in a conference would be the child's teacher and, if necessary, other adults who know the child at school. Incidents of bullying can also imply participation by the other pupil and his/her family. Otherwise, FGC at school is done in the same manner based on the same model as is done at and by the child welfare services.

We learned that the implementation project that started in Hampshire in 1998 (Crow 1999, 2000, 2001 referred to in Barnsdale & Walker, 2007) inspired many head teachers/principals, and they felt it was an advantage having FGC infrastructures in place in the county. The perceived challenges were limited involvement by the social services, involvement of too many schools and limited budgets. 44 conference had been completed in the first 18 months of the project. Boys were more often referred than girls and more often for behavioral difficulties, while girls were

more often referred for problems of absence/truancy. The main experiences gained from FGC at school were positive seen from the perspective of families and professional. The participants were satisfied with the action plans, and positive changes were experienced at home and at school. There were also some participants who said they did not get enough support or respect from professionals, or that the child's opinion was not heard.

The effects FGC had on 50 students about 6-12 months after the conference were evaluated (Crow 2001 as referred to in Barnsdale & Walker, 2007). Positive changes were reported for just over half (52 %) of these pupils; for 28 % there was no change and for 20 % the situation got worse either in relation to behavior, truancy or both. Even if there were more negative results for behavior problems, no significant differences were found in the outcome for behavioral problems and truancy when a control was done for gender and age.

School Restorative Conferencing (SRC) was tried out at 5 secondary schools in 2000 in Northern Ireland, growing to 18 schools in 2005 (McGrath, 2004). This program developed from the youth court model previously introduced in the country, but implementation was very similar to the family group conferencing model used in Hampshire. 27 SRCs were conducted during the first 2 years, which resulted in the same number of action plans. The most important grounds for referral to the program were bullying, aggressive behavior, drugs and truancy. According to Grippen (2005) (referred to in Barnsdale & Walker, 2007) positive changes were reported for most students but we do not have more detailed information on this assertion.

Hayden (2009) also reported on a study of children aged 5-15 (n= 78) where the effects of FGC were compared with assistance provided by the Education Welfare Service. The study was conducted in a large county in England where FGC was already in practice at the child welfare services and in schools. A quasi-experimental design was used for various reasons (skepticism among practitioners, importance of getting enough cases to FGC, bad experiences from previous attempts) but mostly because it did not seem suitable to do a randomized distribution between FGC and EWS. Outcome measures in this study were registered attendance and exclusion before and after FGC/EWS based on data from the institution that was verified by researches. The groups were equally divided at the beginning for truancy, age and gender, while information about exclusion from school was more uncertain. The FGC group initially had 41 cases (only 30 of these were completed), while the EWS group had 37 cases. Data on attendance was measured over a period of 50 days before and after being referred to EWS/FGC, while exclusion was measured one semester before/after referral.

The results from the study showed that the EWS group increased attendance after intervention, while there was no change in the FGC group. We also saw an improvement in the 11 cases that did not complete family group conferencing, for which one proposed explanation was that these children actually got help at their first meeting with a coordinator and therefore did not need further help. When it came to exclusion, the FGC cases had twice the risk of expulsion after intervention than the EWS cases, while the cases that did not complete conferencing showed more expulsions than before and after the intervention. The complicated relationship between attendance and exclusion was illustrated in that a higher rate of attendance for the children with the worst problems could lead to expulsion because the school did not have the resources to cope with these kids. The interpretation of the negative outcome for FGC was that these cases were

as a starting point probably more serious than the EWS cases, which was not checked when the children were divided into the two groups.

In addition to the outcome study, a questionnaire survey was done on 60 people who referred children to FGC, along with interviews of 9 EWS staff members and 20 FGC coordinators. The people who referred children to the program felt that truancy and bullying were more suited to FGC than behavioral difficulties and exclusions. Those who were interviewed believed it was important to have FGC as an option for all types of cases and age groups, and it was important to focus on individual cases rather than make generalizations on different groups. An important theme was the time of the meetings, whether they were going to be done during the day to comply with the wishes of teachers, or afternoon/evening to meet the needs of the others. Another question was whether FGC was being implemented too late, after the problems had become too serious to have any effect. There was also some difficulties carrying out follow up meetings.

The children's experiences from FGC and from the school programs were collected in a questionnaire in 20 cases and in a group interview of 7 participants. Despite the children's problems and experience of standing out from the other pupils at school, they also spoke about positive experiences. This was especially apparent in the statement, which was confirmed, that there was at least one teacher or adult at the school they could talk to if they felt they had a problem. Most of the youngest pupils also confirmed they usually were very happy and that they thought most of the teachers really liked them. We learned that self-awareness and the need for support from friends were prominent themes from the group interview. Several children also said there were too many adults from the school present at the conference and they would have liked to have a friend with them at the meeting, which was not allowed during school hours.

Despite the limited results from the effects of FGC at schools compared to the standard practice (EWS), it was concluded that FGC and its principles of partnership and mediation could be a useful tool in a school's approach to changing behavioral problems and truancy.

Conferencing for adults

Conferencing for adults is based on the same principles as conferencing for children, but it focuses on the protagonist desire to change. We can summarize the idea by saying the adult conference is the protagonist's meeting (determine what will be discussed, who should be invited etc.), an independent facilitator/coordinator will assist in the preparation and implementation of the meeting, the extended network and any employees of public services will be invited, the protagonist and the private network should arrive at an action plan without any employees of public services being present, and the action plan will be reviewed and signed by the network.

A follow-up meeting will also be agreed on during the final phase of the meeting. When we refer to Conferencing for Adults we will primarily be talking about trial projects from England, the Netherlands and Norway (Barnsdale & Walker, 2007; de Jong & Schout, 2011; Malmberg-Heimonen, 2011), but as our review will show there is very little research in this field. We should note that conferencing for adults is often called network-centric conferencing (nettverksråd) in the Nordic countries, while the term family group conference is used in English-speaking countries.

9.3 FGC in the social sector

We found 2 scientific studies that dealt with conferencing used in the social sector. Both of these studies are Norwegian, and they are based on the same survey of long-term social clients in Oslo and Bergen (Johansen, 2014; Malmberg-Heimonen, 2011). The earliest study is a randomized controlled trial (RCT) on the effects FGC has when used to help recipients of relief and social assistance and individuals with mental health problems (Malmberg-Heimonen, 2011), while the second is a qualitative study of psychosocial processes that elaborates on the first study (Johansen, 2014). Both studies make use of proven scientific methods and are considered of good methodological quality and reliability.

The data base of the RCT study was 149 long-term social clients chosen randomly in a ratio of 2:1 for FGC (n= 96) or not FGC (n= 53), while both groups received what is considered normal services from the social welfare office. The time of consenting to participate was defined as T1, when the respondents filled out different questionnaires about social support and mental health. New information on the same themes was collected from the FGC group 2 weeks after they completed their conferences and from the control groups 12 weeks after T1. In reality, T2 information was received about 22 weeks after the conference and 16 weeks after T1 for the control group. Of the 96 persons selected for conferencing only 41 completed the entire FGC process, while 23 partially completed their program and 32 broke off completely. To avoid selection bias and to safeguard important methodological principles for the RCT studies, the entire sample was included in the analyses (intention-to-treat basis) and the follow-up study, which had an overall response rate of 68 %. They also collected follow-up data 12 months after T1, but these findings are not published yet.

The following hypotheses were presented for the study based on the findings from previous qualitative studies of conferencing for adults: The conferencing process will - to a greater extent for the participants in the intervention group than for the participants in the control group - lead to:

- 1. increased support and resources from the social welfare services
- 2. improve general satisfaction with life
- 3. reduce mental stress, anxiety and depression

The selected outcome measures were investigated using proven and previously-used scales and questions, and group differences were controlled through covariance analyses (ANCOVA). The results showed positive outcomes from the conferencing process for the intervention group for satisfaction with life and mental stress/anxiety/depression, and a positive tendency for emotional support and an increase in social resources. The conferencing process was also experienced as positive by most participants because they were satisfied with their facilitator, satisfied with the questions they formulated and discussed, and they felt the plans were relevant and offered solutions/answers to their questions.

The most important question the conference was meant to address was: «How can I become more active throughout the day?», while questions related to returning to regular employment were given decidedly less attention. The author considers this reasonable, because most of the participants had been out of the workforce for more than 3 of the last 5 years, and that most also

had a chronic illness. In that context, increased social activity can be an important step on the road toward greater social inclusion for the recipients.

One inherent limitation to the study was that, although social workers were asked to invite all long-term social clients to participate in the study, the overwhelming majority of respondents were single people with mental problems and limited education. Interviews with social workers also supported the viewpoint that there was a tendency to recruit clients they had known over time. Another limitation was that outcomes were measured shortly after the conference was conducted, so we do not know anything about long-term effects. A third limitation was the size of the sample, which was relatively small. Regardless of these factors, the positive findings from the study stress the potential the FGC process has as a method for improving the lives of long-term social clients in Norway.

The qualitative study of the same clients is based on interviews with 15 of the 41 people who completed their conference, as well as observations of 5 conferences (Johansen, 2014). The purpose of this study was to explore the psychosocial processes and outcomes related to the FGC process from a psychological perspective. Empowerment processes were also investigated, but this proved to be an irrelevant theme for these respondents. The processes and effects that stood out as most important were the relational and interactional ones. This involved getting back in touch with one's social network and getting more social support, relationship-based motivation and effects, as well as feeling respected and accepted. The author emphasized a theoretical perspective where social recognition can generate processes that can contribute to and explain good feelings like being part of a community, better self-image and less mental stress.

Considering the fact that long-term social clients are often characterized as lonely, socially isolated and mentally ill, the author questions whether participating in occupational programs is the only or the best way to resolve problems of social inclusion or support for this group of people. FGC or other network intervention programs that mobilize social support are considered a promising supplement to other programs being offered by the social services.

9.4 FGC in mental health care

Scientific publications about family group conferencing within mental health care are almost non-existent. We were only able to find one study on the subject. It is from the Dutch province of Gröningen and has been discussed in a few published articles (de Jong & Schout, 2011, 2013a, 2013b). The first article was based on a literature search and interviews with 10 experts within FGC and mental health care and was designed to explore the potential usefulness of testing FGC in mental health care. 6 good reasons for implementation were summarized: (1) Mental health care employees often have to work with unmotivated clients. FGC can be used to design a plan, even if the client is not present. (2) FGC can be a supplement to ordinary services combining voluntary help and involuntary treatment. (3) Clients of mental health services often have limited networks; this can change through conferencing. (4) FGC can be helpful in a crisis or otherwise. Sometimes the situation needs to be critical to motivate the client to get help through FGC, while at other times the situation has stabilized before conferencing can begin. (5) Clients who feel they have had negative experiences with government services in the past may see an opportunity in FGC because the program works differently. (6) The social network can make a professionals' work easier.

The second article describes a planned research project that would follow 40 FGC cases within mental health care over a period of two years (January 2010 to December 2011) (de Jong & Schout, 2013a). The purpose of this study was to provide an answer to whether FGC was an effective tool for creating social support, preventing involuntary treatment, facilitating the work of professionals and promoting social integration. To address an often heard criticism about FGC that it is limited in scope, a comprehensive mixed-methods design was chosen which included both qualitative and quantitative analyzes of each case. This included semi-structured interviews with all of the participants in the conferences and subsequent validation of preliminary analyses using focus groups, as well as quantitative (impact) analyses of re-established control over a situation, completing the goals of the action plan and the number of professionals and relatives involved before and after the conference.

They had also planned a study of community conferences that would be used to resolve conflicts in neighborhoods, mostly related to juvenile crime at the same time as conferencing was being evaluated. A community conference is different from a family group conference, in that a coordinator is present throughout all three phases of the conference, and that it intends to repair a specific problem. Used in relation to clients in mental health care, the idea was that a community conference could both fix the problem and improve living conditions in the neighborhood.

The third article presents the first results of the study based on qualitative analyses of 18 of the 40 cases (de Jong & Schout, 2013b). The findings from before and after the conference indicate a pattern among protagonists moving from shame to self-awareness, from expropriation to ownership, and from social isolation to social participation. The article illustrates these patterns and processes in a review of 2 case studies. Particular attention is placed on the subject of shame, which on the one hand functions as a driving force for withdrawal and avoiding social contact but which on the other hand can act as a catalyst to stop further disintegration and isolation by avoiding new situations that could cause the feeling of shame. The article claims that when all 40 cases are analyzed a quantitative analysis will be done and the main findings will be published.

10. A summary of our elaborations and the implications of our review

In conclusion, we would like to summarize and discuss some of the main findings from outcome and experiential studies. We will also point out some implications of the many variants of family group conferencing and we will raise some questions about future developments of practices and further research into FGC.

10.1 Prevalent literature and research

We have applied a variety of strategies to identify literature that is relevant to our accumulated knowledge of family group conferencing. These strategies are described in chapter 3. The literature can broadly be divided into three types. One major type contains books and articles that provide an introduction to or that discuss family group conferencing and/or look at a model's core values and theoretical foundations and how FGC should be practiced. Due to the original purpose of this review this literature is not well represented here. The second type of literature amounts to the bulk of our material and consists of many small and some larger evaluations that describe practices and disseminate experiences from the people involved. The evaluations

are based mainly on interviews, but several studies also used surveys and questionnaires that were filled out by the participants. A third type of literature consists of research articles and reports that in various ways aim to record possible outcomes and effects of FGC. They are based on quantitative data and statistical analyses. This report covers the second and third types of literature on family group conferencing.

No geographic boundaries or time limits were set for what we should consider relevant literature. When one aims to assess the value of a multitude of studies and publications, the current Norwegian context must still be seen as quite important. It is therefore worth noting that very little up-to-date literature exists on family group conferencing from Norway or from the other Nordic countries. Research from these countries is based on data collected about ten years ago, or more. This is also true for research publications from the United Kingdom, which, like the Nordic countries, actively implements family group conferencing on a national scale. In general, a large part of research activity is associated with pilot projects and the implementation phase of FGC practices (late 1990s - early 2000s). The exception to this is found in some simple outcome studies done in North America.

In other words, one can argue that research on family group conferencing has primarily emerged in a context of distinguishes itself from the current Norway context. The most recent studies were completed in a different cultural and political context than the Norwegian study, and they were based on a lot of data from family group decision making (FGDM), which is a model that differs in several ways from FGC as it is practiced in Norway. The older studies were carried out during implementation phases, where it was natural to assume there would be teething problems while professionals got acquainted with the model and the new roles the model required.

The FGC situation at the Norwegian Child Welfare Service is in any case different today; conferences were conducted for approximately 750 children in 2013 compared to a couple hundred every year 10-15 years ago⁹.

The fact is, we still believe compiling and comparing existing literature on family group conferencing is valuable and relevant. That is because a thorough review shows us how important themes and issues are primarily the same now as they were in the past and are the same around the world regardless of which model or variant a country uses. This applies primarily to the core values and main goals of FGC when put into practice, with more family involvement and reducing the power imbalance as the main issues. But it also applies to what kinds of questions we ask in the evaluations and what is being discussed about the different data sets being explored.

10.2 Limited knowledge about outcome and effects

Our research base is quite limited where the outcomes of family group conferencing are concerned. Few studies have been carried out, and the quality of the research methods vary. The greatest methodological challenge to measuring the outcomes or effects FGC may have appears to be a lack of control groups to compare with and statistical controls of the differences between the groups. Several studies that point to positive effects of family group conferencing are not satisfactory in this regard from a scientific point of view. Moreover, there are only one or a few

⁹ These figures were provided orally by Bufdir.

studies related to the various problems being researched. With the caveats stated above in chapter 5, we have still chosen to draw some tentative conclusions.

The strongest evidence gleaned from research implies that FGC increases the likelihood of children being placed with relatives as opposed to public placements and adoption. Furthermore, FGC increases the likelihood of reunification with either the parents or other family members. One study shows how FGC facilitates access to services beyond those offered by the child welfare services in the short term, but not in the long term. There are also indications that FGC is used among minority families just as much as in ethnic majority families.

Existing research findings are not quite clear on other essential child welfare issues. That is whether FGC can prevent abuse and neglect, whether it can help shorten placements or lead to more stable placements, or whether it can reduce the need for involving the child welfare services in family issues. For other basic problems, no research exists that would satisfy current standards for quality. One of these is whether FGC can prevent out-of-home placements, and whether the use of conferencing can have an effect on the well-being and adjustment of children.

Furthermore, there is a lack of studies on whether FGC can promote long-term support from the private network or whether it can lead to better communication and collaboration between families and the child welfare services in the long term.

Research regarding outcome studies only confirms the need for more research. However, this research also includes discussions about the aims and ambitions of using FGC by the child welfare services and other services. We will take a more detailed look at this theme below.

10.3 Positive experiences by participant, but also challenges

If we look at how participants experience family group conferencing, most of the experiential studies at our disposal are difficult to interpret if we want to draw any conclusions from these studies as a whole, which are generally based on interviews or surveys with small groups of participants. The studies are also usually intended to explore the nuances of participant experiences. However, the body of research on the experiences of various participant groups is large. And the findings from surveys and interviews confirm and supplement each other to a great extent. This also holds true when we compare experiences across different participant groups such as parents, children, relatives, child welfare workers and coordinators.

In sum, the majority of the participants have had positive experiences with FGC. Even participants who initially were skeptical have evaluated FGC positively. The aspects most appreciated are the relational and processual ones associated with FGC involvement. Research findings indicate two factors that are crucial for FGC to function as intended: Firstly, all participants should be prepared for the special characteristics and procedures of the FGC model, including their own roles; Secondly, coordinators need to maintain their central role in a qualitatively good way. The most negative experiences were often related to the failure to implement the action plan developed by the FGC. Literature and research on the use of FGC in other services beyond child welfare services reveal that many of the issues and challenges are common.

We will now take a closer look at these topics before we ask some essential questions about the use of FGC in the future.

The relational and processual aspects of FGC

Therelational aspect involves how FGC brings family members closer together - children, parents and others - and how FGC can restore relationships, facilitate renewed communication and provide a basis for hope that help and support can come from one's own network. Many of the children felt it was most important that the adults were focused on their best interests, even relatives they otherwise would rarely see, and that there was a good atmosphere and a sense of family unity at the conferences.

Several studies have concluded that the children consider the relational and emotional aspects of FGC more important than the decisions and actions the conference produces. There are also studies that show how the case workers and other professionals who were present witnessed a mobilization of the family's own network as one of the most positive strengths of FGC. This aspect is also beneficial to case workers because the family members can provide new information on a case and bring new resources or efforts that can help a child and his/her family.

Where the importance of the processual aspect is concerned, one cannot avoid recognizing that this aspect is determined to some extent by which questions and themes researchers focus on when creating questionnaires and conducting interviews. Furthermore, the overwhelmingly positive experiences of FGC found in various studies may be due to the fact that families are chosen for FGC from cases that already have a good atmosphere of cooperation between the parents and the child welfare services. Still, it seems family group conferencing provides an opportunity for improving mutual understanding between the family and the child welfare services; for example, the coordinator often becomes an interpreter to help the family understand the child welfare services' concerns. The experience of being heard and having an influence on what is going to happen in the future is also important.

In Norwegian and Nordic research there has been particular focus on the opportunity of children participating in the process and how they experience FGC. Our research review points to various aspects of significance to how children experience the process. Besides the aforementioned relational aspects, it was essential for children to be heard and to experience that the conversation with and about them not only focused on problems. The need for an independent support person to assist the child seems obvious if we consider the challenges that participation in the conference implied for many of them. How participation should occur in specific terms and how the support person can best provide support for a child may vary and should be a basic topic of discussion between the two. Our review of the research has not found any information that answers an important question: To what extent should the support person be a part of the family network or should that person be a impartial but experienced party?

The participants need to be informed and prepared

Whether directly or indirectly, all the participant groups report how conferencing can be constructive if the participants are well prepared. This is true regardless of whether the participants talk about themselves or whether they talk about how they experience the other participants in their different roles. Essential to preparation is getting an understanding of the basic idea of the family group conferencing model and what role one is to play. This preparation is of significance for how the professionals convey information, how the family members handle family conflicts and how children can participate.

The coordinator's primary objectives

Emphasizing the importance of preparation means highlighting the essential role of the coordinator. Coordinators and how they perform their functions and role is one of the most positive aspect of FGC if we read the evaluations from many participant groups. When negative experiences about FGC are registered, the researchers point out how these factors are ones the coordinator usually has to deal with.

Coordinator impartiality is an important theme in FGC literature and in various evaluations. With that comes the question of whether the coordinator should be an independent party or affiliated in some way with the child welfare services. This is resolved differently within different model-variants and in different countries around the world. There is no research evidence proving one type of relationship or arrangement works better than the other. The same applies to the coordinator's qualifications; for example, if the coordinator should be educated as a professional social worker. There are different opinions about this, but no one has investigated whether any of the various schemes, affiliations or qualifications can be directly associated with a particular outcome or participant satisfaction.

Personal qualifications, thorough training and follow-up to play one's role properly seem to be the most important preconditions for coordinators to be able to perform their tasks. The fact that coordinators are left with a great deal of responsibility and a significant amount of freedom would imply a follow-up process that should consist of supportive guidance and the opportunity to check whether the coordinator is fulfilling his role and is loyal to the central elements of the FGC model.

More nuanced experiences from putting action plans into action

The one aspect of family group conferencing that gets the least positive evaluation is the action plan. It is worth noting that the family members usually appreciate this aspect at the end of the conference process, but when we look at experiences after the conferences or years later we see a far more nuanced and clearly negative response. Family members and coordinators point out that a lot of what is written down in the action plans is not completed.

It is not only the family that fails to complete its tasks. This also applies to the child welfare services and other public agencies. Some studies reported on opinions of case workers that the action plan has certain weaknesses, but that in keeping with the basic idea of FGC they tend to approve it as long as they felt the child's safety and best interests were ensured. These findings may indicate a risk that the case workers are somewhat detached from their conferencing role, even after the conference is completed.

On the other hand, one could argue that attention should primarily be focused on the main intentions of the plan and less on which isolated actions or measures are actually completed and crossed off the list.

The agreed measures or actions are not always thought through completely and not always appropriate, but the intentions/goals of the plan can still be reached through other implemented efforts. Moreover, it is important to appreciate the efforts and actions that the family is able to realize, even if in some cases only half of all the intentions of the plan were carried out or attempted.

Unlike the earliest period of implementation and distinct from what seems to be the practice in a number of other countries, one or more follow-up conferences has become common practice in Norway. We must assume this is a good step in responding to the lack of plan implementation and responding to the risk that the efforts mobilized by the conference disintegrate. However, there is obviously a need for more knowledge about how follow-ups are practiced; should they be different from the other conferences, if so, how, and what effects does this kind of follow-up have compared to other ordinary follow-up on child welfare cases?

10.4 Primary questions and implications of the research review

What goals should be achieved by a family group conference?

Positive participant experiences on the one hand, and little research that documents the effects on the other, raise the question about what ambitions and goals the Norwegian child welfare services should have for FGC; the same question can be asked of any of the other public agencies that use FGC in one way or another.

One answer to that question could be that FGC has already proven itself a highly prioritized policy with objectives related directly to the welfare of individuals. This is primarily directed at the users of FGC exerting influence over the decisions being made by government agencies about their lives, and increasing user satisfaction. This review and any other research reviews like it can be useful as documentation of this fact. One can ask oneself whether it is realistic to have any expectations beyond these, especially if one looks at FGC as a procedure tied directly to case work and decision making, and not as a type of intervention.

Another answer may be that ambitions and goals on behalf of family group conferencing should reach even further. There can be several reasons for taking that point of view: First of all, for purely pragmatic reasons; qualitative good FGC work requires a lot of resources; so much in fact that it is natural to expect some real long-term effects. Secondly, because increasing the use of follow-up conferences implies FGC is a form of network intervention, not only a procedure for making decisions. Third, because the positive relational processes FGC triggers should have the potential to produce a constructive collaboration between the family and the child welfare services over time. It is reasonable to expect that such cooperation, combined with mobilization of otherwise untapped resources in the family network, could bring about effects to conditions that are essential in a child-protection context such as reducing neglect and positive developments in important areas of a child's life.

One final reason not to lower our ambitions for the benefits of FGC in the future is that we simply do not have a sufficiently solid research basis on which to draw any final conclusions about whether real effects exist or not.

Should certain types of cases be prioritized in family group conferencing?

Family group conferencing is used in a wide range of child welfare cases in Norway and other countries where problems and phases within the history of a case are concerned. Our research review provides no indications that this practice has adverse effects. On the other hand, research does tell us that FGC is being used to varying degrees, despite extensive training and its good intentions. One general intention of using FGC may contribute its own marginalization in daily practice. This makes it appropriate to prioritize FGC even more in certain cases.

For the time being, Norwegian child welfare initiatives and projects that use FGC are used specifically to handle emergency situations, for placements in institutions and for foster care work (see chapter 4). All of these types of cases deal with making decisions and interventions that have serious consequences for the people involved, such as removing a child from his home and changes related to caregivers and close relationships. Our research review shows that FGC has the potential to strengthen relationships in and around families and bring continuity to a child's relationships with significant others. Approaches that may prevent emergency placement or help implement such placement in a way that is less harmful or stressful to the child are especially welcome, considering the large number of children and young people in emergency placement.

Whether or not one should recommend more use of FGC in emergency cases and for institutions/foster home placements must be determined on the basis of research and evaluations. We should emphasize that «prioritizing» does not mean FGC cannot be used in other situations and for other types of cases.

Model fidelity or variation?

When FGC is used for emergency situations the preparation time and use of resources prior to a conference lessen significantly compared to what is generally recommended. In other words, these conference represent a variant of the original model.

Various hybrids of family group conferencing have developed over time, especially in the United States. No evidence exists that proves one of these works better or worse than the original model, but no systematic research has been done on what significance the differences might have either. This makes it appropriate to assess the extent to which model fidelity should guide future implementation rather than adapting to local or cultural needs or individual cases. Based on the prominent positive experiences associated with relational and processual aspects of FGC, there seems to be an argument for holding fast to the cornerstones of the model (see chapter 2). On the other hand, it is important that the principles be interpreted with a certain flexibility so they do not prevent further testing of the model. The most important thing in this context seems to be documenting practical implementation so we have a basis on which to assess the significance of the various principles for good practice.

Systematic follow-up, evaluation and research on family group conferencing

Family group conferencing should be monitored systematically through research, evaluation
projects and the ongoing generation of information about its practice. One means of doing so in
this context would be to include FGC in national child welfare statistics. Another means would
be to introduce a short evaluation form that should be filled out by all participants after having
attended FGC. As the form from the United States seems to work(see chapter 4), the form should
isolate the main elements of the FGC model in addition to testing and trials like pilot projects and
scientific validation. Regular summaries of the evaluation forms could be used to alter practice
and contribute as a research activity.

Throughout this entire research review we have stressed the great need for new research about FGC in Norway and in the Nordic Region. Most of the research that exists comes form the early implementation phase more than ten years ago when family group conferencing was used only to

a limited extent in Norway. The need for research involves most aspects of FGC, cf. the themes and topics reflected in all the chapters in this report. Research that compares FGC practices with other practices should be prioritized. The same applies to research of a longitudinal design, based on the obvious lack of knowledge of any long-term effects of family group conferencing.

There are good reasons for having expectations to the FGC research project underway within foster care, and we want to stress the need for research-based evaluations of FGC practices in emergency cases and for institutional placements. As family group conferencing is now being implemented in other services than the child welfare services, systematization of experiences and outcome through research and evaluation should be a matter of course.

References:

- Adams, P., & Chandler, S. M. (2004). Responsive Regulation in Child Welfare: Systemic Challenges to Mainstreaming the Family Group Conference. *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare*, 31(1), 93-115.
- Anderson, G., & Whalen, P. (2005). Identifying Short-Term and Long-Term FGC Outcomes. In G. Anderson & J. Pennell (Eds.), Widening the circle: the practice and evaluation of family group conferencing with children, youths, and their families (pp. 123-138). Washington D.C.: NASW Press.
- Andersson, B., & Bjerkman, A. (1999). *Mellan myndighet och familj: en kvalitativ undersökning av familjerådslag i Sverige* (Vol. 1999:27). Stockholm: Forsknings- och utvecklingsenheten, Socialtjänstförvaltningen; Distribution: Helsingborg: R&D Unit.
- Backe-Hansen, E. (2006). Hvordan virker familieråd? Et internasjonalt perspektiv. In S. Falck (Ed.), Hva er det med familieråd? General report from the project: Nasjonal satsing for utprøving og evaluering av familieråd i Norge (pp. 249-283). Oslo: Norwegian Social Research Institute (NOVA).
- Barber, J., & Delfabbro, P. (2005). Children's adjustment to long-term foster care. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 27, 329-340.
- Ministry of Children, Equality and Social Inclusion. (2012-2013). Prop. 106 L. Changes to the Child Welfare Act.
- Norwegian Directorate for Children, Youth and Family Affairs (Bufdir). (2013). Strategi for brukermedvirkning i det statlige barnevernet 2013-2016. Oslo.
- Norwegian Directorate for Children, Youth and Family Affairs (Bufdir). (2014). *Disponeringsbrev til barne- ungdoms- og familieetaten*.
- Barnevernpanelets rapport. (2011). Oslo: Ministry of Children, Equality and Social Inclusion, Norway. Barnsdale, L., & Walker, M. (2007). Examining the use and impact of family group conferencing. Edinburgh: University of Sterling, Social work research centre.
- Bell, M., & Wilson, K. (2006). Children's Views of Family Group Conferences. British Journal of Social Work, 36(4), 671-681.
- Belser, O. B. (2013). Family meetings: Facilitators reflect on impartiality and family empowerment. *Dissertation Abstracts International Section A: Humanities and Social Sciences*, 74(1-A(E)), No Pagination Specified.
- Berzin, S. C. (2006). Using sibling data to understand the impact of family group decision-making on child welfare outcomes. *Children and Youth Services Review,* 28(12), 1449-1458.
- Berzin, S. C., Cohen, E., Thomas, K., & Dawson, W. C. (2008). Does family group decision making affect child welfare outcomes? Findings from a randomized control study. *Child Welfare: Journal of Policy, Practice, and Program,* 87(4), 35-54.
- Berzin, S. C., Thomas, K. L., & Cohen, E. (2007). Assessing model fidelity in two family group decision-making programs: Is this child welfare intervention being implemented as intended? *Journal of Social Service Research*, 34(2), 55-71.
- Bradshaw, W., & Roseborough, D. (2005). Restorative justice dialogue: The impact of mediation and conferencing on juvenile recidivism. *Federal Probation*, 69(2), 15-21.
- Braithwaite, J. (1999). Restorative justice: Assessing optimistic and pessimistic accounts. Crime and Justice: *A Review of Research*, Vol 25, 25, 1-127. doi: 10.1086/449287
- Braithwaite, J. (2002). Setting standards for restorative justice. British journal of crimonology, 42(3), 563-577.

- Brown, L. (2003). Mainstream or margin? The current use of family group conferences in child welfare practice in the UK. Child & Family Social Work, 8(4), 331-340. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2206.2003.00293.x
- Brown, L. (2007). The Adoption and Implementation of a Service Innovation in a Social Work Setting a Case Study of Family Group Conferencing in the UK. *Social Policy and Society*, 6(3), 321-332. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S147474640700365X
- Burke, T. K., Allen-Eckard, K., Kemp, S. P., Ware, J., Ackroyd, A., & Munoz, S. (2003). Community Family Support Meetings: Adding Community Resource to Family Decision Making. Protecting Children: Promising Results, Potential New Directions: International FGDM Research and Evaluation in Child Welfare, 18(1&2).
- Cashmore, J., & Kiely, P. (2000). Implementing and evaluation Family Group Conferences: The New South Wales experience. In G. B. J. Hudson (Ed.), *Family group conferencing. New directions in community-centered child & family practice* (pp. 242). New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Christie, N. (1977). Conflicts as property. British Journal of Criminology, 17(1).
- Connolly, M. (2006a). Fifteen Years of Family Group Conferencing: Coordinators Talk About Their Experiences in Aotearoa New Zealand. British Journal of Social Work, 36(4), 523-540.
- Connolly, M. (2006b). Up Front and Personal: Confronting Dynamics in the Family Group Conference. *Family process*, 45(3), 345-357.
- Connolly, M. (2009). Family group conferences in child welfare: the fit with restorative justice. *Contemporary justice review,* 12(3), 309-319. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/10282580903105822
- Connolly, M., & McKenzie, M. (1999). Effective participatory practice: family group conferencing in child protection. New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Crampton, D. (2007). Research Review: Family group decision making: A promising practice in need of more program theory and research. *Child & Family Social Work*, 12(2), 202-209.
- Crampton, D., & Jackson, W. L. (2007). Family group decision making and disproportionality in foster care: A case study. Child Welfare: Journal of Policy, Practice, and Program, 86(3), 51-69.
- Dalrymple, J. (2002). Family Group Conferences and youth advocacy: the participation of children and young people in family decision making. *European journal of social work*, 5(3), 287-299. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/714053160
- Darlington, Y., Healy, K., Yellowlees, J., & Bosly, F. (2012). Parents' perceptions of their participation in mandated family group meetings. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 34(2), 331-337. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2011.10.030
- de Jong, G., & Schout, G. (2011). Family group conferences in public mental health care: An exploration of opportunities. International Journal of Mental Health Nursing, 20(1), 63-74.
- de Jong, G., & Schout, G. (2013a). Breaking through Marginalisation in Public Mental Health Care with Family Group Conferencing: Shame as Risk and Protective Factor. *British Journal of Social Work,* 43(7), 1439-1454. doi: 10.1093/bjsw/bcs050
- de Jong, G., & Schout, G. (2013b). Researching the Applicability of Family Group Conferencing in Public Mental Health Care.

 British Journal of Social Work, 43(4), 796-802. doi: 10.1093/bjsw/bcs006
- Doolan, M. (2002). Establishing an effective mandate for family group conference. *Family Group Conference Newsletter*. London: Family Rights Group.
- Einarsson, J. H. (2002). Familieråd som metode i barnevernets beslutningsprosess (Vol. 9/2002). Oslo: Norwegian Social Research Institute (NOVA).
- Einarsson, J. H., & Nordahl, T. (2003). *Familierådslag: nasjonal plan for utprøving og evaluering av metoden familierådslag* (Vol. 3/03). Oslo: Norwegian Social Research Institute (NOVA).
- European Network on Family Group Conference. (2014). http://www.fgcnetwork.eu/.
- Falck, S. (2006). Hva er det med familieråd?: General report from the project: Nasjonal satsing for utprøving og evaluering av familieråd i Norge. Oslo: NOVA-rapport 18/06.
- Falck, S., & Clausen, S.-E. (2006). Endrer familieråd barnas situasjon? En kvantitativ analyse av hvem de er og hvordan det gikk. In S. Falck (Ed.), Hva er det med familieråd? General report from the project: Nasjonal satsing for utprøving og evaluering av familieråd i Norge (pp. 81-104). Oslo: NOVA-rapport 18/06.
- Falck, S., & Vik, S. (2006). Fra resultat til veien videre. In S. Falck (Ed.), Hva er det med familieråd? General report from the project: Nasjonal satsing for utprøving og evaluering av familieråd i Norge (pp. 285-296). Oslo: NOVA-rapport 18/06.

- Faureholm, J., & Brønholt, L. L. (2005). Familierådslagning: en beslutningsmodel. Copenhagen: Hans Reitzel.
- Figenschow, W. (2006). Handlingsplaner og tiltaksplaner En sammenligning. In S. Falck (Ed.), Hva er det med familieråd?

 General report from the project: Nasjonal satsing for utprøving og evaluering av familieråd i Norge (pp. 201-226).

 Oslo: NOVA-rapport 18/06.
- Forrester, D., Goodman, K., Cocker, C., Binnie, C., & Jensch, G. (2009). What is the Impact of Public Care on Children's Welfare? A Review of Research Findings from England and Wales and their Policy Implications. *Journal of Social Policy*, 38(3), 439-456.
- Fox, D. (2004). Restorative Justice: The Current Use of Family Group Conferencing in the British Youth Justice System. Kriminologija & Socijalna Integracija, 12(2), 127-136.
- Frost, N., Abram, F., & Burgess, H. (2013a). Family group conferences: context, process and ways forward. *Child & Family Social Work*. n/a-n/a. doi: 10.1111/cfs.12047
- Frost, N., Abram, F., & Burgess, H. (2013b). Family group conferences: evidence, outcomes and future research. *Child & Family Social Work*, n/a-n/a. doi: 10.1111/cfs.12049
- Gallagher, F., & Jasper, M. (2003). Health Visitors' experiences of Family Group Conferences in relation to child protection planning: A phenomenological study. *Journal of Nursing Management*, 11(6), 377-386.
- Hansen, J., & Hansen, T. H. (2003). Familierådslagning i Danmark. 2. del af evalueringen af "Det danske forsøg med Familierådslagning" Retrieved from http://shop.socialstyrelsen.dk/products/familieraadslagning-i-danmark-2-del-af-evalueringen-det-danske-forsoeg-med-familieraadslagning
- Havnen, K. J. S. (2006). Kva er det eigentleg med familieråd? Foreldra sine synspunkt, erfaringar og opplevingar. In S. Falck (Ed.), Hva er det med familieråd? General report from the project: Nasjonal satsing for utprøving og evaluering av familieråd i Norge. (pp. 105-166). Oslo: NOVA-rapport, 18/06.
- Hayden, C. (2009). Family group conferences-are they an effective and viable way of working with attendance and behavior problems in schools? *British Educational Research Journal*, 35(2), 205-220.
- Healy, K., Darlington, Y., & Yellowlees, J. (2012). Family participation in child protection practice: An observational study of family group meetings. *Child & Family Social Work*, 17(1), 1-12.
- Heino, T. (2009). Family Group Conference from a Child Perspective. Nordic Research Report. Jyväskylä: National Institute for Health and Welfare.
- Holland, S., & O'Neill, S. (2006). 'We Had to be There to Make Sure it was What We Wanted': Enabling children's participation in family decision-making through the family group conference. *Childhood: A Global Journal of Child Research*, 13(1), 91-111.
- Holland, S., Scourfield, J., O'Neill, S., & Pithouse, A. (2005). Democratising the family and the state? The case of family group conferences in child welfare. *Journal of Social Policy*, 34, 59-77. doi: 10.1017/s0047279404008268
- Holm-Hansen, J., Haaland, T., & Myrvold, T. (2007). Flerkulturelt barnevern. En kunnskapsoversikt. Oslo: NIBR.
- Horverak, S. (2006). Hvordan opplever ungdom å delta i familieråd?: et bidrag til arbeidet med barnevernets etikk og diskusjonen om barnevernets rolle i samfunnet. Trondheim: Norwegian University of Science and Technology, Faculty of Social Sciences and Technology Management, Department of Social Work and Health Science Institute.
- Horverak, S., Omre, C., & Schjelderup, L. E. (2002). Familierådslag: demokrati og beslutninger i norsk barnevern. Bergen: Fagbokforlag
- Hudson, J. (1996). Family group conferences: perspectives on policy & practice. Annandale: Federation Press.
- Huntsman, L. (2006). Literature review. Family group conferencing in a child welfare context. Ashield NSW, Australia: Centre for parenting & research.
- Hyrve, G. (2006). Familieråd sett ut i fra saksbehandlers ståsted. In S. Falck (Ed.), Hva er det med familieråd? General report from the project: Nasjonal satsing for utprøving og evaluering av familieråd i Norge (pp. 167-200). Oslo: NOVA-rapport 18/06.
- Hyrve, G. (2008). Bruk av familieråd ved fosterhjemsplasseringer *Prosjektrapport* Bufetat region øst. Jeong, S., McGarrell, E. F., & Hipple, N. K. (2012). Long-term impact of family group conferences on re-offending: The Indianapolis restorative justice experiment. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 8(4), 369-385.
- Johansen, S. (2014). Psycho-Social Processes and Outcomes of Family Group Conferences for Long-Term Social Assistance Recipients. *British Journal of Social Work*, 44(1), 145-162. doi: 10.1093/bjsw/bcs100

- Kalve, T., & Dyrhaug, T. (2011) Children and Youth with Immigrant Background in the Child Welfare Services 2009. *Rapporter* 39/2011. Oslo-Kongsvinger: Statistics Norway.
- Levine, M. (2000). The family group conference in the New Zealand Children, Young Persons, and their Families Act of 1989 (CYP&F): Review and evaluation. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law,* 18(4), 517-556.
- Litchfield, M. M., Gatowski, S. I., & Dobbin, S. A. (2003). Improving Outcomes for Families: Results from an Evaluation of Miami's Family Decision Making Program. *Protecting Children: Promising Results, Potential New Directions: International FGDM Research and Evaluation in Child Welfare*, 18(1&2), 48-51.
- Lundeby, A. B. (2013). Familieråd som bidrag til utvikling av barneverntjenesten. [Halden]: Østfold University College, Faculty of Economics, Languages and Social Sciences.
- Lupton, C., & Nixon, P. (1999). Empowering practice?: a critical appraisal of the family group conference approach. Bristol, UK: Policy Press.
- Lupton, C., Nixon, P., & Bisman, C. (2000). Empowering practice? A critical appraisal of the family group conference approach. *British Journal of Social Work*, 30(2), 268-269.
- Løfsnæs, B. (2002). Bestemme selv?: familieråd som metode i praktisk arbeid Oslo: Gyldendal Academic Press.
- Malmberg-Heimonen, I. (2011). The effects of family group conferences on social support and mental health for longer-term social assistance recipients in Norway. *British Journal of Social Work*, 41(5), 949-967.
- Marsh, P., & Crow, G. (1998). Family group conferences in child welfare. Oxford: Blackwell Science.
- Marshall, T. F. (1996). The evolution of restorative justice in Britain. *European Journal of Criminal Policy and Research*, 4(4), 21-43.
- Maxwell, G., & Morris, A. (2006). Youth justice in New Zealand: restorative justice in practice? *Journal of Social Issues*, 62(2), 239-258.
- McCrae, J. S., & Fusco, R. A. (2010). A racial comparison of family group decision making in the USA. *Child & Family Social Work*, 15(1), 41-55.
- McGarrell, E. F., & Hipple, N. K. (2007). Family group conferencing and re-offending among first-time juvenile offenders: The Indianapolis experiment. *Justice Quarterly*, 24(2), 221-246. doi: 10.1080/07418820701294789
- McGrath, J. (2004). Restorative Practices in Education Managing Challenging Behaviour. Southend-on-Sea, Northern Ireland.
- Merkel-Holguín, L. (2004). Sharing Power with the People: Family Group Conferencing as a Democratic Experiment. *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare*, 31(1), 155-173.
- Merkel-Holguín, L. A. (2003). Learning with families: A Synopsis of FGDM Research and Evaluation in Child Welfare. In A. Jakober (Ed.), *Protecting children* (Vol. 18, pp. 2-11). Englewood, CO, USA: American Humane.
- Morris, A. (2004). Youth justice in New Zealand. *Youth Crime and Youth Justice: Comparative and Cross-National Perspectives*, 31, 243-292.
- Morris, K., & Connolly, M. (2012). Family decision making in child welfare: Challenges in developing a knowledge base for practice. *Child abuse review*, 21(1), 41-52.
- Mortensen, B. (2007). Family Group Conference from a Child Perspective. Odense: Styrelsen for specialrådgivning og Social Service.
- Morthorst Rasmussen, B., & Haldbo Hansen, T. (2002). *En beslutningsmodel med meget mere: en undersøgelse af «Det danske forsøg med Familierådslagning»*. Aabenraa: UDC Børn og Familier.
- Mutter, R., Shemmings, D., Dugmore, P., & Hyare, M. (2008). Family group conferences in youth justice. *Health & Social Care in the Community*, 16(3), 262-270.
- Natland, S., & Malmberg-Heimonen, I. (2013). A study of coordinator positionings in family group conferences. *Nordic Social Work Research*, 1-15. doi: 10.1080/2156857X.2013.826142
- Ney, T., Stoltz, J.-A., & Maloney, M. (2013). Voice, power and discourse: Experiences of participants in family group conferences in the context of child protection. *Journal of Social Work*, 13(2), 184-202.
- Nixon, P. (1999). Promoting family decision making in child care practice: An overview of the use of family group conferences in child protection, youth justice, schools and with young carers. *Child care in practice*, 5(4), 308-327. doi: 10.1080/13575279908415537
- Nixon, P., Burford, G., & Quinn, A. (2005). A Survey of International Practices, Policy & Research on Family Group Conferencing and Related Practices Vermont: University of Vermont, Department of Social Work

- Nyberg, E. (2003). En kommentar till forskningen om familjerådslag In T. Heino, S. Reinikainen & M. Bergman (Eds.), Familjerådslag i Norden: erfarenheter, forskningsresultat, reflektioner (Vol. 66). Helsingfors: Institutionen. (Vol. 66, pp. 89-100). Helsingfors: University of Helsingfors.
- O'Brien, S. P. (2007). Restorative justice: Principles, practices and application. The prevention researcher, 14, supplement.
- Omre, C., & Schjelderup, L. E. (2009). Barn i barnevernet: en studie om barns deltakelse og styrkeprosesser i familieråd.

 Trondheim: Tapir Academic Press
- Pennell, J. (2005). Checking for model fidelity. In J. Pennell & G. Anderson (Eds.), Widening the circle: The practice and evaluation of family group conferencing with children, youths and their families (pp. 107-121). New York: Routledge.
- Pennell, J., & Burford, G. (2000). Family group decision making: Protecting children and women. *Child Welfare: Journal of Policy, Practice, and Program,* 79(2), 131-158.
- Pennell, J., Edwards, M., & Burford, G. (2010). Expedited family group engagement and child permanency. *Children and Youth Services Review,* 32(7), 1012-1019. doi: 10.1016/j.childyouth.2010.03.029
- Quinnett, E., Harrison, R. S., & Jones, L. (2003). Empirical Reseach on the San Diego Model of Family Unity Meetings.

 Protecting Children: Promising Results, Potential New Directions: International FGDM Research and Evaluation in Child Welfare, 18(1&2), 98-103.
- Rauktis, M. E., Bishop-Fitzpatrick, L., Jung, N., & Pennell, J. (2013). Family group decision making: Measuring fidelity to practice principles in public child welfare. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 35(2), 287-295. doi: DOI 10.1016/j. childyouth.2012.11.001
- Rauktis, M. E., Huefner, J., & Cahalane, H. (2011). Perceptions of fidelity to family group decision-making principles: examining the impact of race, gender, and relationship. *Child Welfare*, 90(4), 41-59.
- Ryburn, M., & Atherton, C. (1996). Family Group Conferences: Partnership in Practice. Adoption & Fostering, 20(1), 16-23.
- Saasen, R. (2001a). Nye metoder og nye roller: samordnerens rolle i familierådslag. *Journal Norges Barnevern*, 78, no. 3. 31-44.
- Saasen, R. (2001b). *På nye stier: en evaluering av samordnerens rolle i 6 familierådslag i Harstad/Kvæfjord* (Vol. 2001/03). Harstad: University College
- Sandau-Beckler, P., Reza, S., & Terrazas, A. (2005). Familias Primero: Family Group Decision Making in El Paso County, Texas.

 *Protecting Children: FGDM: An Evidence-based Decision-making Process in Child Welfare, 19(4), 54-62.
- Sandbæk, M. (2002). Children and Parents as Social Agents within the Social Services. (14/02), Norwegian Social Research Institute (NOVA), Oslo.
- Schmid, J. E., & Pollack, S. (2009). Developing shared knowledge: Family group conferencing as a means of negotiating power in the child welfare system. Practice: *Social Work in Action*, *21*(3), 175-188.
- Sheets, J., Wittenstrom, K., Fong, R., James, J., Tecci, M., Baumann, D. J., & Rodriguez, C. (2009). Evidence-based practice in family group decision-making for Anglo, African-American and Hispanic families. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 31(11), 1187-1191.
- Shore, N., Wirth, J., Cahn, B. Y., & Gunderson, K. (2002). Long Term and Immediate Outcomes of Family Group Conferencing in Washington State (June 2001) doi:http://www.iirp.edu/article_detail.php?article_id=NDU2
- Skivenes, M., & Strandbu, A. (2005). Barn og familieråd: en analyse av det organisatoriske rammeverket for barns medvirkning i barnevernet. Barns deltakelse og støttepersonens rolle i familieråd. *Journal: Norges Barnevern,* 82, no. 3(4), 23-39.
- Strandbu, A. (2007). A Child's Perspective and Children's Participation in the Family Group Conference Model. Tromsø:

 Education and Teacher Training Institute, Faculty of Humanities, Social Sciences and Education, University of Tromsø.
- Strandbu, A. (2008). *Hvordan legge til rette for barns deltakelse i familierådets beslutningsprosess?* [Tromsø]: Regional Centre for Child and Youth Mental Health and Child Welfare, Northern Norway.
- Strandbu, A. (2011). Barnets deltakelse: hverdagslige og vanskelige beslutninger. Oslo: Universitetsforl.
- Straub, U. (2012). Family group conference in Europe: From margin to mainstream. Eris webjournal (1/2012).
- Sundell, K., & Hæggmann, U. (1999). Familjerådslag i Sverige: [en utvärdering av Svenska kommunförbundets försöksverksamhet] (Vol. 1999:1). Stockholm: Resursförvaltningen för skola och socialtjänst; Distribution: Helsingborg: R&D Unit.

- Sundell, K., & Vinnerljung, B. (2004). Outcomes of family group conferencing in Sweden A 3-year follow-up. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, 28(3), 267-287.
- Sundell, K., Vinnerljung, B., & Ryburn, M. (2001). Social workers' attitudes towards family group conferences in Sweden and the UK. Child & Family Social Work, 6(4), 327-336. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2206.2001.00216.x
- Titcomb, A., & LeCroy, C. (2003). Evaluation of Arizona's Family Group Decision Making Program. *Protecting Children: Promising Results, Potential New Directions: International FGDM Research and Evaluation in Child Welfare,*18(1&2), 58-64.
- Treichel, C. J., & Bemis, A. (2003). Minnesota's evaluation study of family group decision-making. *Protecting children,* 18(1-2), 84-86.
- Van Camp, T., & Wemmers, J.-A. (2013). Victim satisfaction with restorative justice: More than simply procedural justice.

 International Review of Victimology, 19(2), 117-143.
- Van Pagee, R. (2014). [personal communication].
- Velen, M., & Devine, L. (2005). Use of FGDM in Care the Longest: It's About Time. *Protecting Children: FGDM: An Evidence-based Decision-making Process in Child Welfare, 19*(4), 25-34.
- Vik, S. (2006). Implementation phase of the project. In S. Falck (Ed.), Hva er det med familieråd? General report from the project: Nasjonal satsing for utprøving og evaluering av familieråd i Norge. (Vol. 18/06, pp. 35-80). Oslo: NOVA report.
- Vik, S. (2009). Familieråd i Norge: fra trylleformel til realisme. The journal Norges Barnevern(3), 172-182.
- Walton, E., & Roby, J. (2003). The Utah Family Group Conferencing Model. *Protecting Children: Promising Results, Potential New Directions: International FGDM Research and Evaluation in Child Welfare, 18*(1&2), 87-89.
- Walton, E., Roby, J., Frandsen, A., & Davidson, R. (2004). Strengthening At-Risk Families by Involving the Extended Family. *Journal of Family Social Work, 7*(4), 1-21. doi: 10.1300/J039v07n04 01
- Wang, E. W., Lambert, M. C., Johnson, L. E., Boudreau, B., Breidenbach, R., & Baumann, D. (2012). Expediting permanent placement from foster care systems: The role of family group decision-making. *Children and Youth Services Review,* 34(4), 845-850.
- Weigensberg, E. C., Barth, R. P., & Guo, S. (2009). Family group decision making: A propensity score analysis to evaluate child and family services at baseline and after 36-months. *Children and Youth Services Review, 31*(3), 383-390.